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We celebrated many highlights in 2023: continued 
high-single-digit growth, internal promotions to 
leadership positions, high engagement scores from 
clients, candidates and internal colleagues, many new 
clients acquired, lots of talent attracted and strong 
financial performance during the first three quarters. 

Unfortunately, we then came up against unexpected 
headwinds later in the year. The impact of high 
interest rates and inflation on the offshore wind 
industry caused sudden project stops, while 
projects in the pipeline were reconsidered. These 
developments hit our perm business at Taylor 
Hopkinson quite hard. At the same time, we saw the 
German market cool off to some degree, alongside a 
slowdown in our other permanent placement 
projects. This industry-wide slowdown forced us to 
take quick and smart action. In the last quarter, we 
adjusted our cost levels where necessary and 
stepped up execution of our entrepreneurial sales 
approach. 

Our Capital Markets Day in November showcased 
how we have executed our strategy over the last 
three years. We now have a nicely diversified 
portfolio of markets and capabilities. Our conversion 
ratio has grown significantly, and we are on track to 
reach multi-year goals. We presented data on 
expected capital investments in our focus markets 
– data which gives us high confidence that our 
clients will be needing us more and more in the 
quarters and years to come. 

Accordingly, we reconfirmed our growth ambitions, 
with new tooling, smarter processes and greater 
leverage of our infrastructure further driving 
conversion and profitability.

In the year under review, we also made important 
progress in executing our ESG strategy. We trained 
many colleagues on reducing unconscious bias and 
continued working with autism organisations around 
the world to connect talent along this spectrum with 
job opportunities. At the same time, our foundation 
enlarged the Brunel Foundation Forest, organised 

‘Offshore Wind for Kids’ events and engaged in 
Trash and Trace events with clients, candidates and 
our own staff.

A unique infrastructure of more than 12,000 
Brunellers serving more than 1000 clients in over 45 
countries leaves us strongly positioned to benefit 
from the energy and digital transformations. Thanks 
to our high integrity standards, our entrepreneurial 
spirit, our results-driven mindset and our passion for 
people, we are ready and able to turn every business 
challenges we encounter into profitable 
opportunities.

Why? Because Brunellers make it happen! 
We would like to thank all our clients and all 
Brunellers for strengthening our position once again 
in 2023.

Jilko Andringa

1

CEO
statement

Jilko Andringa - CEO Brunel International N.V.
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Brunel was founded in 1975 by graduate engineer 
Jan Brand. Starting with the placement of a single 
fellow engineer, the foundation was laid for what 
became a global provider of business services that 
today specialises in the flexible placement of 
professionals.

A powerful network of specialists

The company has continued to grow and diversify 
over the years, but has always maintained Jan 
Brand’s original focus: placing highly qualified, 
mainly technical, specialists in challenging 
assignments. What began as a family-run business 
with strong ambitions has grown beyond all 
expectations and resulted in a durable and 
sustainable business model. Throughout repeated 
international expansion, Brunel has retained a 
company culture driven by entrepreneurship and 
talent. It has fostered the capability and agility to 
deliver globally. And it has continued to provide 
high-quality and fully compliant solutions and 
services.   

Connecting specialists to pioneering 
projects

Brunel  connects the most talented and experienced 
specialists to present-day pioneering projects. With 
120+ offices and a powerful network of more than 
12,000 specialists around the world, we deliver 
Project and Consulting Solutions, Workforce Solutions 
and Global Mobility Solutions that transform global 
projects in Renewables, Conventional Energy, 
Mining, Life Sciences, Future Mobility, Industrials & 
Technology and many other sectors.  

Caring about a better future

Having a passion for people and caring deeply for 
the environment is not only part of Brunel’s DNA: It 
is also reflected in the company’s culture and 

values. Social responsibility is taken very seriously, 
and the company’s ambition is to build both a better 
planet and a better future for professionals. Since 
2022, the company has achieved its goal of 
becoming carbon neutral by reducing its carbon 
footprint and compensating for unavoidable 
emissions through three projects based on 
community, nature and technology. By providing job 
opportunities for specialists and preparing them for 
future challenges through continuous upskilling, 
Brunel is contributing to a more sustainable society. 
By connecting specialists from all over the world, 
Brunel embraces diversity, inclusion and belonging. 
Upholding high integrity standards, the network of 
specialists is redefining and shaping the future, 
driving and developing ground-breaking new 
technologies to accelerate clients’ digital 
transformations and energy transitions.

Management of Brunel 

Change in leadership 

In 2023, Graeme Maude served with distinction as 
the Chief Operating Officer and as a member of the 
Board of Directors, contributing significantly to the 
strategic and operational achievements of the year. 
His hard work and dedication drove strategic 
transition and better positioning of Brunel for future 
success. Maude will leave Brunel at the end of his 
4-year term in May 2024.

Board of Directors for 2024 

As we transition into 2024, the Board of Directors 
will streamline its structure to consist of two core 
members: the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer.

Corporate 
profile

2
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New Brunel Executive 
Leadership Team

To continue our successful strategic execution, our 
profitable growth performance and to drive better 
conversion ratios, we are proud to announce the 
creation of our Executive Leadership Team (ELT), 
effective from January 1st, 2024. This dynamic 
team unites a breadth of expertise and a shared 
commitment to excellence. The ELT comprises of 
our CEO, CFO and four internal promoted leaders, 
each bring a wealth of knowledge and strategic 
acumen to their respective roles: 

• Tania Sinibaldi, Managing Director of Operations

• Jon Proctor, Managing Director of Operations

• Joanita Oud, Global Head of People & Culture 

• Stefan de Boer, Global Head of IT & Digital

We enter 2024 with a leadership team that 
embodies our corporate values and possesses the 
vision to lead Brunel to next level of success. 

Drs. J.T. (Jilko) Andringa

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, MALE (1966)

Jilko Andringa was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Brunel 
International N.V. on 7 December 2017 and reappointed on 11 
May 2021.

His most recent position before transferring to Brunel was as 
President Northern Europe of ManpowerGroup. Before that Jilko 
Andringa held management positions at Randstad. 

Andringa started his career at Exxon (Esso) Benelux. He 
completed his graduate degree in Business Economics and 
Marketing at the University of Groningen. 

Other directorships: member of the Supervisory Board of EW 
Facility Services and the Johan Cruyff Arena.

Drs. P.A. (Peter) de Laat, RA

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, MALE (1972) 

Peter de Laat was appointed Chief Financial Officer of Brunel 
International N.V. on 1 May 2014 and reappointed on 14 May 
2018 and on 19 May 2022.

After having obtained his Master Degree in Business Economics, 
Peter de Laat worked for sixteen years with Deloitte Accountants 
and was, amongst other members of the team, responsible for 
the audit of Brunel. 

In 2012, De Laat joined Brunel and from April 2013 held the 
position of Director Finance and Control.

The Brunel Executive Leadership Team: 
Front row: Stefan de Boer, Tania Sinibaldi, Jon Proctor. Back row: Joanita Oud, Jilko Andringa, Peter de Laat.
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x EUR million, unless stated otherwise

2023 2022

Profit
Revenue 1,331 1,182 
Gross Profit 274 252
Operating costs 217 191
Underlying EBIT 61 60
Result before tax 50 48
Tax 18 17
Group result after tax 32 31
Net income 32 29

Ratios
Change in revenue on previous year 12.6% 31.4%
Gross margin 20.6% 21.3%
Operating profit / Revenue 4.2% 5.2%
Group result after tax / Revenue 2.4% 2.6%

Balance
Working capital 297 255
Total equity 312 318
Balance sheet total 611 547
Net cash flow 13 -16

Ratios
Total equity / total assets 51.1% 58.1%
Current assets / current liabilities 2.59 2.53

Workforce (number)
Employees total (average) 12,712 12,639
Employees direct (average) 11,138 11,187
Employees indirect (average) 1,574 1,452
Employees total (year-end) 12,539 12,562
Employees direct (year-end) 10,939 11,083
Employees indirect (year-end) 1,600 1,479

Shares in EUR
Earnings per share 0.63 0.58
Shareholders’ equity per share 5.98 6.05
Dividend per share 0.55 0.55
Highest price 13.46 12.6
Lowest price 9.72 8.31
Closing price at 31 December 11.18 9.58

Financial 
highlights

3
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At Brunel, we are guided by our core values of 
passion for people, integrity, results-driven and 
entrepreneurship. We operate with a long-term 
perspective and a strong commitment to 
sustainability. We strive to consider the 
perspectives of all stakeholders and the broader 
societal impact of our actions. To us, sustainability 
means ensuring long-term success and 
profitability, fostering the career development of 
our professionals and specialists, fostering strong 
relationships with customers and suppliers, staying 
current with new technologies, meeting 
stakeholder expectations, and investing in the 
communities in which we operate.

Our passion for people drives us to connect 
specialists with clients on a global scale. With over 
12,000 specialists representing nearly 100 
different nationalities, we take our responsibility to 
them seriously and provide them with fair 
employment terms, safety, and security, and 
career development support.

To achieve success in customer engagement, 
experience, and loyalty, it is important to adopt 
data-driven, creative, and customer-centric 
strategies that utilise the latest technologies to 
provide exceptional service and value to 
customers. At Brunel, we have implemented 
initiatives such as our digital journey and innovation 
hub, which harness technology and creativity to 
enhance the connection between our customers 
and our business.

Report from 
the Board 
of Directors

4

Note: The Report from the Board of Directors 
(consisting of page 8 up to and including 95 , page 
116 up to and including 119, and page 208 up to 
and including 210), and such parts of the Annual 
accounts as referred to in the Report from the Board 
of Directors, comprise the “Bestuursverslag” within 
the meaning of article 2:391 of the DCC.
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Business model 
Our mission, vision and core values define what 
Brunel is aiming to achieve and how we want to 
conduct business. Brunel’s business model has 
resulted in quality service delivery, manageable 
risks, and a business that achieves growth and 
creates value for our stakeholders. The diagram 
provides a synopsis of our business model, and 
should be read in conjunction with the rest of the 
annual report.

INVEST IN STRATEGIC POSITIONING 

Becoming a leading specialist in chosen 
global specialisms and building 
accounts, knowledge, communities and 
specialists 

DIGITAL JOURNEY

Creating digital roadmap (e.g. investing 
in digital tools) to drive client and 
professional connectivity, improve 
service quality and delivery time 

INNOVATION 

Providing added value in selected 
specialisms through distinctive 
knowledge and solutions 

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Improving talent attraction, 
development and retention through HR 
agenda with talent planning, 
management development and 
succession planning 

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Improving quality, speed and 
productivity through lean approach for 
high quality to clients and lower cost for 
delivery, digital process tools and KPI 
steering 

HUMAN ASSETS

Passionate and results-driven 
internal employees are critical 
for Brunel to provide quality 
service to clienTs and career 
advancement opportunities for 
specialists

Talented specialists focus on 
deliverables, innovation and 
creativity

FINANCIAL ASSETS

1997 listed on the Stock 
Exchange 

Solid balance sheet to support 
growth strategy with limited 
need for external financing

Track record of good returns 
on capital investments

INTELLECTUAL ASSETS

Local expertise and sensitivity to 
national differences
Knowledge of global clients and talents

Knowledge of regulatory compliance 
Streamlining processes to improve 
productivity and efficiency

MANUFACTURED ASSETS

Robust Information Technology 
applications and infrastructure 
connecting all Brunel entities worldwide 
to meet business objectives in terms of 
availability, resilience and reliability. 

Established 7 regional hubs to facilitate 
more than 100 branch offices in over 40 
countries across 6 continents 

Alternate operating facilities and 
solutions to ensure business continuity 

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP ASSETS

A long-lasting global brand 

1975 started up in the Netherlands
1980’s first foreign office in Belgium 
1990’s founded Brunel Energy in Asia, 
Americas, Europe 

Early 2000’s working on global supplier 
agreements 

INPUTS

HOW WE CREATE VALUE
BRUNEL’S BUSINESS

OUTPUTS

PROFITABILITY AND GROWTH

During this year, achieve the revenue of 
EUR 1,331 million, EBIT of EUR 61 million 
and a dividend to shareholders of EUR 
0.55 per share. 

HIGHLY SKILLED WORKFORCE

By the end of 2023, we are employing 
over 12,000 international and local 
employees with technical background in 
the countries where we operate in, 
alongside investment in the training and 
well-being of staff and local community. 

STAKEHOLDER SATISFACTION 

Engage stakeholder groups and create 
long-term value and satisfaction for our 
employees, contractors and clients.

CONTRIBUTION TO ESG TOPICS

We help create a better future for 
professionals and a better planet for 
future professionals. We achieve this 
through People, Planet and Community. 

IN ORDER TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN THE ASSETS, BRUNEL CONTINUES TO OPERATE:

AS A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

Generate profit and cash flow to ensure sustainable financial 
growth 

AS A RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER

Accommodate specialists and professionals with pioneering 
assignments, competitive benefits and professional networks 

Take care all related administrative and operational processes 
so they can focus on advancing the skills that make them 
standout 

AS A RELIABLE BUSINESS PARTNER

Get things done 

Provide clients and projects the access to a flexible and 
specialised knowledge base in order to meet the rising global 
service demand and break down today’s technical boundaries 

AS A GOOD CORPORATE CITIZEN

Respect fundamental human rights in the employment market 
and safeguarding ethical behaviour, it extends to cultivating 
future generations and giving back to society at large

CORE VALUES

STRATEGY

PURPOSE AND VISION

Communities

Business 
Environment

Services & 
Solutions

Culture
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these businesses and global functions is determined 
by market and client opportunities, as well as the 
scale and maturity of our regional business.

This operating model allows us to benefit from the 
strengths of both local-to-local relationships and 
corporate expertise, enabling us to stay agile and 
respond quickly to market opportunities as they 
arise.

Centralised support functions

Brunel has established a global infrastructure 
connecting all continents through regional hubs 
located in Amsterdam, Bremen, Doha, Houston, 
Delft, Perth, and Singapore by sharing financial and 
commercial resources. This structure enables our 
commercial activities, business development, 
account management and recruitment to be fully 
focused on clients and candidates, while being 
supported by well-functioning regional hubs. This 
centralised model enables efficient and cost-
effective operations, improves communication 
between employees and managers, and ensures 
effective risk management, internal control, and 
compliance activities.

Organisational structure 

Global and regional steering

The global leadership team is responsible for driving 
the execution of our strategy. Comprised of regional 
directors of our largest regions, as well as leaders in 
client management, verticals, human resources, 
marketing, IT, finance, and legal, the team reports 
directly to the ELT, which includes the CEO and CFO. 
This transformation aims to ensure that our 
business can fully leverage its assets to execute our 

strategy effectively and position us for the next 
phase of growth.

We manage our business through 8 regional 
businesses, each supported by global functions in 
areas such as marketing, digital, finance, human 
resources, sales, process, legal and commercial, 
and IT. The level of support and interaction between 

Regional leadership

Regional 
support 
function

Regional hubs – Amsterdam, Bremen, Doha, Houston, Delft, Perth, Singapore and Glasgow

Commercial team Operations Finance and control Human 
resources

Marketing and 
Communications

IT

*   Our Energy activities in The Netherlands are managed by 
 the region Europe & Africa. The central hub for this region is 
 based in The Netherlands.
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DACH + CZ

Global Head of IT 
& Digital

Global Marketing & 
Communications

Global Legal & 
Compliance

Global Corporate
 Finance & Control

Global Sales Enablement

Global Commercial

RPO

Mining

Americas

Australasia

Rest of World

Middle East & India

The Netherlands

Managing Director 
of Operations

Managing Director 
of Operations

Global Head of 
People & Culture

CFOCEO

Board of Directors

Executive Leadership Team

Renewables

Conventional Energy

Taylor Hopkinson

ICE

Asia

Life Sciences
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2. Workforce considerations:

Indicator Talent market

Trends • Labor market regulations and compliance are influencing workforce dynamics.

• Generational changes are reshaping work expectations, while the talent pool is evolving, leading to 
changes in employee experiences.

• Talent scarcity and shortages, particularly in sectors like engineering, manufacturing, and technology, 
persist despite potential increases in unemployment.

• The labour market remains tight, and there is a growing emphasis on flexibility and mobility in work 
arrangements, with non-traditional recruitment methods, such as app-based or online talent marketplaces, 
becoming mainstream.

• There is a growing recognition of the value of a diverse workforce for both productivity and profitability in 
businesses.

Opportunities • Using compliant Brunel solutions gives a competitive edge in recruitment, meeting local and global needs 
and aligning with new generations.

• Exploring untapped markets and providing specialized help in talent-scarce areas create opportunities and 
project selection advantages.

• Prioritizing quality projects attracts top candidates; Brunel’s global network offers integrated mobility, and 
tech adoption enhances productivity.

• Boosting productivity and profitability through diversity strategies and smart contractor attraction and 
retention approaches drive success in a competitive labour market.

Risks • The uncertainty arises from the changing regulatory environment in local markets.

• Intense competition exists for highly-skilled talents and specialists in the workforce.

Our response “Risks, risk management and control system - Human capital risk” page 68.

Indicator Client demands 

Trends • Clients are becoming more sophisticated and agile in their approach, expecting total advisory services and 
specific service offerings.

• These clients also exert pressure on margins, which necessitates a strategic response.

• There is an increased demand for a flexible workforce, driving the need for global service providers who can 
cater to these evolving client requirements.

Opportunities • The increased demand for speed, innovation, and agility in business creates opportunities for quality-
oriented, entrepreneurial companies.

• There’s a growing emphasis on strategic dialogues with existing clients, especially in managing a skilled and 
flexible workforce.

• Brunel’s expertise and track record in delivering high-quality services play a crucial role in identifying 
customer pain points and winning new clients.

Risks • There is a growing demand for faster and higher-quality service delivery.

• The supplier selection process has become more stringent, giving clients more negotiating power in 
contracts.

• Margin pressure and potential liabilities pose challenges in our operations.

Our response “Risks, risk management and control system - Contract negotiation and management”, page 71.

Business environment 

Global business environment 

The world around us is rapidly evolving, and to 
confront it we need to have a system in place to 
adapt to the changes and keep track of it. 
Employees at different layers and in all regions 

monitor key business environment indicators. The 
top seven indicators below are most relevant for 
Brunel’s business worldwide. 

1. Market dynamics:

Indicator Macro-economics and industry cycles 

Trends • Energy security and energy transition are pressing concerns as the world grapples with the need to balance 
energy demand with sustainability and environmental goals.

• Fast-changing markets require swift adaptation to emerging trends

• Geo-political instability creates uncertainty in global markets, requiring risk mitigation strategies.

• Inflation influences consumer behaviour, corporate decisions, and market dynamics.

Opportunities • The coming decades will require significant capital investments.

• There is an increasing demand for flexible project solutions.

• There is a rising need for up-skilling in the workforce.

• Wage inflation has a positive impact on Brunel’s financial key performance indicators

Risks • Our business growth is contingent on the European market experiencing an economic upturn.

• Existing business models face challenges in meeting the growing demand for new products and services.

Our response “Risks, risk management and control system - Unfavourable macro-economic conditions/geo political 
situation”, page 65

Indicator Competition 

Trends • There is a heightened competition for talent in the market.

• Market consolidation is leading to shake-outs, reducing competition among smaller players.

• Increased competition is also emerging from generalist companies and engineering procurement 
construction firms.

Opportunities • The goal is to expand the penetration rate of recruitment services in markets where Brunel has a strong 
presence.

• Emphasis is placed on innovation and the delivery of client-centric services to achieve this objective.

Risks • Our margins face pressure in the current market conditions.

• Ensuring the quality of our services is crucial amidst market challenges.

• Intense competition exists for highly skilled talents and specialists in our industry.

Our response “ Risks, risk management and control system - Competition”, page 65.
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3. Regulatory factors:

Indicator Regulatory landscape 

Trends • The complexity of regulations is pushing for specialisation in response to the need for compliance.

• In some local labour markets, there’s an adverse regulatory environment concerning flexible labour and 
immigration policies.

• Technology advancements are prompting regulators to establish new rules, particularly to enhance 
privacy protection and elevate international companies’ business practices.

• There is a rising trend in increased regulation aimed at safeguarding local labour markets.

Opportunities Opportunities 
• Promoting a strong culture of compliance and ensuring compliant operations is a key focus.

• Offering compliance as a service is a strategic approach to meet regulatory requirements and client needs.

• Engaging in constructive social dialogue is vital to strike the right balance in industry regulations for the 
services provided.

Risks • Our actions can directly affect our clients’ costs.

• We face increased compliance risks and associated costs.

• There’s a risk of reputational damage to our business.

Our response “ Risks, risk management and control system - Non-compliance with laws, regulations, local standards and 
codes”, page 71.

4. Technological transformation:

Indicator Technology and digitalization 

Trends • Digital transformation is reshaping the staffing industry.

• Despite advances in technology, candidate automation has seen limited change over the past five years.

• Automation for both candidate and client journeys still requires a human touch for effective implementation.

• Staffing platforms have gained widespread acceptance and usage.

• The growth of payroll platforms is driven by the globalisation of the workforce, remote work trends, and 
the need for speed, accuracy, and compliance.

• AI is rapidly moving towards mainstream adoption in the staffing industry.

Opportunities • More jobs are being created than lost, particularly in digital skills and software engineering fields.

• There is a growing demand for metals, especially for chip, battery, and turbine production.

• Innovation in service solutions is a priority.

• The development of digital recruiting methods is essential to meet evolving hiring needs.

• The workforce is witnessing a rising demand for new job profiles driven by technological advancements.

• The automation of repetitive and manual tasks, such as document processing, data entry, and actions on 
behalf of users, is a key focus for efficiency and productivity improvements.

Risks • The risk of digital disruption is ever-present in our industry.

• Companies are compelled to rapidly enhance their digital capabilities to keep up with the fast migration to 
digital technologies.

• Security considerations may impede the speed of innovation.

• As systems become more integrated, specific security and governance concerns are on the rise.

Our response “ Risks, risk management and control system - IT and digital risks”, page 69.

 “Fostering an 
impactful brand 

across the globe is a 
key success factor 

to attract and retain 
both specialists and 

clients. As we 
systematically develop our brand, we 

are receiving more applications and 
client requests via our own channels 

than ever before.”

Nicole Kirleis
Global Head of Marketing and Communications
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Key markets and outlook  

Our local operations in the Netherlands and 
Germany are heavily influenced by macroeconomic 
trends. These markets primarily use macroeconomic 
trends as leading indicators. However, for other 
markets, we conduct additional analysis to gain a 
more accurate outlook. This includes analysing 
specific market indicators like capital investment 

and general business indicators. Brunel’s 
diversification initiative has led to the growth and 
promising development of our Life Sciences market, 
resulting in its inclusion as a global vertical.

Global vertical Key global themes 

Conventional energy The oil and gas CAPEX market is expected to grow at 4.27% CAGR, led by North America, with the US 
accounting for 70% of investments. Annual upstream investment will need to increase from $499 billion in 
2022 to $640 billion in 2030 to ensure adequate supplies The total number of expected FID projects is 
projected to reach approximately 150, with a combined value approaching $600 billion between 2024 and 
2026. Talent shortage looms, with up to 40,000 needed workers by 2025, as younger generations find oil 
and gas industry unattractive.

Renewables In the short term, the offshore wind industry is facing challenges due to geopolitical, economic, and supply-
chain factors, affecting deployment targets for the next 3 to 5 years. However, the long-term outlook for 
offshore wind remains strong, driven by global commitments to combat climate change. To reach long-term 
targets beyond 2030, collaboration between governments and the industry is crucial. The offshore wind 
industry anticipates a skills shortage even with capacity adjustments, but rationalising global ambitions in 
the short term may enhance project deliverability by alleviating supply chain and skills constraints.

Mining Mined Commodities like Lithium, Cobalt, Graphite and Rare Earths are essential for the energy transition and 
digital economy. They are critical to producing electric vehicles (EVs), wind turbines and the technologies 
necessary to burn less fossil fuels. Predictions are that between 2021-2025 there will be an 300 percent 
increase in demand for Nickel and Lithium for use in EV batteries. Almost 400 new mines needed to meet 
future EV battery demand. CAPEX is increasing due to rising costs of pre-planned investments, and major 
mining companies like Fortescue, Rio Tinto, and BHP are expected to contribute substantial green capital 
expenditure starting from 2023 onwards, with investments in renewable energy infrastructure leading to 
progress in emission reduction.

Life sciences The global Life Sciences market size was valued at USD 70588.93 million in 2022 and is expected to expand 
at a CAGR of 11.75% during the forecast period, reaching USD 137462.05 million by 2028. In the life 
sciences industry, R&D is a top priority this year, with a focus on innovative product development and 
investments in R&D and digital innovation. AI is accelerating drug development, reducing R&D time, and 
reshaping clinical trials, with potential benefits by 2030. Digital transformation is on the rise in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, but many biopharma companies are still working on becoming digitally mature.

1    This commentary is produced by Fitch solutions Country Risk and Industry Research and is not a comment about Fitch Ratings’ Credit 
Opinions or Credit Ratings. Nor is any of the background obtained from, or in conjunction with, Fitch Ratings credit analysis.

5. Sustainability and governance:

Indicator ESG 

Trends • Driven in part by regulation and in part by shifting market perception on what contributes to enterprise 
value, investors and other stakeholders are demanding that companies do more across all three 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) pillars.

• Government stimulus packages and “green deal”

Opportunities • The aim is to build a purposeful business that contributes to society and provides meaningful work.

• This involves refining our corporate identity to clearly define why we exist and what our core values truly 
represent.

Risks • Traditional energy projects, including upstream conventional energy ventures, are facing reduced 
favourability as European banks are divesting from fossil fuel companies due to ESG liabilities.

Our response • “Risks, risk management and control system - Unfavourable macro-economic conditions/geo political 
situation”, page 68

• ESG Commitment, page 44.
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  Our regions

❶ Americas (United States, Brazil, Canada, 
Guyana, Mexico, Suriname)

❷ Asia (Singapore, China, Indonesia, Japan, 
Korea, Malaysia, Myanmar, Thailand, Vietnam) 

❸ Australasia (Australia, New Zealand, 
 Papua New Guinea)

❹ DACH (Germany, Austria, Czech Republic, 
Switzerland) 

❺ Europe and Africa (the Netherlands, Albania, 
Belgium, Denmark, France, Greece, Israel, 
Italy, Kazakhstan, Mozambique, Namibia, 
Nigeria, Norway, Poland, Romania, Spain, 
United Kingdom)

❻ Middle East and India (India, Iraq, Kuwait, 
Qatar, United Arab Emirates)

❼ The Netherlands

❽ Taylor Hopkinson (TH: United Kingdom, Mexico, 
Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, United States) 

1

1

2

Global network, local presence

3

7 4

6 6

TH

TH

TH

TH

5

5

5

5

TH

TH

TH
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Double materiality assessment

As part of our efforts to initiate our alignment with 
the requirements of the EU Corporate Sustainability 
Reporting Directive (CSRD), we conducted a 
materiality analysis in 2023 following the concept of 
“double materiality” inspired by the principles 
described in the ESRS. Under this concept, we 
define a material sustainability matter as a topic 
which significantly influences the organisation or on 
which the organisation has a significant influence. 
This includes direct and indirect as well as positive 
and negative influences. To identify these material 
topics, we engaged with and gathered input from 
various internal and external stakeholders. 

In performing this assessment, we created an 
extensive list of topics which was narrowed down 
into a shorter list of topics that stakeholders were 
asked to score on materiality. We used different 
sources as input to our lists of topics, including 
international standards & frameworks, Brunel’s 
historical materiality analysis, sector trends & media 
analysis, and peers & competitors. 

The double materiality assessment addresses both 
financial materiality as well as impact materiality. A 
final list of 9 sustainability matters is listed below. 
Based on the prioritised sustainability matters, four 
ESRS standards will be triggered. 

Sustainability matter ESRS topical standards
Environmental topics ESRS E1 Climate change

Exposure to traditional (oil & gas) energy clients

Contribution to the energy transition through clients

GHG emissions and energy consumption

Social topics ESRS S1 Own workforce

Employee safety & security 

Diversity, inclusion & belonging

Talent attraction, development & career opportunities

Labour conditions and human rights in the value chain (incl. 
candidates) 

ESRS S2 Workers in the value chain 

Governance topics ESRS G1 Business conduct

ESRS S4 Consumers and End-usersData privacy & cybersecurity

Ethical business and compliance

CSRD readiness and next steps 

In preparing for CSRD compliance, we conducted a 
double materiality assessment. The material topics 
identified through this assessment are the starting 
point for compliance with CSRD requirements. This 
enables us to identify material impacts, risks and 
opportunities associated with them.  We see these 
material topics and emerging areas play a key role in 

strategic focus areas and themes for Brunel to 
explore and act upon. Consequently, we have 
initiated the process of defining concrete actions 
and setting targets for each topic in 2024. Brunel 
will need to comply with the CSRD from reporting 
year 2024.  

Materiality analysis
Stakeholders 

We identify the Environmental, Social and 
Governance topics which we believe have the greatest 
impact on our business and the greatest level of 
concern to stakeholders along our value chain. We 

do this through a multi-stakeholder process. An 
overview of our regular engagement with these 
stakeholders is provided in the below table.

WHO ARE OUR STAKEHOLDERS?

Employees, Specialists and 
future professionals 

Clients Shareholders and financial 
institutions

Government, regulators, NGOs 
and local communities

WHAT ARE THEIR AREAS OF INTERESTS?

Training, development and 
career opportunities

Recognition, fair salaries and 
benefits

Open, collaborative, safe and 
healthy working environment

Clear vision and direction

Diversity & inclusion

Job satisfaction and pride

Job opportunities

Job market information

Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) topics

On time delivery and quality of 
services

Reliable and value-adding 
partnership

Proactive, relevant recruitment 
and project manpower advice

Availability of required skills 

Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) topics

Attractive and sustainable 
growth

Effective risk management and 
control environment

Responsible investment

Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) topics

Contribute to the economic and 
social develop in local 
community

Create employment and be a 
major force in the economy

Responsible approach to tax

High standards of ethics and 
integrity

Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) topics

HOW WE RESPONDED
(through our strategic pillars and other frameworks)

People and culture (page 36)

Digital journey (page 42)

Specialist community (page 31)

Capabilities (page 34)

Sales enablement (page 68)

Quality, speed and efficiency 
(page 16)

Ownership (page 18)

Capabilities (page 34)

 Diversification (page 31)

Risk management (page 60)

Performance (page 82)

Corporate governance (page 
76)

Corporate social responsibilities 
(page 44)

28 29



BRU NEL INTERNATIONAL N.V.   ANNUAL REPORT 2023 REP ORT  FROM T HE B OA RD O F DIRE CTO RS

Other

Infrastructure

Financial Services

Life Sciences

Public Sector

Mining

Future Mobility

Renewable Energy

Industrials & Technology

Conventional Energy

Financial and non-financial targets

How do we measure success? Metric Target 2027 Progress 2023
Revenue Revenue High single digit YOY growth On track

Gross profit High single digit YOY growth On track
Profitability EBIT/GP >32% yearly fall through 40 – 50% On track

EBIT >6.5% On track
Conversion ratio >32% in 2027 On track

Culture Connected specialists  > 13,000 contracting specialists  
>2,000 perm specialists

On track

Market leading 
engagement

NPS >25% On track

Strategy overview

We are a recognised leader in 
customised and sustainable workforce 
and project solutions.

By connecting the expertise of our 
specialists to pioneering projects we 
empower our clients to lead the way in 

current and future industry 
transformations, creating a better future 
for people and the planet.

Expanding 
Pioneering Projects

Brunel
Connecting 

through Internal 
Talent and 

Technology

Data-driven business development

Fast-growing verticals

Full set of services & tailored solutions

Loyal and growing client base

Attracting and 
Retaining Specialists 

Attractive projects

Strong brand

Upskilling

Digital journey

DIVERSIFICATION 

We expand our business by entering selected 
market segments (verticals). By executing locally 
and connecting globally, we aim to achieve market-
leading positions within our target markets. Utilising 

our global infrastructure, we will reshape how Brunel 
connects to its market and capture a greater volume 
and diverse range of opportunities.

Progress and results 2023 Highlight : Vertical diversification (Gross profit share)

• Knowledge and service leadership established in 3 global and 
2 local verticals

• Reached solid diversification between chosen markets

• Life Sciences vertical opportunities can be developed further 

 

2020 

2023 

Ready for the next level 

• Scale in all our verticals

• Global verticals

SPECIALISATION 

Our ability to attract the most talented specialists will 
form extensive and powerful communities, where 
like-minded people meet, knowledge can be shared 
and where innovative ideas emerge from everyday 
challenges. These communities will nurture, develop 

and encourage progression of talent. Combined with 
our capability to connect the specialists to exceptional 
career opportunities in all the industries we cover, our 
communities will generate a strong gravitation, of 
leading talents and clients towards Brunel.  

Operational leverage
Continuous innovation
Global IT / Digital platform
Disciplined execution

25%

17%5%

9%

4%

13%

6%

12%
10%

7%

25%

15%
8%

3%

6%

6%
4%

14%
12%

7%

Next level
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“ Our unique 
global recruitment 
platform lets us 
collaborate with 
industry-leading 
partners like 
Microsoft to 

benefit from the latest innovations. 
We continuously improve the way 
we work, striving towards our goal 
of operational excellence”. 

Stefan de Boer
Global Head of IT & Digital

Progress and results 2023 Highlight: Talent attraction and retention 

• Attraction and retention of specialists improved

• Strong communities of specialists

• Brunel Academy for internal colleagues and specialists   

• Tooling to support specialist retention and intimacy

Talent Scarcity 
Brunel’s response: 

•  Best projects in chosen markets attract specialists

•  Recruit and mobilise specialists globally 

•  Best-in-class contractor care

•  Online Candidate Journey  

Ready for the next level 

Increased Candidate Volume• Up-skilling

• Building communities of specialists 
172,152             ↗
Applications 
2020

99,305             ↗
Unique Candidates 
2020

327,718 
Applications 
2023

220,812 
Unique Candidates 
2023

on track
focus to reach the 

next level
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CAPABILITIES BUILDING 

A leading specialist within the chosen services that 
we  provide. We are proud of the quality of service 
we deliver, and we are  recognised by our customers 
and contractors for this. Our continuing focus  on 
specialisation provides us with a deep insight into 
the market, allowing  us to challenge our customers 

and make them more successful. This  approach 
combined with our global network, positions Brunel 
as a valued  partner to its customers.

Progress and results 2023 Highlight: Expanding our end-to-end solutions   

• Added new services (RPO, Commissioning, Statement of 
Work)

• Permanent placement services is now 10% GP   

• Insourced client projects for life validation (legal), 
purchasing services (engineering), vendor inspection 
services (engineering), etc.

Project & Consulting 
Solutions 

Brunel provides custom 
support, international network 
and local knowledge to deliver 
seamless solutions. 

Capabilities: 

•  Project Risk Assurance 

• Operational Readiness & 
Assurance 

• Commissioning & 
Start-Up

Ready for the next level 

• End-to-End services

• Full product suite 

Workforce Solutions   

Brunel leverages advanced 
recruitment techniques and 
strategic workforce planning to 
streamline talent acquisition 
and enhance overall 
performance. 

Global Mobility Solutions

Brunel seamlessly transfers 
individuals, teams and even 
whole businesses to new 
locations – from the next state 
or region to the farthest 
corners of the planet.

Capabilities:

• Recruitment Process 
Outsourcing

 
• Permanent Placements 

• Executive Search 

• Employer of Record 

DISCIPLINED EXECUTION

Disciplined execution is the relentless focus on 
executing strategy, keeping the momentum going 
throughout the year. All three elements - people, 
process and system - must operate seamlessly in 

order for Brunel to develop into a truly successful 
and inspired enterprise. 

Progress and results 2023 Highlight: Delivering growth   

• Process clarity and KPIs steering, improved productivity

• Global IT and digital platform and tooling supporting 
efficiency   

• Leveraging our network creates higher conversion     
  

Key Drivers

•  Clear accountability and KPIs steering 

•  Disciplined process improvement 

•  Data driven market approach and sales execution 

•  Digital tooling to replace physical activities 

•  Cost agility where needed

•  Taylor Hopkinson acquisition 

Ready for the next level 

• Compliant delivery 

• Improved efficiency 

• Cost control 

Delivery

2020 2023 (LTM) Growth

Gross Profit 191 274 13%

Conversion 
ratio

15% 22% +729bps

EBIT 30 61 28%

 

on track
focus to reach the 

next level
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PEOPLE & CULTURE

We are proud of our corporate culture at Brunel. 

We are explorers, developers and entrepreneurs in 
the spirit of our namesake Isambard Kingdom 

Brunel. We are people from many nations, working 
around the globe united by our pursuit of quality and 
mutual appreciation, as well as our values: 

Social metric  |  ESG programme pillar – Our people 

Attracting and developing our people with the right 
skills remains a constant priority for Brunel. We 
believe that to meet our business goals and create 
long-term shareholder value we must continue to 
attract and retain the most talented through 
continuous learning and engage, motivate and 
support employee well-being initiatives. We 
continually seek ways to further embed diversity 
and inclusion through our culture, process and 
employee experience. Our updated CSR strategy 
chooses to focus on the following aspects: 

• Embed Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging 
strategy to build a diverse and inclusive 
workplace

• Education & Awareness to enable people with 
Autism to make meaningful work more accessible

• Build the Brunel Academy to develop our people 
and set industry standard 

• Engage, motivate & support employee well-being 
through key initiatives 

Entrepreneurship Integrity Results-driven Passion for people

People & Culture performance dashboard 2023: 

1. Female leadership and management

2023 2022

 Female Male Female Male

 # % # % # % # %

Global leadership team 5 29.4% 12 70.6% 4 25% 12 75%

Global leadership team’s direct reports 53 39% 82 61% 43 36% 76 64%

2. Global Net Promotor Score 

In 2023, the Net Promoter Score (NPS) for 
contractors rose to 54, up from 52 in 2022, while the 
clients’ NPS slightly decreased to 48 from 50. The 
total number of respondents also increased in 2023, 
with 429 clients and 2,191 candidates, compared to 
325 clients and 1,563 candidates in 2022. 

To enhance our services, we have refined our 

feedback approach. We now solicit NPS feedback 
not only at the start and end of projects but also 
biannually for longer ones. This change aims to gain 
continuous insights. To streamline the process, we 
have reduced the number of questions but will seek 
more detailed feedback from detractors to better 
understand improvement areas.

3. Company Monitor

2023 2022

Participation rate (100% scale) 88% 88%

Engagement rate (10-point scale) 8 8.1

Initiatives for recruiting diverse talent

Brunel aims to create and maintain a work culture 
that understands and promotes diversity and 
inclusion, which are essential elements for the 
success of Brunel and all its employees.

Brunel is working towards an organisation where all 
(future) Brunellers feel empowered to develop and 
grow. At Brunel, we not only accept differences - we 
embrace them, support them, and thrive on them 

for the benefit of our employees, clients, and 
community.

In order to fulfil this challenge, Brunel has set the 
following goals:

•  To provide employment to workers who are facing 
difficulties in finding work, with a goal of helping 
50-75 candidates from this group find a job 
annually.

•  To strive for a level of appreciation of the diverse 
and inclusive culture among employees of >8 in the 
employee satisfaction survey starting from 2024.

•  To aim for at least 40% of senior management to 
be female by 2025.
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Total respondents: 2,191
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This challenge will be developed into an action plan, 
outlining the objectives, investments, and approach. 
This plan will be presented to Diversity in Business within 
six months after the signing of the Diversity Charter.

DIB Councils 

Around the globe, our regions are forming their own 
Regional DIB Council. Our Americas and Australasia 
regions have already established committees for 
their regions and will support other regions as they 
build their committees.

The role of the Regional DIB Council is to provide 
representation from different backgrounds within 
the organisation, who meet on a specific cadence to 
discuss what is being actioned on DIB, how it’s 
working and providing advice on what to do. Our 
Regional DIB Councils will develop and execute their 
own Regional DIB Strategy aligning with the Global 
DIB framework set out in this communication.

Each Regional DIB Council will meet with the Board 
of Directors and Global People & Culture to discuss 
progress, actions and opportunities. Some regions 
we understand may require some time before a fully 
functional committee is set up, until such time, 
Regional HR will work closely with their Regional 
Management to adopt regional DIB goals.  

Unconscious bias training 

Unconscious bias training is essential for Brunel as it 
promotes diversity and inclusiveness, improves 
decision-making, increases employee morale, 
enhances reputation, and drives innovation. By 
recognising and addressing unconscious biases, 
employees can make objective decisions, feel valued 
and respected, and contribute to a diverse and 
innovative workplace. 

The global leadership team completed unconscious 
bias training in late 2022, and starting February 

2022 Contractors NPS 52

  Clients NPS 50

2023 Contractors 54

  Clients 48

1000 30 70-100

Good Great ExcellentNeeds improvement

2023, unconscious bias training is a mandatory 
training for all indirect Brunel employees. This 
commitment to reducing unconscious bias extends 
not only to our interactions with each other, but also 
to our business processes, including job descriptions, 
interviews, and other HR-related activities.

Training and Development Policy 
 
Ensure we continuously upskill our people to be 
future ready by providing to our professionals and 
communities (specialists, employees) meaningful, 
impactful and engaging first-class content. 

The Brunel Academy has been fully established with 
a focus on four core pillars:

Mandatory Training Functional and Business 
Expertise

Essential Competences 
and Fun

Leadership

Brunel policies and strategy Sales Academy 
Recruitment Academy
Challenger Programme
Coaching Sales 121 Sessions

LinkedIn Learning Brunel Leadership Development 
Programs (BLDP)

Directs Directs and Indirects Directs and Indirects Succession Focus Directs

Setting the foundation for 
Brunellers

Upskilling our people in the 
most demanded competences

Encouraging never-ending 
expansion of skills and 
knowledge

Developing the leadership 
that drives our strategy

Formal performance review/feedback programme 
to support career development

At Brunel, we believe in continuous employee 
development and growth. That’s why we conduct 
employee performance appraisals twice annually to 
provide regular feedback and support for our 
employees. Additionally, we have established 
Personal Development Plans, Career Development 
Ladders, and various training programmes to help 
our employees achieve their career goals. These 
tools and resources not only foster personal 
growth but also align our employees’ skills and 
aspirations with the company’s objectives and 
goals. Our commitment to providing 
comprehensive support for our employees’ 
professional development demonstrates our belief 
in creating a positive work environment that fosters 
growth, innovation, and success.

Employee non-salary benefits

At Brunel, we understand that employee 
satisfaction extends beyond just salary 
compensation. That’s why we offer a 
comprehensive range of non-salary benefits to our 
employees, designed to enhance their overall well-
being and work-life balance. To accommodate the 
diverse needs of our global workforce, our non-
salary benefits programme is tailored to each 
region. Our regions have the autonomy to develop 
their own non-salary benefits packages, which may 
include but are not limited to education and training 
programmes, insurance coverage, bike leasing 
options, sports activities, and discounts for cultural 
events.

Our commitment to providing a wide array of non-
salary benefits demonstrates our dedication to 
creating a positive and supportive work environment 
for our employees. We believe that these benefits 
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“ Our internal and 
external 
specialists are our 
biggest assets. 
Attracting and 
retaining the best 

talents through our various HR 
initiatives is our top priority to take 
Brunel to the next level” 

Joanita Oud
Global Head of People & Culture

not only increase employee satisfaction but also 
contribute to the overall success of our company.

Employee well-being support 

At Brunel, we recognise the importance of 
supporting our employees both inside and outside 
of the workplace. To demonstrate this commitment, 
we are implementing a number of programmes 
aimed at improving their overall well-being. One 
example of this is the Global Employee Assistance 
Programme (EAP) that has been introduced in Brunel 
Australasia for all direct and indirect employees.

The EAP is available 24/7 and offers qualified 
assistance to improve relationships, communication, 
mental health, work-life balance, and more. The 
programme also covers a range of other issues such 

as addiction, grief, retirement, and elder care. Brunel 
fully subsidizes the EAP, ensuring that employees 
have access to these services at no cost. For those 
who require more specialized or long-term support, 
the EAP will assist in selecting an appropriate 
specialist or service.

Work-life balance

Brunel has adapted to the hybrid working trend by 
offering home office facilities and a flexible work 
schedule of three days in the office and two days 
from home. This flexible approach to work allows our 
employees to create a work-life balance that suits 
their individual needs and supports their 
productivity and overall well-being. It applies to jobs 
in which a hybrid working arrangement is possible 
without disruption to the delivery of our services.

KEY ENABLERS ACROSS THE STRATEGY PILLARS 

Strong brand: Brunel is a powerful network of 
specialists connecting the most talented and 
experienced specialists with both present-day and 
pioneering projects. United with one goal: to deliver 
outstanding and intelligent solutions. Combined 
with our dedication to every single employee we 
pave the way for exceptional career opportunities.

Online Marketing across the funnel

Loyalty
868k social followers

264k returning website visitors

Awareness
179m impressions

Interest
3.2m clicks

Desire
268k new social followers

1.2m website visitors

Action
326k Applications
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Compliance

This layer overarch all Global IT activities within  the ‘Flexibility’, 
‘Collaboration’ and ‘Efficiency’ layer to be compliant with the 
latest regulations.

Flexibility

This layer contains tools that stimulates flexibility in the way 
stakeholders could work within and outside the organisation.

Strategic items:

1. Global and Regional steering

2. Diversification / Capabilities

3. Talent and Management Development

Collaboration

Tools of flexibility’ layer stimulates collaboration, buth the layer 
contains also tools that stimulates collaboration between the 
different stakeholder groups.

Strategic items:

1. Execute Digital candidate and candidate journey 

2. Operational leverage

3 Client Management

Efficiency & Conversion

Synergy between tools of ‘Flexibility’, ‘Collaboration’  and 
‘Compliancy’ layer results in more organisational efficiency.

Strategic items:

1. Quality, Speed and Efficiency

2. Sustainability

Vision and Scope 2024

Compliance

Flexibility

Collaboration

Efficiency 
& Conversion

SCALABLE GLOBAL IT PLATFORM AND DIGITAL TOOLS

Our 2024 Vision encompasses a layered approach 
to enhance Global IT activities across our 
organisation, focusing on Compliance, Flexibility, 
Collaboration, and Efficiency:

We aim to provide best-in-class journeys for our 
clients and  candidates. Supported by market 
leading digital services we deliver a positive 

experience with every touch point. By mapping the 
digital journey of our clients we identify dissatisfiers 
we can improve their journey step-by-step.

ACCELERATION THROUGH DISCIPLINED M&A 

We have an active M&A strategy in place to 
accelerate our strategy execution and we allocate 
our own capital to support it. 

M&A focus Different reasons of acquisitions Progress and results (2023)

Accelerators in Renewables and Life 
Sciences 

Accelerating diversification strategy and 
market penetration in core markets 
through adding renewables and Life 
Sciences companies, showing fast growth 
or with large market share who most likely 
will operate in multiple regions  

•  Working on a number of deals. 
Anticipated closure in Q1/Q2 2024.

•  Engaged in multiple in-depth 
conversation with potential acquisition 
targets, particularly Life Sciences in the 
United States

• Extensive research provided valuable 
insights into the target companies within 
our M&A focus areas. In the event  a 
suitable opportunity arises at an 
appropriate price point, Brunel is well-
positioned to proceed.

Netherlands, DACH Elevating Brunel’s position to value-add 
partner in the Netherlands and DACH 
region through investment in high end 
consultancy-based engineering specialists 
which have high value, high margin and 
good reputation  

Value-add  services Investment in businesses that add both 
knowledge and provide increased 
capabilities to Brunel dual purpose of (i) 
Leveraging Brunel’s infrastructure and 
customer base (ii) Moving Brunel to a more 
value-add supplier and higher margin 
business.  
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“ Our global 
footprint, combined 

with our local 
experience and 

industry knowledge, 
enables us to deliver 

best-in-class and 
compliant solutions that meet all our 

clients’ needs. We walk our clients 
through every phase of their projects, 

which is why we are a preferred 
partner for pioneering projects.”

Wouter Verloop
Global Head of Sales Enablement

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
Commitment

ESG journey and commitment

Brunel recognises ESG as the practice of 
considering material environmental, social and 
governance issues in the business process. We are 
encouraged to align with the ESG approaches that 
are most relevant to the Professional & Commercial 
Service industry and that best suit the strategy we 
manage. Brunel’s ESG journey started from 
acknowledging the concerns about sustainability, 
i.e. environmental issues, labour issues and business 
decisions on how to not deplete the resources and 
how to keep our business on sound footing, followed 
by taking sustainability as part of Brunel’s strategy 
formulation 2018 as the first key milestone. We have 
been following through on our sustainability 
promises by creating long-term value, i.e. maximising 
local employment opportunities to build local 
economic growth (page 56), pursuing transparent 
and responsible tax governance and strategy (page 
56), respecting human rights (page 55). 

Another key milestone in our ESG journey is creating 
an impactful sustainability strategy which covers the 
overarching social, environmental, and governance 
concerns in Brunel’s policies, practices, and 
decision-making. 

Our environmental commitment 

Building a better planet for our future professionals 

• Carbon neutral from 2022 onwards

• Supporting clients’ energy transition

• Brunel Foundation Forest & Trash ’n Trace

• OffshoreWind4 Kids 

Our social commitment

Build a better future for professionals 

• Truly sustainable business mode
 
• Continuous training and upskilling

• Enabling sustainable careers

• Commitment to Diversity, Inclusion & Belonging 
(DIB)

Responsible governance

Integrity and compliance define 
our leadership style

• Integrity and compliance 

• Strong reporting framework

• ESG Framework

• Highest level of operational efficiency and 
services 

In the meantime, we are fully aware that the 
corporate accountability is beyond implementing 
sustainability initiatives but also tracking their 
impact. In an effort to better calculate the results of 
our initiatives, we are moving towards more metric-
based ESG criteria to track our social and ecological 
performance. This commitment will be executed 
through our updated strategy.

44 45



BRU NEL INTERNATIONAL N.V.   ANNUAL REPORT 2023 REP ORT  FROM T HE B OA RD O F DIRE CTO RS

In addition to measuring our own performance and 
direct impact, we also acknowledge that some of 
our clients operate in sectors with high 
environmental or social impact. Many of our clients 
in these sectors are progressively positioning 
themselves for the energy transition. We support 
our clients to take a role in transitioning to a low-
carbon world by delivering the right skills.

To lead the way on the world’s energy transition 
Brunel partnered up with Taylor Hopkinson, a 
trusted recruitment partner to renewable energy 
leaders that delivers market-leading solutions within 
the full life cycle of renewable energy projects. 
Together, we will create a diverse, global workforce 
that will support the world’s transition to sustainable 
energy – vital if we want to deliver our net-zero 
ambition. By combining Brunel’s extensive global 
footprint with Taylor Hopkinson’s deep sector 
knowledge, network and track record, we can set a 
new benchmark for service and quality.

In 2023, we have updated our global environmental 
policy. This policy prioritises Brunel’s social and 
environmental responsibility, overseen by executive 
leadership. Key commitments include carbon 
footprint reduction and adherence to international 
standards and legal regulations. Employees are 
encouraged to integrate environmental concerns 
into their activities, promoting sustainability across 
the company.

Brunel Foundation 

The Brunel Foundation was founded in 2012 by 
Maritska Aarts and Femke Dijkstra, two passionate 
Brunellers who shared the goal of doing good 
together. It has grown into a global foundation that 
supports Brunel’s ESG strategy and the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals, and continuously 
inspires us to positively impact the environment and 
contribute to a better society.

Mission: Purpose: How:

We help create a better future for 
professionals and a better planet for future 
professionals.

Be a catalyst for change:

• Healthier planet - life on land and below 
water.  

• Inclusive society - positively influence the 
labour market for people with autism.

• We inspire and encourage our employees 
to contribute to society and make 
sustainable choices when and where they 
can.

• We create engagement on all levels, 
bottom up, capture and connect passion, 
talent & intrinsic motivation.

Trash ‘n Trace

In line with our mission to safeguard the environment, different Trash ‘n Trace activities were set up in 2023. 
Brunel colleagues from various parts of the world rolled up their sleeves and joined forces in both group and 
individual clean-ups. Altogether they collected around 676 kg of litter. The numbers in the Global Trash ‘n Trace 
Challenge with Litterati grew to over 493,000 pieces of litter picked and registered.  

Brunel Foundation Forest 

In 2023 the size of our Brunel Foundation Forest has grown to a total of 19,000 trees, in 8 regions worldwide. 
Various regions have made tree gifting part of the onboarding process, as a gift for clients, candidates or at other 
events. In line with our ESG strategy, we’re supporting this initiative of reforestation by our trusted partner 
EcoMatcher, taking part in long-lasting climate action, contributing to making earth a greener planet. 

Building New Habits

Making sustainable choices is essentially about building new habits. All changes we make together daily, will 
impact the environment on a global scale. That’s why the Brunel Foundation inspires and encourages Brunel 
colleagues to make sustainable choices when and where they can. By means of sustainable corporate gifting, 
supporting Plastic Free July and upcycling of old Brunel materials, the foundation inspires Brunellers to take 
action to reduce their own environmental footprint.

Future Professionals

The Brunel Foundation believes that involving kids at an early age in fun activities related to renewable energy is a 
great way to create awareness for the environment in general and to inspire them to join the industry later in life. 
Supported by Taylor Hopkinson, 1760 children across the world were set to learn about engineering, technology 
and renewables thanks to our partnership with OffshoreWind4Kids. 

Autism  

Meaningful change starts with increased awareness. That’s why the Brunel Foundation organised events such as 
webinars, panel discussions, AUT in the Brunel Office interviews and walk-in coaching sessions about autism. All 
with the aim to create mutual understanding, looking beyond prejudice and make each other successful. Don’t 
judge talent by its cover.

Brunel Foundation Outlook

More and more people want to be part of something 
worthwhile, get behind something they believe in. In 
the upcoming years, the Brunel Foundation will keep 
on supporting Brunel’s ESG strategy by intensifying 
the impact of the four Planet pillars and our Autism 
focus for People. 

We will aim to extend employee engagement and the 
infrastructure of our activities to support the regions 
to do their bit in giving back. By means of surprising 
partnerships and innovative projects, the foundation 
wishes to inspire (future) professionals to create a 
more sustainable world, together.
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Environmental metric  |  Addressing climate change  

Given the potential for climate change to drive 
transformation across entire economic sectors, 
climate change plays an important role in our ESG 
Strategy. We retrieved insights into our own carbon 
emissions over the last year for which the main 
sources are our offices, road transport and air travel. 
In line with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol, we 
collected the necessary data to calculate our own 
carbon footprint resulting in the figures below.

Emissions(tCO2e)

Source 2023 2022 2021 2020

Offices 3,347 2,011 2,109 1,700

Road transport 4,743 4,544 4,137 4,700

Air travel 22,390 9,482 4,233 3,900

Total 30,480 16,073 10,479 10,300

The Greenhouse Gas Protocol splits greenhouse gas 
emissions into three scopes:

•  Scope 1: all direct CO2 emissions caused by fuels 
that we ourselves purchase and consume (natural 
gas for office heating and the fuel for our 
company cars).

•  Scope 2: indirect CO2 emissions from our 
operations (electric energy consumption).

•  Scope 3: other indirect CO2 emissions from 
energy we did not personally purchase or emit 
directly, including commuting by our employees 
who have no company car and consumption by 
third parties from which we obtain services (such 
as air travel).

Following the GHG, our emissions can be scoped 
accordingly:

Emissions(tCO2e)

Source 2023 2022 2021 2020

Scope 1 5,283 4,974 4,753 5,280

Scope 2 2,807 1,581 1,493 1,120

Scope 3 22,390 9,482 4,233 3,900

Total 30,480 16,037 10,479 10,300

To drive down our own emissions, we have drafted a 
Carbon Reduction Plan outlining our actions to achieve 
net zero emissions. In coordination with all the offices 
in every region, we identified four main reduction 
measures that will be taken in the upcoming years:

• Electrification of the lease vehicle fleet

• Switching to green electricity to power our offices

• Reduced gas consumption through energy 
efficiency investments

• Behavioural change to reduce the need for air 
travel or use other forms of mobility.

Our aim is to realise all measures for all offices 
around the world. Nonetheless, we acknowledge 
that the context of every region is different and not 
every measure can be fully implemented in each 
region. The switch to green electricity is, for example, 
largely dependent on the availability of renewable 
energy and the charging infrastructure for electric 
vehicles is still in development in many countries.

Given the nature of our own operations, a complete 
reduction of CO2 emissions is impossible. Since our 
specialists work at local and international companies, 
where often they need to be physically present, 

ESG Themes

We recognise the following ESG themes based on 
our double materiality assessment and keep 
improving on ESG performance by tracking its 
related metrics.  

Key themes Metrics and topics Reference

Environmental Exposure to traditional (oil & gas) energy 
clients

Contribution to the energy transition 
through clients

GHG emissions and energy consumption

Carbon footprint Page 49

Percentage of electric cars in fleet Page 49

Electricity use from renewable sources (%) or 
renewable electricity production (MWh)

Page 49

Energy consumption (MWh) Page 49

EU taxonomy regulation Page 51

Social Employee safety & security 

Diversity, inclusion & belonging

Talent attraction, development & career 
opportunities

Labour conditions and human rights in the 
value chain (incl. candidates) 

Leadership development Page 37

Absenteeism Page 53

(near miss) incidents Page 53

NPS/employee satisfaction Page 38

Retention rate Page 13

Employee engagement Page 37

Governance Data privacy & cybersecurity

Ethical business and compliance

ESG policy Page 44

Anti-corruption/Bribery Page 70

Whistle-blowing Page 70

Code of Conduct Page 54

Health & Safety Page 53

Data protection & privacy Page 56

ESG criteria included in remuneration Page 110

Business Ethics – Respecting human rights Page 54

Business Ethics – Tax strategy and governance Page 56

Business Ethics – Local employment Page 56

Reduce exposure to the conventional energy 
industry 

Page 24

Sustainability as part of strategy – Brunel 
Foundation

Page 46
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business travel is responsible for a significant share 
of total emissions. To compensate for unavoidable 
emissions, we have developed an offsetting 
approach, through compensation projects. With the 

increase of business, also our CO2 emissions have 
increased. The offset for 2023 was 18.296 tCOs. 
We are currently  re-aligning our offsetting strategy 
with our anticipated growth.

Environmental metric  |  EU taxonomy regulation   

The EU Taxonomy establishes an EU-wide 
classification framework intended to provide 
businesses and investors with a common language 
to identify and report on to what degree economic 
activities can be considered environmentally 
sustainable through the creation of activity specific 
sustainability criteria.

Under the requirements of the EU Taxonomy, 
companies currently in scope of Directive 2014/95/
EU on the disclosure of non-financial information, 
which has been implemented into Dutch law through 
the Decree disclosure on nonfinancial information 
(‘Besluit bekendmaking niet-financiële informatie’), 
need to disclose the proportion of their activities 
that are taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-aligned in 
terms of their turnover, Capital Expenditures 
(CAPEX) and Operating Expenses (OPEX) including 
certain qualitative information.

We have assessed the extent of eligibility as well as 
the alignment of our economic activities with the six 
environmental objectives: Climate change 
mitigation, Climate change adaptation, water and 
marine resources, circular economy, pollution, 
biodiversity and ecosystems as defined by Article 9 
of the Taxonomy Regulation.

Our assessment on the eligibility and alignment of 
our business activities with the Taxonomy is made 
based on EU Delegated Acts. For the assessment of 
eligibility, we consider the NACE macro sectors and 
activities listed in the Annexes for all the above-
mentioned objectives, as published by the EU. 

 Our revenue-generating activities still do not fall 
under any of the activities described in those 

Annexes as they mostly apply to specific sectors 
with high CO2 emissions. Consequently, the 
proportion of our current revenue that can be 
considered as Taxonomy eligible and Taxonomy-
aligned is 0%. The applied denominator for EU 
Taxonomy turnover is defined as Revenue as 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. 

For the CAPEX and OPEX KPIs, our efforts to make 
our offices and facilities more sustainable through 
activities such as the implementation of energy 
management systems and energy efficient lighting, 
can be considered as eligible activities.

Based on our assessment we identified 18 % (2022: 
0% eligible and aligned) of CAPEX under the 
economic activity of renovation of existing buildings 
to be eligible but not aligned, and for OPEX, 0.02% 
(2022: 0% eligible and aligned) under the economic 
activity of operation of personal mobility devices, 
cycle logistic is eligible and aligned with the criteria 
of substantial contribution to climate change 
mitigation of the climate change mitigation 
objective. 
 
For assessing the extent of alignment, we reviewed 
the criteria in article 3 of the Regulation (EU) 
2022/852 and the associated technical screening 
criteria included in the Delegated Acts. We identified 
the portion of our eligible activities that meet all 
technical criteria and can thus be considered as 
Taxonomy-aligned activities. Such activities are 
included as part of the numerators of the respective 
KPIs. We ensured that expenditures are not double 
counted and are only allocated once to each of the 
KPIs. 

“We leverage the 
latest 
technological 
advancements to 
enhance the 
experiences of our 
clients and 

specialists, and improve efficiency 
and engagement. We are confident 
that the coming year will bring even 
more opportunities to implement 
innovative solutions and further 
accelerate our progress.”

Alexander van Dijk
Global Head of Digital
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Health & safety performance 2023: 

1. Number and types of injuries

All entities 
consolidated

Fatalities Lost Time Injuries Medical Treatment 
Injuries

Alternate Duties 
Injuries

Total Recordable 
Injuries

2023 0 15 3 0 18

2022 0 7 17 0 28

We utilise the injuries and incident classifications 
which are commonly used throughout the world. 
In the event that Brunel is to report directly to a HSE 
Regulator or client then Brunel.

2. Number and types of incidents

All entities 
consolidated

First Aid Injuries Restricted Work 
Injuries

Near Miss 
Incident

Equipment 
Incident

Environmental 
Incidents

Total 

2023 42 8 8 5 0 63

2022 47 22 3 7 0 79

3. Absenteeism rate for directs and indirects the 
Netherlands and Germany

Considering the different stakeholder requirements, 
companies’ activities and safety related policies, the 

health and safety implementation in entities of 
Brunel Netherlands and Brunel Germany is relatively 
comparable. Therefore, we disclose the absenteeism 
(i.e.illness) rates of these entities. 

Netherlands Directs Netherlands Indirects Germany Directs Germany Indirects

2023 4.33% 3.84% 4.87% 3.22%

2022  4.93%  4.02% 5.52 % 4.11%

The denominator for the CAPEX KPI includes 
additions in Intangible assets, Property, plant & 
equipment (PP&E), and Lease assets, including 
reassessment. The denominator for the OPEX KPI is 
determined based the EU Taxonomy definition which 
covers direct non-capitalized costs that relate to 
operation of personal mobility devices, cycle 
logistics and any other direct expenditures relating 
to the day-to-day servicing of assets or property, 
plant and equipment. This differs from the total of 
operating expenses in our financial statements.

Our assessment is based on our interpretations of 

how the regulation applies to our business activities 
and the impact thereof on eligibility and alignment. 
We will continue to assess our eligibility and the 
extent of EU Taxonomy alignment in 2024. Future 
guidance could result in more accurate definitions 
and altered decision-making in meeting reporting 
obligations that may come into force, which could 
impact future EU Taxonomy reporting.

For the completed templates as provided by the EU 
Taxonomy Navigator can be found on pages 208-
210, is considered part of our Report from the Board 
of Directors. 

Governance metric  |  Health & safety 

In 2023, we have built upon our 2022 pandemic 
experiences to prioritise the safety and well-being of 
our team, clients, and candidates. We have 
maintained strong HSE standards, adapting them to 
specific country, sector, and job requirements. 

Our updated Well-being, Health & Safety Strategy 
continues our mission to support well-being, health, 
and safety. In 2023, we’re focused on global 
process improvements.

We continue to support remote work while 
emphasizing client and candidate interactions, 
providing HSE training and office equipment for a 
healthy work environment, whether on-site or 
remote.
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In this year’s annual report, we report on the human 
rights most applicable to Brunel throughout this report:

 

Human rights topics Brunel’s policies

Freedom of association and right to 
collective bargaining 

Brunel respects workers’ rights to join unions and complies with legal requirements in 
each country. Brunel’s operations vary in size, culture and industry. We have experienced 
different types of labour or industry union relationships. This means in some countries or 
industries, unions are more active than others. Therefore, we do not have a group policy 
but rather a general positive attitude towards trade union relationships. 

To enhance working relationships and reduce conflicts, we honour employees’ collective 
bargaining rights and promote regular communication. For instance, in Germany, we 
have a trade union agreement in line with the Equal Pay Act.

In Australia, our local entity has established enterprise agreements under the Fair Work 
Act, covering aspects like salaries, employment conditions, consultation procedures, 
dispute resolution, and authorised wage deductions. Agreement implementation is part 
of project-specific HR management plans.

Forced labour / modern slavery (including 
bonded labour) 

We strictly adhere to labour standards and prohibit forced labour, child labour, modern 
slavery, or any labour that violates ILO conventions. Our code of conduct emphasises 
this commitment, and we are continuously improving our efforts to prevent forced 
labour.

The elimination of discrimination in respect 
of employment and occupation

At Brunel, we have a strict zero-tolerance policy for improper conduct such as 
discrimination, harassment, and workplace bullying. We actively monitor compliance 
with non-discrimination regulations and have found no instances of noncompliance. All 
employees are expected to adhere to our policies on equal opportunity, anti-
discrimination, and the prevention of bullying and harassment. Our core value of 
“passion for people” underscores our commitment to promoting equality and justice 
throughout our organisation.

Effective abolition of child labour We are committed to endorsing the ILO principle of effectively abolishing child labour, 
which entails ensuring that every child has the opportunity for full physical and mental 
development.

In Australia, our local entity has established enterprise agreements with various 
industries and workers’ unions under the Fair Work Act framework. These agreements 
cover aspects such as salary rates, employment conditions, consultation processes, 
dispute resolution procedures, and authorised wage deductions, all of which are part of 
project-specific HR management plans.

Given Brunel’s core focus on technical graduates and experienced professionals, the risk 
of violating the principle of child labour within our business is extremely minimal. Our 
dedication to ethical practices remains steadfast.

Just work: living wage and social security As an employer, Brunel provides comprehensive employment benefits, including medical 
insurance, paid sick leave, annual leave, and end-of-service benefits as mandated by 
local laws. Additional benefits, such as life insurance and accidental death and 
dismemberment insurance, are provided based on specific assignments. We also offer 
extra benefits, like return tickets to employees’ home countries, particularly for 
expatriates in the Middle East.

Our business model focuses on highly educated and skilled professionals, allowing us to 
offer competitive salaries in all countries where we operate, including India, Africa, and 
Asia. This ensures a high standard of living for our employees.

Health and safety, security issues and 
conflict zones

Security concerns and conflict zones continue to be prominent in specific regions, 
notably Africa and Asia, where high-risk areas are prevalent and conflicts occur 
frequently. Brunel has established comprehensive policies and procedures designed to 
ensure the safety and security of our employees operating in these high-risk regions.

Governance metric  |  Business Ethics – Respecting human rights

At Brunel, one of our core values is “passion for 
people,” which underscores our commitment to 
respecting the human rights of all stakeholders 
throughout our value chain. We are dedicated to 
actively assessing potential human rights impacts 
and taking proactive measures to ensure that our 
influence on people’s lives remains consistently 
positive.

As a collective group, we uphold the principles of the 
International Labour Organisation (ILO), 
recognising the significance of all fundamental 
human rights identified by ILO conventions. Brunel 
fully endorses these conventions, which encompass 
essential aspects of workers’ and individuals’ rights. 

These fundamental human rights are deeply 
embedded in Brunel’s organisational culture. 
Instead of treating human rights as a standalone 
issue, we seamlessly integrate them into various 
Brunel policies, including our code of conduct, equal 
opportunity policy, HSE policy, fitness for work 
policy, and privacy policy. These policies are 
accessible on our intranet, in our employee 
handbook and corporate website 
https://brunelinternational.net/corporate-
governance/policies-and-procedures/default.aspx .

We remain committed to upholding and promoting 
these fundamental principles and rights, reflecting 
our dedication to ethical and responsible business 
practices in alignment with the latest amendments 
made by the ILO in 2022.
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Governance metric  |  Business Ethics – Data protection and privacy

Privacy is a fundamental human right we respect. 
It is also an essential cultural element for Brunel to 
be a reliable business partner and earn the 
confidence of our people. Data is very relevant to 
Brunel’s core business especially in the global 
trends of digital transformation and data-driven 
innovation.

Brunel commits to the GDPR standard as our 
guiding principles of data protection. Brunel has 
used the implementation of GDPR to strengthen our 
culture of privacy, for example, implementing 
policies and procedures to reduce human errors, 
actively monitoring data centre environment and 
maintaining it up-to-date. Moreover, we continue to 
raise the awareness of privacy risks among our 
employees when handling personal data in different 

business processes (“IT and digital related risks” 
page 69). In 2023, we have reported zero data 
breaches.

ISO 27001 certification: Data Privacy & 
Cybersecurity

Brunel has a robust data privacy and cybersecurity 
framework in place, as evidenced by our ISO 27001 
certification. This certification demonstrates our 
commitment to protecting sensitive information and 
ensuring the privacy and security of our 
stakeholders. Our certification has recently been 
renewed and will remain in effect until 2025, 
underscoring our ongoing commitment to best 
practices in data protection.

Governance metric  |  Business Ethics – Local employment 

In some of our operating markets, there has been a 
focus on attracting existing local expertise and, 
where necessary, bringing in international specialists 
to train and develop the local talents of the future. 

Our operations in Kazakhstan, Papua New Guinea, 
Brazil and Thailand are good examples of maximising 
local employment opportunities to build local 
economic growth. 

Governance metric  |  Business Ethics – Tax governance and strategy 

At Brunel, we believe in maintaining a transparent 
and ethical tax policy as a fundamental aspect of 
doing business. Our tax strategy supports our 
overall business strategy of delivering stakeholder 
satisfaction and achieving sustainable growth. 
Alignment with Brunel’s core value of integrity, 
which means adhering to both the letter and the 
spirit of external requirements from regulators and 
the law is monitored. We strive to demonstrate this 
level of corporate integrity in all of our actions and 
interactions with stakeholders, including customers, 
suppliers, employees, shareholders, regulators, and 
society. Our tax approach also takes into account 
our sustainability strategy, recognising that the 

taxes we pay are a vital financial resource in 
achieving our sustainability agenda, which is 
updated in accordance with the framework of the 
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN 
SDGs).

In the regular risk appetite discussions with both the 
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, 
global tax risk exposure and mitigating actions are 
also discussed, in conjunction with the reported 
compliance risks. Our tax strategy has been 
discussed and approved by the Board of Directors 
and reviewed by the Supervisory Board.

“Energy transition 
projects reflect our 

role in helping deliver 
key infrastructure to 

achieve a lower-
carbon future. We 
are deploying our 
multi-disciplinary engineering and 

execution capabilities with over 25 
years of experience in offshore 

pipelines and infrastructure, now 
supporting CC(U)S projects”

Jeroen van Drunen
Managing Director Europe & Africa and 

Global Sponsor Conventional Energy
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In line with our business operations, Brunel has a 
transparent tax structure and does not utilize tax 
havens (as defined by the European Commission’s 
‘blacklist’) for tax avoidance purposes. Complying 
with tax laws and paying our fair share of taxes is an 
essential component of our corporate social 
responsibility as it contributes to fostering economic 
growth in the countries in which we operate, 
particularly in developing countries. In addition to 
paying a substantial amount of corporate income 
tax, we also pay significant amounts in taxes such as 
wage taxes, withholding taxes, and value-added 
taxes. Given the nature of our business, wage tax is 
a significant area for us in terms of both compliance 
and the amount paid.

As tax compliance is a crucial aspect of our service 
delivery, it is our policy to effectively manage 
associated risks and comply with all applicable tax 
laws, rules, and regulations. Transactions conducted 
between group companies located in different 
countries adhere to the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (OECD) Guidelines 
for Multinational Enterprises and other relevant 
transfer pricing regulations. Our aim is to comply 
fully with both the letter and the spirit of the law.

To that end, we employ qualified and experienced 
tax professionals, implement appropriate tax 
policies and procedures, regularly assess tax risks 
as part of our risk assessment process, and apply 
tax risk management using the same policies, 
procedures, and controls that govern financial 
reporting risk management. We also engage 
reputable tax advisors at both the local and group 
level to provide advisory and compliance services. 
We strive to establish open and transparent 
relationships with tax authorities in all countries in 
which we operate to provide certainty with respect 
to tax matters and ensure compliance with 
regulations. Brunel and a tax authority may enter 
into consultation with each other on tax-related 
issues and subsequently conclude tax agreements. 
Such agreements create advanced certainty for 
Brunel and tax transparency towards the relevant 

tax authorities, in line with our tax policy, which 
requires us to act in line with the letter and spirit of 
the law.  In the Netherlands, Brunel engages the 
Dutch tax authorities through regular meetings, 
calls, and correspondence, including discussing 
the potential tax impacts of future events such as 
business restructuring in advance. This 
constructive cooperation and real-time working 
approach results in transparency and faster and 
greater clarity on Brunel’s positions. To ensure 
consistency, our CFO monitors all significant 
dealings with tax authorities.

We comply with the OECD BEPS (Base Erosion and 
Profit Shifting) requirements, including preparing 
master filers and country-by-country reporting. We 
recognise that external country-by-country 
reporting and local transfer pricing files provide 
greater insight into our local tax contributions. The 
disclosures in our Annual accounts regarding our 
corporate income tax rate and the actual corporate 
income tax paid reflect our tax policy execution.

Brunel published its tax strategy policy on 
www.brunelinternational.net. 

Governance metric  |  Business Ethics - Ensuring ethical standards and    
         professional integrity
 
Regular promoting ethical standards

Brunel conducts annual global employee surveys 
through the Meyer Monitor to assess motivation, 
strategy, diversity, inclusion, and business ethics as 
part of our commitment to  regularly promoting 
ethical standards and accountability

Comment to professional integrity

At Brunel, we prioritise upholding professional 
integrity and ensuring compliance with ethical 
standards through our Compliance Policy and 
Speak-Up Line. These measures ensure that our 
employees are equipped to address any concerns 
they may have and maintain a culture of 
transparency and accountability.  Our commitment 
to ethical behaviour is continually updated with the 
latest standards to ensure that we remain a 
responsible and trustworthy organisation. Any 
Speak-Up Line reports are taken seriously and 
discussed with the global board, with actions taken 
with respect and integrity.
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Risks, risk management and control systems

Strategic approach to risk management

The Board of Directors supervises risk management 
for Brunel’s strategy and operations. Brunel entities 
identify and manage risks with support from 
regional financial control and the CFC department, 
following a global and regional steering model. The 
board regularly reviews the risk framework, 
assesses top risks, and communicates and 
implements actions throughout the organisation.

Brunel regards risk management as a value-creating 
activity, emphasising long-term sustainable 
management. The board places importance on 
controlling strategic, operational, compliance, 
commercial, and financial risks to achieve goals and 
ensure business continuity. Risk appetite is 
reevaluated annually to align with the evolving strategy.

Specifically, Brunel reinforces its management of 
fraud risks, given the increase in online business and 
data breaches. Measures include incident reporting, 

IT security, and raising employee awareness. 
Internal fraud risks are addressed in meetings of 
financial controllers.

The board holds annual discussions on risk management 
with the audit committee, Supervisory Board, and 
external auditor. In this reporting cycle, no material 
risks or uncertainties affecting Brunel’s continuity 
for the next twelve months have been identified.

Align risk appetite and strategy

The Board of Directors defines the risk appetite of 
Brunel, i.e. the level of risk that Brunel is willing to 
take in order to achieve its objectives, and sets the 
risk appetite by our strategy, code of conduct, 
company values, authority schedules and policies. 
The following risk categories fully align with Brunel’s 
strategy, purpose, vision and core values.  

Risk category Risk description Risk appetite 

Strategic risks (S) Risks which affect or are created by Brunel’s business strategy 
and could affect Brunel’s long-term positioning and performance

Low - moderate

Operational risks (O) Risks which affect Brunel’s ability to execute its strategic plan Low - moderate

Compliance risks (C) Risks of non-compliance with laws, regulations, local standards, 
Brunel’s code of conduct

Zero tolerance

Financial and reporting risks (F) Risks include areas such as financial reporting, valuation, 
currency, liquidity and impairment risks

Low

Tying risk management to strategy 
and performance 

Brunel has embraced COSO ERM’s updated 
guidance, “Integrating Strategy and Performance,” 
to seamlessly infuse risk management into our 

everyday business operations, aligning with our 
purpose, vision, and core values. In the previous 
reporting cycle, we applied this framework to 

enhance our practices across five critical areas: 
governance and culture, strategy and goal setting, 
performance, review and revision, and information 
communication and reporting.

1. Governance and culture 

Effective governance and culture are essential for 
effective enterprise risk management. As a 
company listed on the Amsterdam Stock Exchange, 
Brunel adheres to the guidelines of Dutch law and 
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code for good 
corporate governance. Our risk management is 
integrated into our governance structure, resulting 
in a widely accepted code of conduct, a 
whistleblower procedure, compliance training for 
new employees, refresher courses for existing 
employees and on-the-job training programmes.

We assess the effectiveness and compliance with 
the code of conduct through:

• Periodic activities conducted within the internal 
control framework

• Reports received through the whistleblowing 
process

• Checks included in standard operating 
procedures, such as the contracting procedure

Results of these activities are reported to the Board 
of Directors, with any violations communicated to 
relevant corporate departments for appropriate 
action in line with policies. The Board of Directors, 
equipped with the necessary skills, experience, and 
business acumen, bears accountability and 
responsibility for risk oversight. Periodically, they visit 
our operating companies, sometimes accompanied 
by a controller from CFC, to facilitate complex 
decision-making, oversee financial progress, and 
monitor the realization of business objectives.

2. Strategy and objective setting 

The Board of Directors plays a crucial role in 
ensuring that Brunel’s risk management framework, 
strategy, and objective-setting are integrated 
seamlessly into the strategic planning process. 
During the strategy execution phase, the updated 
risk appetite statement serves as the foundation for 
identifying, evaluating, and responding to risks.

3. Performance 

We identify internal and external factors that may 
affect strategy execution, discussing key risks and risk 
assessments with our global leadership team, 
controllers, and management. We use this information 
to manage risks in alignment with our risk appetite.

4. Review and revision 

The review and revision component of our risk 
management process focuses on monitoring 
performance. By effectively monitoring risk 
management, we gain insight into the relationship 
between risk and performance. All Brunel entities 
are required to comply with general policies, rules, 
and procedures designed to control risks. 

5. Information, communication and reporting

Communicating our internal risk management and 
control systems throughout the organisation is an 
ongoing process. Effective communication also 
occurs at all levels of the organisation, both upward 
and downward as well as laterally. Each year, 
Brunel’s financial community holds an international 
meeting, attended by the CFO, CFC department, 
and all regional financial controllers, to discuss best 
practices and the latest developments in financial 
management and internal controls, and to 
implement action plans throughout the group. 

The established policies, procedures, control, and 
monitoring activities include, but are not limited to 
the following:
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Risk category Key risks Monitor and control

Strategic risk • Unfavourable macro-economic conditions 
/geopolitical situation

• Competition

• Dependency on key clients

• Strategy updates

• Annual business reviews

Operational risk • Human capital risk

• IT and digital risks

• Productivity

• Uniform IT systems

• Contracting procedures

• Weekly KPI reporting

• Monthly management reporting

• Quarterly business reviews

• Site visits

• Insurances

Compliance risk • Compliance

• Contract negotiations and management

• Tax

• Reporting and disclosures

• Legal counselling

• Anti-bribery and corruption policy and 
training

• Contract approval policy and procedure

• Internal control via business control

Financial and reporting risks • Financial reporting

• Financial risks 

• Uniform IT systems

• Accounting and control manual

• Internal control via business control

• CFC department

• Monthly reporting

• Quarterly reviews

• Treasury

• Audit

Fraud risks • Internal fraud risks

• External fraud risks 

• Internal control

• Awareness

Top risks and risk trends 

To maintain effective control of our current 
environment, Brunel evaluates residual risk, which 
signifies the remaining risk level after implementing 
existing risk response plans. Residual risk’s 
consequences may encompass significant direct or 
indirect adverse effects on Brunel’s business, 
operations, volumes, financial condition, 
performance, reputation, and other interests. In our 
report on page 63, we highlight and elaborate on our 

most prominent company-specific risks and the 
evolving trends in residual risk, assuming full 
implementation of our risk response plans. These 
risks and response plans are not exhaustive and may 
require adjustment from time to time.

Strategic risks Operational risks

Compliance risks Financial risks

Competition

Compliance

Productivity

Financial 
reporting

Contract  
negotiation and 
-management

Macroeconomics

IT and digital 
risks

Dependence on 
key clients

Human 
capital 

risks

Financial 
risks

Tax

Increased

Decreased

No change

High likelihood 
and impact

Medium likelihood 
and impact

Low likelihood 
and impact
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Strategic risks monitoring and control 

Our operations may be negatively impacted by 
adverse macro-economic conditions and global 
geopolitical situations in our main markets. 
Competition and our reliance on key clients and 
cyclical industries can affect profitability and market 
share. We consider these risks when developing and 
executing our business strategies. We regularly 
update and review our strategies for each operating 
unit to ensure alignment with our plan and establish 
financial and operational reporting procedures.

Strategy updates: 
In our Capital Markets Day by the end of 2023, we 
communicated the progress of our global strategy 
execution, “Strategy 2025: Momentum — post-
Covid profitable growth acceleration.” This update 
reintroduced our strategic pillars and key enablers 
for accelerated growth. The Board of Directors also 

re-evaluated the operating environment, reassessed 
key risks impacting the strategy, adjusted risk 
appetite, and implemented risk mitigation 
measures.

Annual business reviews:
During the budget cycle, we conduct annual reviews 
of all businesses with support from the CFC 
department. Entities prepare their budgets, and the 
Board of Directors discusses business strategy, 
budget planning, and opportunities and threats with 
local management to achieve the budget. Approved 
budgets form the basis for setting local 
management targets. We maintain a list of key 
performance indicators relevant to successful 
strategy execution.

1. Unfavourable macro-economic conditions / geopolitical   
      situation

Risk description 

Unfavourable macro-economic conditions and geopolitical 
instability can negatively impact Brunel’s growth and margins. 
These conditions may lead to lost sales, increased costs, 
employee safety concerns, and compliance risks. 

Key aspects

• Dependency on countries – Brunel’s performance relies on 
the economic and geopolitical conditions in its operational 
countries

• Multiple major economies face the possibility of recession

• Inflation and political tensions: Higher inflation and slower 
growth can disrupt policymaking and escalate political 
tensions

• ESG expectations: Investors and stakeholders demand 
increased commitment to ESG principles, even amidst 
energy challenges. In mining, there’s a focus on metals vital 
for the green transition.

• Temporary downturn in the offshore wind sector

• Climate change and energy transition

Key mitigating measures 

• Diversification and capabilities building  

Brunel expands its service offerings by diversifying into new 
sectors, acquiring clients from emerging verticals, and 
expanding operations into promising business regions. Our 
robust portfolio now includes a range of solutions such as 
project and consulting services, workforce solutions, and 
global mobility solutions

• Maintain flexibility in cost structure globally

To mitigate the potential negative impact of adverse economic 
conditions, Brunel carefully controls the ratio of contractors to 
permanent employees within our secondment business, 
ensuring the optimal mix. Additionally, all newcomers to 
Brunel, whether internal or external hires, initially receive 
temporary contracts, with the possibility of transitioning to 
longer-term contracts based on their performance.

• Enhancing Timely Client Payments

All regions are actively initiating and implementing 
programmes to ensure timely payment from clients.

Change in risk  ↑

Overall, despite the diminishing economic impact of Covid-19, 
the ongoing geopolitical conflict, supply chain disruption and 
high inflation continues to hinder complete global economic 
recovery, affecting growth in various industries.

Link to strategy

• Capabilities

• Diversification

2. Competition 

Risk description

Actions by both existing international and local competitors, as 
well as emerging competitors, have the potential to undermine 
Brunel’s competitive advantages and adversely impact its 
financial performance. 

Key aspects

• Margin pressure – intense competition puts pressure on our 
margins

• Service delivery – competition will try to match and beat our 
service quality

• Reputation – reputational damage for Brunel will drive our 
clients towards our competitors

• Disruptive technologies/business models – increasing use of 
social media for recruitment and a trend towards outsourced 
recruitment models, with associated margin pressures, can 
also adversely impact

Key mitigating measures

• Identify Differentiators: Our sales teams acknowledge peer 
margin pressures. To mitigate competition, regions 
implement strategies like core discipline focus, niche 
identification, upselling to existing clients, and unique 
product development. Brunel enhances global talent 
sourcing and recruitment efficiency, fostering a specialist 
community that distinguishes us from peers.

• Improve Commercial Management: Our regional commercial 
teams serve as primary contacts for tenders in their 
respective regions. We have enhanced contract approvals, 
risk analysis, and intercompany procedures, now fully 
operational.

• Margin Analysis: We employ margin analysis as a decision-
making tool at both project and sales team levels to optimise 
our profit potential.

Change in risk  -

Our global connectivity and innovative solutions continues to 
distinguish us from competitors.

Link to strategic pillars

• Capabilities

• Diversification
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“ We are 
consolidating our 

position as the 
world’s leading 

renewables 
recruitment and 

global mobility 
experts. Our focus is on greater 

growth and deeper specialism, further 
collaboration with Brunel colleagues 

across the regions, plus expansion of 
our Business Intelligence offering to 

our global client base”

Fiona McRae
General Manager Taylor Hopkinson

Operational risks monitoring and control 

Our ability to attract and retain qualified employees 
is critical to our success. Inability to do so could 
harm our business and inhibit our ability to operate 
and achieve growth. Improving productivity is also 
crucial and any failure to do so could have an 
adverse effect on our results of operations. 
Information technology systems are an essential 
component of our operations and any cyberattacks, 
systems failures, or other disruptions affecting 
these systems could have a negative impact on our 
business. The Board of Directors meets with the 
management team of each operating unit on a 
monthly basis to discuss performance. The agenda 
includes financial and operational performance, 
forecasts, risk management, and progress made in 
achieving strategic goals. Monitoring and controlling 
operational risk factors is integrated into the 
monthly control cycle.

Reporting: We use various tools to assess our 
growth, productivity, profitability, working capital 
and cash flow as part of our planning and control 
cycle. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are used 
to measure and monitor performance against 
budgets, forecasts, the previous year, and our 
strategic goals. We have various reports in place to 
maintain full insight into performance and strategy 
execution.

Uniform IT systems: Brunel has established a 
centralised IT infrastructure and unified applications 
for key business processes worldwide. This global 
setup ensures that all commercial and compliance 
information is stored and accessible in a secured 
Cloud environment. Key business processes are 
connected through customised system interfaces, 
enabling us to replace manual controls with 
automated controls. The IT organisation also 
emphasises the segregation of duties across all IT 
functions, further enhancing Brunel’s internal 
control system when managing third-party related 
potential financial risks. Our IT infrastructure is 
regularly reviewed to ensure it has the capacity to 

cope with a major data or system loss or security 
breach. We continue to invest in software and 
penetration testing to mitigate these risks. As part 
of the annual audit of the financial statements, we 
request our external independent auditor to perform 
audit procedures over cyber and IT security.

Contracting procedures: In each region, the 
appointed risk manager monitors regional and local 
contracting procedures. The risk managers, who 
usually have rich experience in contracting, client 
requirements, and compliance with tax and other 
legislation, review all agreements or binding 
offerings to determine the risk factor. The risk 
depends on a number of factors such as margin, 
location, services, and insurance requirements. 
Every high-risk contract is reviewed by the global 
commercial team (which includes corporate legal) 
and must be approved by the global commercial 
director. The global commercial director reports to 
the Board of Directors on significant and high-risk 
contracts at least on a monthly basis. The global 
commercial team meets annually to share 
knowledge with each other and discuss commercial-
related topics.

Insurances: Brunel has an insurance manual in 
place, including insurance policies in the fields of 
employment relationships, liabilities, and business 
continuity. We regularly review insurable risks and 
our insurance policy coverage.
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5. IT and digital risks  

Risk description

Information technology risks, including cyber-attacks, fraud, 
data breaches, and privacy issues, are increasing and can 
severely impact our reputation, finances, and operations. 
These risks also pertain to challenges in digital transformation.  

Key aspects

• Cybersecurity and security risks

• Privacy and data protection, including the risk of data 
breaches and mishandling of personal data

• Operational risks stemming from inadequate controls in 
operating procedures

• Technology-related risks, such as scalability, compatibility, 
and the accuracy of implemented technology

• Resilience, involving the risk of operational disruption or 
service unavailability due to high reliance on tightly integrated 
technology

Key mitigating measures

 Recruiting CRM platform: 

• Efficiency advantages of the Microsoft Power Platforms  and 
AI capabilities

• Centralisation of data and improvement of collaboration

• Strengthens and automates processes and provides 
actionable business insights

• Scalability and accessibility from anywhere

 Global IT & Digital platform:

• Fully cloud based, Microsoft technology with best in class 
 add on applications for the recruitment

• Enables collaboration across the globe

• State of the art recruitment technology provided by Mercury

• Marketing Automation by CM.com

• (Robot) Process Automation by Power Automate and UI path

• Realtime reporting and data analyses by Microsoft Power BI

• Security features of the Microsoft cloud, with implemented 
products like Microsoft Defender, Sentinel

• Data governance via Microsoft Purview

Change in risk -

We have maintained our enhanced security measures and IT 
operating environment. EY performed procedures to obtain an 
understanding of cyber risks related to the financial audit, 
which included penetration testing.

Link to strategic pillars

Scalable global IT platform and digital tools

6. Productivity

Risk description

This is particularly relevant to our secondment business in 
Europe, where employment contracts are established through 
client agreements. The premature termination of deployed 
employees can lead to productivity loss. To address this 
promptly, we track daily productivity and provide weekly 
reports. Additionally, we monitor the following factors:

• Bench strength

• Absenteeism due to illness

Key mitigating measures

Managing bench - Bench management is a significant risk in 
our European operations. We have implemented proactive 
programmes to prevent bench situations and substantially 
reduce associated risks.

Well-being strategy – In addition, we have launched employee 
well-being initiatives to support mental and physical health, 
family life, work-related challenges, and financial matters.

Education - We will educate and train our consultants to log all 
their training activities, which include peer-to-peer training, 
online courses, and traditional classroom training.

Change in risk -

Our European entities have been actively working to reduce 
bench. Nevertheless, we have observed a rise in overall 
productivity losses related to personal and family health issues 
compared to the pre-Covid-19 period. We are currently 
formulating plans to enhance employee well-being by 
implementing measures to reduce, prevent, or manage health 
conditions that may impact worker productivity.

Link to strategic pillars

• Scalable global IT platform and digital tools

• Specialisation 

• Disciplined execution

3. Dependency on key clients

Risk description 

Our growth prospects are significantly reliant on key clients 
and their ongoing commitment to doing business with Brunel.

Key aspects

• Client Dependency: Given our reliance on a few major clients, 
the loss of one of these key accounts could have a 
detrimental impact on our business.

• Complacency: Historically, a significant portion of our 
business has been provided by our major accounts, fostering 
a complacent culture. This may further intensify our 
dependence on key accounts.

Key mitigating measures

• Strategic Global Accounts: We continuously improve our 
ability to deliver value-added services to enhance customer 
loyalty through proactivity and project guidance. We have 
selected Strategic Global Accounts across industries to 
provide high-margin services, leveraging Brunel’s global 
connectivity. Each of these accounts has dedicated 
resources for effective management.

• Diversification: Our global verticals are Conventional Energy, 
Renewables, Mining, and Life Sciences. We have a regional 
P&L leadership structure with dedicated leaders and teams. 
We use shadow KPIs and P&L for performance monitoring. 
Our success is based on knowledge leadership through 
marketing and upskilling, data-driven client selection and 
development, and tailored vertical solutions.

• Increase Brand Awareness: To attract new clients in new 
verticals, we’re enhancing Brunel’s brand awareness by 
conducting research and running targeted online social 
media campaigns for selected sectors and regions.

Change in risk  -

We have seen a decrease in our diversification and sales 
enablement strategy paying off during the economic 
downturn, but the revenue distribution across clients remained 
pretty much the same. We must continue to enhance the 
organisation’s strategy execution capabilities.

Link to strategy

• Diversification 

• Strong brand

• Entrepreneurial culture 

• Globally connected, locally executed

4. Human capital risk

Risk description 

The main risk is our inability to create successors for key 
management personnel due to insufficient succession 
planning, a small top management team, and a scarcity of 
qualified managers internally. The shortage of qualified internal 
staff could limit further growth. This risk category also includes 
factors like employee engagement, talent development, skills 
availability, and turnover.

Key aspects

• Retain our key people and develop leadership

• Talent and succession planning

• Skill availability and competence in house 

• Internal communication

• Health and safety of our employees

• Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging (DIB)

Key mitigating measures

• Talent planning and succession planning: Brunel provides a 
bonus plan for all indirect staff, including distinct 
programmes for commercial and non-commercial personnel. 
Key employees benefit from our stock appreciation scheme. 
We have succession plans for key management positions, 
including the top 120 talents. Our ‘talent and succession 
planning approach,’ emphasizing ‘performance’ and 
‘potential,’ enables us to internally promote for the new 
executive team positions.

• Brunel Academy: 
 Mandatory training – setting the foundation for Brunellers
 Functional & Business Expertise – upskilling our People in the 

most demanded competences. 
 Essential competences & Fun – encouraging never –ending 

expansion of skills & knowledge.

• Leadership development: Developing the leadership that 
drives our strategy: Executive leadership; Core leadership; 
Extended leadership; Middle Management leadership.

Change in risk - 

The war for talent continues. Our positive progress in 
implementing Brunel’s global people strategy is helping us to 
keep up.

Link to strategic pillars

• Specialisation

• Brand
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Compliance risks monitoring and control 

Potential changes in employment laws could 
increase compliance costs and risks. Taking on high 
contractual liabilities without a solid delivery process 
can impact our business. Complex tax laws may lead 
to wage errors and higher compliance expenses.

Effective compliance risk management starts with 
top-level management. Our internal control 
framework ensures organisation-wide assurance 
with flexibility for local adaptations.

Brunel’s internal controls are regularly reviewed to 
identify and manage significant risks. They provide 
reasonable assurance, not absolute protection, 
against losses. Tax compliance is integrated to 
prevent unexpected tax charges. We encourage 
standard contracts and review high-risk ones with 
the corporate legal department per our global 
contract approval policy.

Business integrity is a core value at Brunel. Our 
leadership and culture are deeply ingrained with 
these values, demonstrated through leading by 
example. Every new employee undergoes eLearning 
on our business principles and pledges to uphold 
them. To maintain ongoing compliance, we offer 
regular refresher training on our core values, 
business principles, and pertinent compliance 
policies. These policies are integral to both our 
onboarding process and refresher training, 
seamlessly integrated into our internal control 
framework.

•  Anti-bribery and corruption policy and training: In 
order to maintain the highest ethical standards, 
Brunel has implemented an anti-bribery and 
corruption policy and training programme. As a 
global organisation, we operate in countries with 
varying levels of bribery and corruption risk. We 
take a zero tolerance approach and are 
committed to conducting all of our business with 
integrity and professionalism. Brunel is a full 
member of TRACE International and complies 

with all global anti-corruption laws. To address 
specific risks, such as facilitation payments, gifts, 
hospitality, agents, and enhanced commission, 
we conduct due diligence on third parties, 
implement training policies and procedures on 
bribery and corruption. The Board of Directors 
regularly communicates Brunel’s culture of 
integrity to all employees at all levels. Although 
extensive efforts are made to act in compliance 
with relevant (local and international) legislation 
and regulations, notwithstanding all these risk 
mitigants, a complete elimination of compliance 
risks cannot be guaranteed. Any violation of any 
relevant anti-bribery and corruption legislation or 
anti-money laundering legislation could have a 
adverse effect on the Group’s operational 
performance, earnings, cash flows and financial 
condition. We are pleased to report that no 
incidents of bribery or corruption were identified 
in 2023.

•  Raising concerns at work: At Brunel, we 
encourage individuals to raise any concerns or 
suspicions of malpractice at the earliest 
opportunity. Our misconduct reporting system is 
available worldwide and can be accessed 
anonymously, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year in 
multiple languages. We are committed to 
protecting the privacy of all individuals involved in 
the misconduct reporting process and adhere to 
strict privacy policies. In 2023, only one minor 
incident was reported.

7. Compliance

Risk description 

Failure to adhere to laws, regulations, and local standards, 
including tax regulations, can occur due to inadequate 
knowledge of specific jurisdictional provisions or their 
interpretational ambiguity, leading to potential penalties and 
reputational harm. To mitigate financial and reputational risks, 
Brunel ensures compliance with regulations across several key 
areas.

Key aspects

• Tax

• HR

• Legal

• Health and safety

• Anti-bribery and corruption

• Privacy and data protection  

• Financial reporting

Key mitigating measures

• Increase and retain compliance knowledge: Provide regular 
trainings and update sessions to key personnel about 
changes in rules and regulations.

• Increase communication of business integrity: Our 
leadership tone is rooted in our core values, shaping our 
leadership style and defining our organisational culture. We 
have effectively promoted leadership by example, aligning it 
with our core values and business principles. This includes 
conducting annual knowledge-sharing meetings for our 
commercial staff and financial controllers, as well as 
delivering training on corporate policies.

• Using technology to manage compliance: Brunel regularly 
upgrades business systems to standardize sales and finance 
processes. We have Data Protection Officers to oversee 
GDPR compliance and privacy regulations. Our authorization 
matrix and ISMS ensure data security and business 
continuity by proactively managing risks.

Change in risk −

Potential future changes in employment laws and regulations 
may require costly compliance efforts and increase the risk of 
non-compliance. Our mitigation measures are designed to 
address this risk effectively.

Link to strategic pillars

• Our culture

8. Contract negotiations and management

Risk description

The possibility of entering onerous, unenforceable, or unclear 
contract terms can lead to non-compliance and increased 
costs. As we prioritise further growth and expand our client 
base, the risk of encountering such contracts has risen.

Key aspects

• Margin – Onerous or unfavourable contracts may exert 
pressure on margins

• Liabilities – Such contracts may also increase liabilities

• Insufficient client relationship management could reduce 
deal sizes while raising the cost of acquiring new clients”

Key mitigating measures 

• Improving commercial management by setting up regional 
commercial teams as focal points of contact for tenders, 
with improved contract approval procedures, pricing 
escalation procedures, risk analysis and assessment 
processes, and intercompany procedures

Development and promotion of sales transactions under the 
company generated  contract templates.

Material contracts undergo underwriter review for adherence 
to policy terms. Global insurance programme kept abreast of 
business requirements. 

• Increasing awareness by improving awareness of client 
contract creation in sales operations and finance 
departments across different regions and standardising 
contract templates. Management ensures understanding of 
contract risks and their potential impact during contract 
negotiations.

• Managing contract obligations by improving visibility and 
control over fulfilment, expirations, renewals, and key events 
tracking

Change in risk −

By effectively implementing additional initiatives focused on 
communication, procedures, and knowledge sharing within 
our mitigation measures, we can successfully reduce the 
growing risk. As a result, the residual risk remains unchanged.

Link to strategic pillars

• Capability building

• Disciplined execution

• Strong brand
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Financial and reporting risks monitoring and control 

The monitoring of internal risk management and 
control systems is an ongoing process of 
improvement at Brunel. The Board of Directors and 
local managers regularly review these systems 
through frequent communication between the 
Corporate Finance and Control (CFC) department 
and local financial management, as well as through 
weekly operational and monthly financial reports.

The CFC department is composed of controllers 
with backgrounds in auditing, controlling, and 
consulting. The department reports directly to the 
Board of Directors, and its main activities include 
reviewing monthly reports of all entities, monitoring 
tax compliance, and conducting frequent visits to 
operating entities. During these visits, various 
aspects such as the accuracy of monthly reporting 
compliance with policies and procedures and follow-
up on the external independent auditor’s finding 
from previous years are verified. CFC visits all 
operating entities of Brunel at least once every two 
years. Additionally, CFC advises local management 
on how to improve their internal risk management 
and control systems.

Brunel has implemented a comprehensive internal 
control framework, which is led by CFC. This 
framework has been shown to add value by 
identifying opportunities and standardising 
procedures. It also serves as a basis for the internal 
auditor to test the operating effectiveness of 
controls.

The Accounting and Control Manual is designed to 
prescribe accounting policies and reporting 
requirements to ensure accurate, timely, and 
complete reporting in a consistent manner 
throughout the group in accordance with IFRS. CFC 
updates this manual annually. The manual includes 
policies on reporting, valuation principles and 
definitions, 

• internal control activities, 

• authorization rules, 

• tax compliance procedures, 

• contracting procedures, 

• and treasury procedures.

Internal audit: To strengthen the effectiveness of 
Brunel’s internal control system and risk 
management framework, an independent internal 
audit function has been implemented to provide 
objective assurance to the audit committee and 
senior management. This internal audit function 
uses a risk-based approach to assess and make 
recommendations on the effectiveness of existing 
controls.

In 2023, the internal audit function was unable to 
complete all items of the internal audit plan. Going 
forward, additional regional support and selection of 
topics based on the risks and the expectations of 
the Audit Committee, are expected to make the 
performance of the internal audit function more 
efficient.

External audit: The external independent auditor is 
responsible for auditing Brunel’s annual financial 
statements. The independent auditor prepares 
findings in the form of (interim) board reports and 
reports them directly to the audit committee. The 
external independent auditor attends all meetings of 
the audit committee, and is also authorised to 
attend the general meeting of shareholders and 
address any questions raised.

9. Tax

Risk description 

Brunel’s global operations expose us to diverse jurisdictions 
and intricate tax systems. Given the nature of our business, 
taxation constitutes a substantial portion of our expenses. As 
compliance is integral to our services, tax compliance 
represents a significant business risk for Brunel. Depending on 
the jurisdiction, tax regulations and interpretations can evolve, 
potentially leading to additional tax expenses.

Key aspects

• Additional cost 

• Reputation damage

Key mitigating measures

• Formal procedures and monitoring systems around tax 
compliance: Updated procedures are available to all local 
offices. Depending on the tax type, monitoring is conducted 
by the commercial team, payroll team, and regional finance 
departments. The CFC conducts monthly reviews of all tax 
positions and manages tax regulations globally. Any new tax 
matters are promptly reported directly to the CFO.

Engage reputable tax advisors: We have observed shifts in tax 
laws and interpretations, particularly in the developing 
countries where we operate. Local tax authorities have 
adopted a more opportunistic or even aggressive stance, 
resulting in unexpected tax claims, an excessive number of tax 
audits, and a reluctance to settle disputes outside of the 
courtroom. To mitigate these tax risks, we have engaged 
reputable tax advisors to ensure compliance.

• Training: Promote tax compliance training and seminars 
among relevant employees to ensure Brunel’s local 
knowledge remains current.

Change in risk −

Our implemented mitigating measure are able to manage the 
current tax risk.  

Link to strategic pillars 

• Disciplined execution

10. Financial reporting

Risk description  

Financial reporting risk can emerge throughout the 
organisation due to events, conditions, external and internal 
factors, as well as decisions made by individuals within the 
company. It can also stem from inaction.

Key aspects

• People - skills, knowledge and responsibilities  

• Processes and procedures   

• Information systems  

Key mitigating measures

• Training - Provide relevant employees trainings to keep 
Brunel’s local knowledge up-to-date. 

• Continuous improvement - Regional finance teams review 
and improve measures and controls for financial reporting 
risks regularly. Actions include addressing risks such as 
unclear responsibilities, inadequate skills and knowledge, 
and improving reporting processes and procedures for 
accuracy and timeliness.

Change in risk −

We have improved our internal controlling and monitoring to 
manage this risk.

Link to strategic pillars

• Disciplined execution
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“Our focus is to 
empower Life 
Sciences 
companies with 
tailored, dynamic, 
and adaptable 
workforce 

solutions, ensuring access to top 
talent and enabling the adoption of 
sustainable innovation for long-
term success and industry 
excellence.”

Kerrianne MacMullin
Vice President Canada and Global Sponsor Life Sciences

Fraud risk summary 

Risk description 

Fraud – An intentional act by one or more individuals among 
management, those charged with governance, employees, or 
third parties, involving the use of deception to obtain an unjust 
or illegal advantage. 

Types of fraud: 

• External fraud- coming from outside the organisation

• Internal fraud – coming from inside the organisation
 

Key aspects

Internal fraud 

• Asset misappropriation 

• Corruption 

• Financial statement fraud

External fraud

• Fake president scam

• Man in the middle 

• Phishing

• Impersonation/pretexting

• Diversion theft

• Ransomware

• Hacking 

• Fraud on booking flights on Corporate Account

Key mitigating measures

Internal Control 

• Execute all internal control activities 

• During the annual controller meeting, CFO led the “fraud risk” 
discussion with all controllers. 

Awareness  

• IT audits, including hacking attempts and phishing emails 
among other approaches;

• Continuous updates of fraud/phishing attempts and annual 
refresher courses for data protection (includes phishing) to 
raise awareness;

• Any unusual payment requests from the members of the 
Board of Directors (CEO and CFO) or other Senior 
Management (Regional Directors, Country Directors, 
Regional Finance Controllers or Finance Managers) should be 
verified with CFC;

• Requests to transfer money to unknown bank accounts will 
never be sent by a single director, will never be sent without 
any proper documentation and will never be sent without the 
knowledge of any of the members of CFC;

• Any requests for authentication of bank details or for 
information on bank account details coming from bank 
officials should be verified with CFC and with previously 
known bank contact details;

• Requests to change the bank account details of (direct or 
indirect) employees or (IC) vendors and suppliers should be 
verified by phone making use of the already existing contact 
details of the designated party; 

• A procedure should be in place to control changes in bank 
accounts for payments (four eye principle).

11. Financial risks

Risk description 

Brunel is a reliable business partner with a limited amount of 
goodwill in our assets. Our most significant financial assets 
consist of accounts receivable, which are spread across more 
than two thousand clients. While we strive for timely 
collections, the possibility of uncollectible debts cannot be 
disregarded.

Key aspects

• Account receivables   

• Accrued income  

• Currency risks

 Key mitigating measures 

• Reduce the impact of legacy issue - To mitigate risk of 
delayed payments in certain regions, we have implemented 
an escalation matrix for accounts receivable follow-up, clear 
invoicing guidelines and stricter actions for outstanding 
accounts.

• Credit rating - We also perform routine credit risk reviews for 
our global customers, with a particular focus on new and top 
clients, to enhance visibility and explore potential mitigation 
strategies.

Change in risk −

We have increased our account receivables collecting efforts 
to offset the increased risk on our customer’s side

Link to strategic pillars

• Disciplined execution
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Corporate governance
Brunel International N.V.’s understanding of corporate 
governance is based on applicable laws, the rules and 
regulations applicable to companies listed on the NYSE 
Euronext Amsterdam stock exchange and the Dutch 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”). The Code 
contains principles and best practices on the 
governance of listed companies and their 
accountability to their shareholders on this topic. The 
full text of the Code is available on www.mccg.nl.

Compliance and continuation 

This chapter describes the principal aspects of 
Brunel’s corporate governance structure and how 
the Code is applied. If applicable, explanations for 
deviating from the Code’s best practice stipulations 
are provided. 

The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board are 
responsible for maintaining the corporate governance 
structure and for ensuring compliance with that 
structure. They render joint account on these issues to 
the General Meeting of Shareholders.  The Supervisory 
Board and Board of Directors’ regulations are 
published on the company’s website. The key aspects 
of Brunel’s corporate governance structure and 
compliance with the Code will be submitted for 
discussion at the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

The corporate governance structure at Brunel and 
the deviations from the Code are based on current 
conditions and views within Brunel. Conditions may 
change which may lead to adjustments in the 
structure and in the way in which Brunel complies 
with the Code. Every substantial change to the 
corporate governance structure of the company will 
be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders 
for discussion on a separate agenda item.

Brunel’s view and strategy on the central feature of 
sustainable long-term value creation and the 
realisation thereof, are explained in the report of the 

Board of Directors. The Board of Directors’ report 
also describes the company’s risk appetite and the 
integration of risk management and internal control 
systems into the work processes. 

Diversity, Inclusion & Belonging

Every day, we are committed to an inclusive 
workforce, and we understand diversity and inclusion 
are essential for a successful working culture, 
business and community. Leading an inclusive culture 
is key to set the tone and example. Both the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board acknowledge 
the added value of diversity in a broader context, and 
male/female diversity in particular. Brunel’s current 
diversity and inclusion policy, and the policy regarding 
the Supervisory Board and Board of Directors have 
been implemented with this in mind. The action plan 
specified measures to implement the policy and 
target figures for the Board of Directors and the sub-
top. Because Brunel is a listed company, the company 
has a so-called appointment quota rather than a 
target figure for the Supervisory Board. 

Board of Directors 

Number of members of Directors at year-end 
2023

3

Number of women 0

Target percentage of women At least 25%

Target percentage of men At least 25%

Considering the current composition, a target figure 
of at least 25% female representation in the Board 
of Directors is deemed appropriate and ambitious. 
Reaching a balanced male/female ratio is a 
challenge in the long term, because there are 
significant intervals between vacancies in the Board 
of Directors. In 2023, there were no vacancies.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the composition 
of the Board of Directors. In the event that there is a 

vacancy in the Board of Directors, the Remuneration 
and Appointments committee will prepare and guide 
the selection procedure. In the commissioning, specific 
attention is paid to the female candidates: at least 50% 
of the candidates on longlists should be female. The 
Supervisory Board strives to have at least 50% of the 
candidates on the shortlist be female as well. 

Sub-top

Number of members subtop at year-end 
2023

16

Number of women 4/25%

Target for percentage of women at least 40%

Target for percentage of men  At least 40%

The sub-top is composed of officers who are part of the 
senior management. As per year-end 2023, the sub-
top comprised 17 employees,  5 of whom were female.

The Board of Directors is responsible for diversity in 
the sub-top. Recruitment of candidates for the sub-
top, defined as jobs that are part of the company’s 
GLT,  is done by the business with guidance from the 
global People & Culture department. The latter 
department maintains the following guiding principles 
for recruitment that should broadly foster diversity:

• Working method in recruitment involving conscious 
focus on diversity when filling vacancies.

• The language used in vacancies will be focused 
on the target group: meaning men or women, 
cultural background or young people.

• Recruitment agencies are aware of our need for 
diversity in the workforce, without the need for 
concrete agreements.

• The aim is for at least 50% of the candidates invited, 
whether or not they were found through a search 
agency, are women. There is a caveat for this in that it 
is difficult for certain technical jobs, given the 
number of women with certain technical educations.

Supervisory Board
Brunel is bound by the legal assimilation quota for 
Supervisory Boards. There is no target figure for the 
Supervisory Board. As per year-end 2023, the 
Supervisory Commission consists of two men 
(66,6%) and one woman (33,3%), achieving the 
quota of at least one-third men and at least one-
third women.

In the profile is stated that the Supervisory Board 
seeks a balanced composition, taking into account 
the aspects relevant for the company, such as 
nationality, age, gender and background in terms of 
education and career experience. With regard to the 
male/female ratio, the Supervisory Board will act in 
line with legal requirements and the board endorses 
the goal of said legal requirements.

If there is a vacancy in the Supervisory Board, the 
selection procedure will be prepared and guided by 
the Remuneration and Appointments committee. 
The selection will always be carried out by a search 
agency. In the commissioning, specific attention is 
paid to the female candidates: at least 50% of the 
candidates on the longlist should be female. The 
Supervisory Board strives to have at least 50% of 
the candidates on the shortlist be female as well. 

In the course of 2023, a vacancy for expansion 
opened up in the Supervisory Board. The selection 
process is in advanced stage but has not yet been 
concluded. Just Spee will resign from the 
Supervisory Board after the 2024 General Meeting. 
For his replacement the selection process had 
been initiated.  

Board of Directors

Tasked with the management of the company, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for setting Brunel’s 
purpose, vision, strategy and focus on sustainable 
long-term value creation; execution of its 
implementation; taking responsibility for Brunel’s 
overall results and addressing corporate 
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responsibility issues. The Board of Directors 
operates in accordance with the interests of Brunel 
and is to that end required to consider all 
appropriate interests associated with the company. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for complying 
with all relevant primary and secondary legislation, 
the risk profile associated with the strategy, the 
corporate responsibility issues relevant to the 
company, its financing, and its external 
communications. The Board of Directors is required 
to report developments on the abovementioned 
subjects to, and discuss the internal risk 
management and control systems with, Brunel’s 
Supervisory Board and its Audit Committee.

Supervisory Board

Brunel’s Articles of Association determine that the 
Supervisory Board consists of a minimum of three 
members. The Supervisory Board is charged with 
supervising the Board of Directors and the general 
course of affairs of Brunel, as well as advising the 
Board of Directors. The Supervisory Board evaluates 
the corporate structure and the control mechanisms 
established by the Board of Directors. In performing 
its duties, the Supervisory Board takes into account 
the relevant interest of the company’s stakeholders, 
and, to that end, consider all appropriate interests 
associated with the company. Members of the 
Supervisory Board perform their duties without 
mandate and independent of any particular interest 
in the business of the company. The Supervisory 
Board is responsible for the quality of its own 
performance and for this purpose annually reviews 
its performance. The responsibility for proper 
performance of its duties is vested in the 
Supervisory Board as a whole. 

Brunel ensures that there are structured reporting 
lines to the Supervisory Board. The Audit 
Committee assists the Supervisory Board in 
fulfilling its supervisory responsibilities for the 
integrity of the financial reporting process, the 
system of internal business controls and risk 

management, the external audit process, the 
external auditor’s qualifications, independence and 
performance. 

The Chair of the Supervisory Board ensures the 
proper functioning of the Board and its committees 
and acts on behalf of the Supervisory Board as the 
main contact for the Board of Directors. The Vice-
Chair replaces the Chair when required and acts as 
contact for the other Board members concerning 
the functioning of the Chair. The Supervisory Board 
regulations and the resignation schedule are posted 
on the company’s website, 
www.brunelinternational.net.  

Structure and shares

The authorised capital of Brunel International N.V. is EUR 
5,998,000 divided into 199,600,000 ordinary shares 
and one priority share. The par value of the ordinary 
shares is EUR 0.03 each. On 31 December 2023 the 
number of outstanding shares was 50,400,988.

Priority share

The priority share, which has a par value of EUR 
10,000, has been issued to Stichting Prioriteit 
Brunel, subject to the condition precedent that the 
majority shareholder loses its majority share in 
Brunel’s share capital. The priority share will be fully 
paid up as soon as the issue becomes unconditional. 
The protective stipulations are included in the 
Articles of Association of Brunel and are posted on 
the company’s website.

Majority shareholder

According to The Netherlands Authority for the Financial 
Markets (AFM) register on notification of substantial 
holdings, Brunel founder Mr J. Brand directly or 
indirectly holds a capital interest of approximately 
60,05%, with corresponding voting rights.

“With core 
commodities being 

critical for the 
acceleration of the 

energy transition, we 
put a focus on 

accompanying our 
clients in a more sustainable 

approach, while improving their DIB 
practices and increasing their use of 

technology for safer and more 
efficient results.”

Tania Sinibaldi
Managing Director of Operations and Global Sponsor Mining
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Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders 

Brunel is required to hold an Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders within six months after the end of the 
financial year in order to, among other things, adopt 
the Annual accounts and to decide on any proposal 
concerning dividends. Further to Dutch law, the release 
from liability of the members of the Board of Directors and 
release from the liability of Supervisory Board members for 
the performance of their respective duties during the 
financial year are also agenda items for this meeting.

Voting rights

Each shareholder has the right to attend General 
Shareholder’s Meetings, either in person or by 
written or electronic proxy, to address the meeting 
and to exercise voting rights, subject to the 
provisions of Brunel’s Articles of Association. An 
eligible shareholder has the aforementioned rights if 
registered as shareholder on the applicable record 
date as set by the Board of Directors. Each of the 
shares in Brunel’s share capital carries the right to 
cast one vote. Unless otherwise required by Dutch 
law or Brunel’s Articles of Association, resolutions 
are passed by a simple majority of votes cast by the 
shareholders present or represented at the meeting.

Independent auditor

On 11 May 2023 the Annual General Meeting 
charged the external auditor with the task of 
auditing Brunel’s Annual accounts. 

Amendment to the articles of 
association

Amendment to Brunel’s Articles of Association can take 
place upon a proposal of the Board of Directors 
approved by the Supervisory Board and adopted by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. A proposal to amend 
the Articles of Association must be stated in a notice 
convening a General Meeting of Shareholders. The 
proposal shall be passed upon an absolute majority of 
the votes cast in the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
The Articles of Association were last amended by the 
general meeting of shareholders of 14 May 2020.

Governance statement

The corporate governance statement (as referred to 
in article 2(a) in conjunction with articles 3 through 
3(b) of the decree on additional requirements for 
annual reports and including the information 
required under Article 10 of the Takeover Directive 
can be found on the Company’s website 
www.brunelinternational.net.

Deviations from the Dutch corporate 
governance code

Best practice provision 4.2.3
Information for analysts, shareholders, the press and 
other parties in the financial markets is provided in 
accordance with the relevant recommendations in the 
Code. However, Brunel does not entirely comply with 
the public nature of meetings, for example through 
transmission on the internet, as we believe this implies 
a disproportionate burden for our organisation.

Best practice provision 4.3.3
In 2005, the General Meeting of Shareholders decided 
to discontinue the adoption of the rules applicable to 
the full two-tier board structure (“structuurregime”). 
The Supervisory Board was granted the right to submit a 
binding nomination in the case of the appointment of 
Directors and Supervisory Directors. In deviation from 
best practice provision 4.3.3. such nomination may only 
be rejected by the General Meeting of Shareholders 
by means of a two-thirds majority of votes cast, 
representing more than half the issued capital. These 
criteria were prescribed as the Supervisory Board 
considered it necessary, considering Brunel’s specific 
circumstances, to ensure that its position is as strong as 
possible in the current structure.
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Performance
Brunel International 

In 2023 Brunel realised strong top-line growth across 
all regions as we leverage our capabilities and client 
relationships with both existing and exciting new 
clients to realise pioneering projects across the world. 
Whilst doing so, we improved our diversification into 
exciting markets where we see robust growth ahead. 
We remain therefore ambitious about our growth 
path, while also acknowledging that 2023 was not 
without its challenges. In particular, headwinds in Q4 
particularly affected our results in Taylor Hopkinson 
and the DACH region and required quick action with 
an eye on the future. In Europe we show growth at a 
different rate due to a combination of a higher 
headcount, inflation and a lower productivity. Other 
regions, such as Australasia and Americas achieved 
strong growth while being vigilant on cost control. 
Overall, revenue increased by 13% (18% organically) 
to EUR 1.3 billion (excluding the impact of working 
days, currencies, acquisitions and divestments).

The gross margin decreased from 21.3% to 20.6%, 
mainly due to a change in the mix between the 

staffing business in Europe and the global regions. 
The increase in overhead expenses was 13% and is 
mostly driven by investments in our organisation to 
support continued revenue growth and inflation.

In our analysis, we have excluded € 4.8 million of 
one-off expenses to present the true operational 
performance of our business, resulting in underlying 
EBIT. The performance of the individual regions in 
this section is discussed on this underlying basis. 
This provides a clearer picture of our company’s 
ongoing profitability, as we exclude one-off costs 
which mainly related to restructuring costs in DACH.

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) increased 
from € 0.58 in 2022 to € 0.63 in 2023. 

The effective tax rate for 2023 ended at 35.8% 
(2022: 35.2%).

The direct headcount decreased from 11,083 at 31 
December 2022 to 10,939 at 31 December 2023.

Revenue bridge Brunel International N.V.

1,181,824

   Total         Increase          Decrease

EBIT Brunel International N.V.

EBIT bridge Brunel International N.V.

EB
IT 2023

O
P
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G
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pact
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IT 2022

-9,111

30,578

   Total         Increase          Decrease

   Total         Increase          Decrease

31,039 17,428 31,280 21,162

-28

1,331,535

20,035

60,874

-21,203

61,138

2,01860,874 1,961
399

-1,522
0

Balance sheet

Working capital increased by 20.0%. The increase is 
driven by the higher working capital requirement to 
support our revenue growth, but also a higher level 
of trade receivables. We are working on improving all 
facets of our credit control and collection efforts 
and will focus on reducing our TDO metric. 
Nevertheless, there is no material change in the 
(relative) amounts in the aging of accounts 
receivable or accrued income and based on 
discussions with the largest clients there is no 
concern on the collectability of outstanding 
positions (Refer to Note. 9 in the Annual Accounts, 
where the expected credit losses are disclosed).

The net cash balance at 31 December 2023 is EUR 
31.8 million (EUR 77.8 million per 31 December 
2022), of which EUR 20.2 million is restricted (EUR 
15.5 million per 31 December 2022). Overdraft 
facilities are in place to be able to fund continued 
growth or potential M&A activities.

The goodwill on the balance sheet is tested for 
impairment annually and has sufficient headroom.

-6,732
22,879 -762 -163 -1,968

2,514

-2,213
-4,817

61,138
56,321

11,649
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Headcount development

Revenue and EBIT development

   Revenue         EBIT

  2022        2023

“In 2023, our 
achievements 
include expanding 
globally, establishing 
new entities in China 
and strengthening 
our Asian team with 

talented Brunellers. We successfully 
diversified our growing verticals, and 
now our focus is to transform exciting 
bids and opportunities into tangible 
success.”

Jon Proctor
Managing Director of Operations and Global Sponsor Renewables
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DACH region

This region includes Germany with both its 
secondment and project business, as well as 
Switzerland, Austria and Czech Republic. The German 
economy had a rough year due to persistent inflation, 
high energy prices and weak foreign demand. 

In 2023 we continued our growth. For the full year, 
revenue increased by 8.7%. The gross margin 
slightly decreased in total with 0.9 ppt. Due to 2 
working days less than 2022 the gross margin 
decreased with 0.7ppt (EUR 1.8 million).  Compared 
to the fourth quarter of 2022 the growth in Q4 of 
2023 the growth stalled due to the forementioned 
German economic circumstances.

The operating expenses increased by 9.9%, mainly 
driven by increased staff and one-off staff related costs. 
As a result, EBIT decreased by 3.1% to EUR 23.6 million. 

Outlook
We expect a single digit revenue growth especially in 
Germany. Additional focus is aligning the 
organisation’s operational cost in line with growth.
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The Netherlands

The Netherlands increased its revenue by 12% year 
on year. This was mainly driven by higher sales rates, 
higher headcount, and a higher share of freelancers 
(compared to own staff).  This growth was achieved 
despite 2023 having one less working day than 2022. 

Gross margin decreased with 2.7 ppt due to the 
aforementioned freelancer split,  wage inflation, and 
lower productivity due to a higher bench %. 

Operational costs increased by EUR 1.0 million, 
mainly as a result of higher staff costs. As a result, 
EBIT is EUR 0.2 million lower than last year.

Outlook
We expect single digit revenue growth, driven by 
moderate headcount increases, and higher rates 
and productivity.  There are also 2 additional working 
days in 2024. Inflationary pressures will continue to 
have an impact on staff costs.   
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Middle East and India

The main countries in this region are Qatar, Kuwait, 
United Arab Emirates (Dubai) and India. Although 
the region achieved top-line growth, we did face 
challenges as a large project was completed sooner 
than anticipated and the commencement of a large 
infrastructure project in Qatar was delayed to 2024. 
Additionally, our gross margin declined by 2.6 ppts 
to 14.1% following a change in the client mix. To 
support growth in coming years, we did make an 
investment in indirect personnel. Movements in 
other operating costs were limited, resulting in EUR 
2.0 million lower EBIT.

Outlook
We are hopeful to achieve another year of top-line 
growth as exciting projects for clients in Qatar, 
Dubai and India fill our pipeline, but we also aim to 
improve our margins by participating in more 
markets and projects and by focusing on growth in 
recruitment revenue. To drive these results, we 
expect a trend reversal in our headcount 
development in this region early in 2024.

Australasia

This region includes Australia and Papua New 
Guinea. Our business in the region realised a growth 
rate in EBIT in excess of 60%, driven by increased 
project work and headcount mobilisation at our 
existing client base in combination with a mix of new 
clients. Next to growth in revenue and gross margin 
in the region, our operating costs increased as 
additional staff was hired in 2023 to support our 
operations, subsequently it  resulted in EUR 2.0 
million additional EBIT.

Outlook
We expect to continue our positive trend in 2024 
through a combination of top-line growth by 
continuing to leverage our relationships with existing 
clients, focusing on high-margin projects and 
leveraging on our operating capacities.  
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Americas

The Americas grew significantly compared to 2022. 
Revenue increased by 21%, mainly driven by higher 
headcount and increased sales rates. This increase 
resulted in a gross profit increase of EUR +4.9 million 
(+25%). 

Opex increased with EUR 3.0 million, mainly driven 
by higher staff costs. 

EBIT was EUR 4.5 million, an increase of EUR 2.0 
million (+76%) versus 2022.

Outlook
For 2023 we expect revenue growth in the Americas 
to continue, with increased contractor headcount 
and recruitment revenues. 
Staff costs will increase to facilitate this growth, 
which will partially offset the anticipated increase in 
gross profit.

Asia

Key countries in the Asia region are China, Singapore, 
Japan, Malaysia, Thailand, and Indonesia. Our primary 
focus in the region remains centered on the 
construction of heavy equipment and components for 
the Energy industry, aligning with a notable upward 
trend in such projects. The region successfully 
translated a significant portion of increased volume 
into profitability, elevating the EBIT margin by 1 
percentage point to 7% resulting in 27% more EBIT 
compared to last year. The growth is mainly driven 
by our operations in Indonesia and China.
 
Outlook

Our outlook is continued growth, we attribute it to 
favorable market conditions aligning with our 
capabilities and further boosted by the integration 
of commissioning capabilities following the 
acquisition of ICE.

EBIT Asia

Headcount development

EB
IT 2023

O
P

EX
 

G
ross M

argin 
im

pact

Volum
e im

pact

EB
IT 2022

   Total         Increase          Decrease

  2022        2023

EBIT Americas

Headcount development    Total         Increase          Decrease

  2022        2023

EB
IT 2023

O
P

EX3

G
ross M

argin 
im

pact

Volum
e im

pact

EB
IT 2022

11,873

-4,743
9,359

3,577

-2,954

4,547

2,586

4,368

5483,679

90 91



Taylor Hopkinson

-3,000

-2,500

-2,000

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

Taylor Hopkinson

-3,000

-2,500

-2,000

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

International
DACH

Netherlands Australasia

Mid East/India Americas

Rest of 
World

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN
0

400

800

1,200

1,600

2,000

2,400
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

0

300

600

900

1,200

1,500

1,800
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN
0

300

600

900

1,200

1,500

1,800
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

0

400

800

1,200

1,600

2,000

2,400
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN
0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

Asia

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600
2022

2023

DECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULJUNMAYAPRMARFEBJAN

International DACH

Netherlands Australasia

Mid East/India Americas

Rest of 
World

Asia

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

BRU NEL INTERNATIONAL N.V.   ANNUAL REPORT 2023 REP ORT  FROM T HE B OA RD O F DIRE CTO RS

Rest of World

Rest of World includes Belgium and Europe & Africa. 
Until the divestment in June 2022, Rest of World 
also included the results for our activities in Russia 
until May, when we sold the activities to local 
management in May 2022. 

Outlook
We continue to see a healthy pipeline of projects in 
the regions, and we expect growth in these markets.

Taylor Hopkinson

Taylor Hopkinson was acquired in December 2021. 
In the second year, Taylor Hopkinson contributed 
EUR 94.8 million to our full year revenue. Following 
the growth in 2022 investments in staff were made. 
From Q3 onwards, the off-shore renewable industry 
postponed investments due to increased 
investment costs (e.g. interest and materials). This 
was felt by an instant drop of recruitment positions 
to be filled, even though contracting revenue grew 
with 15.6%. EBIT percentage before acquisition 
related cost was -0.7% lower. The operating costs 
include EUR 2.4 million acquisition related expenses.

Outlook
In co-operation with the Brunel subsidiaries, we 
expect growth in the renewable market as we 
continue to see a healthy pipeline of projects around 
the globe.

EBIT Taylor Hopkinson
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Statement by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for Brunel’s risk 
management and control systems, and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. The internal risk management and 
control systems, as described earlier, aim to manage 
the key risks that may prevent us from achieving our 
business objectives. However, the risk management 
and control systems cannot provide full assurance of 
preventing all control gaps, material misstatements, 
cases of fraud, or violations of laws and regulations.

In 2023, the Board of Directors has reviewed and 
analysed the strategic, operational, financial and 
reporting and compliance risks to which the group 
was exposed, and has reviewed the design and 
operational effectiveness of Brunel’s risk 
management and control systems.

The Board of Directors shared the outcome of these 
reviews with the Audit Committee and the Supervisory 
Board, and discussed these with our external 
independent auditor. Brunel’s risk management and 
control systems should ensure consistent and reliable 
financial reporting, both internally and externally. 

In accordance with the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code, we have assessed the design and 
operational effectiveness of our internal risk 
management and control systems. 

Based on the activities performed during 2023, and 
in accordance with best practice provision 1.4.3, the 
Board of Directors considers that:

• there were no significant failings in the effectiveness 
of the internal risk management and control 
systems that requires reporting in the current year 
(see page 60-75 – Risk management section);

• the aforementioned systems provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial reporting does not 
contain any material inaccuracies (see page 
60-75 - Risk management section);

• based on the current state of affairs, it is justified 
that the financial reporting is prepared on a going 
concern basis; and (see page 120-180 the 
chapter of Annual accounts)

• the report includes the conclusion that there are 
no material risks and uncertainties that are 
relevant to the expectation of the company’s 
continuity for the period of twelve months after 
the preparation of this report (see page 60 and 
following, starting from Risk management).

Following section 5:25c, paragraph 2, under c of the 
Dutch Act on Financial Supervision (Wet op Financieel 
Toezicht) the members of the Board of Directors 
confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

These 2023 Annual accounts give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss of the company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole. This 
is in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the 
European Union. 

This annual report gives a true and fair view of the 
company’s position and the undertakings included 
in the consolidation taken as a whole as of 31 
December 2023 and of the development and 
performance of the business for the financial year 
then ended. This annual report includes a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that the company faces.

Amsterdam, 23 February 2024

The Board of Directors 
J.T. Andringa    P.A. de Laat  A.G. Maude
CEO     CFO  COO

Gross profit by vertical

While Brunel achieved growth in most of its markets, 
it also achieved diversification through double-digit 
growth in, amongst other sectors, the Renewable 
Energy and Life Sciences markets.

  2022        2023
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We hereby present the report of the Supervisory Board for the year 2023.

Annual accounts 2023
The Supervisory Board has taken note of the report 
of the Board of Directors for the 2023 financial year. 
The Annual accounts and the notes thereto have 
been audited by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, 
who provided an unqualified audit opinion. The 
Supervisory Board concurs with the Board of 
Directors’proposal to pay out a dividend of EUR 0.55 
per share.

The Annual accounts will be submitted to the 
General Meeting of Shareholders for adoption by the 
shareholders on May 16, 2024. We recommend the 
General Meeting of Shareholders to adopt the 
Annual accounts and discharge the members of the 
Board of Directors.

Role and powers of the 
Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises the strategy of 
the  Board of Directors and the general course of 
business at the company and its affiliated 
enterprise and provides the Board of Directors with 
advice. The Supervisory Board not only focuses on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal risk 
management and control systems and the integrity 
and quality of its financial reporting, but also on its 
policies regarding sustainability and safety. In the 
performance of its duties, the Supervisory Board 
acts in the interests of the company and its 
affiliated companies and in doing so takes into 
account the legitimate interests of the company’s 
stakeholders. The Supervisory Board also takes 
into account the social aspects of business 
operations that are relevant to the company. The 
Articles of Association of Brunel International N.V. 
and the Regulations for the Supervisory Board of 
Brunel International N.V. include rules with respect 
to board meetings and resolutions. The Articles of 

Association of Brunel International N.V. are 
available on the company’s website.

Specific areas of supervision

The Supervisory Board’s supervision of the Board of 
Directors includes aspects such as how the Board of 
Directors executes the strategy with a view to  
sustainable long-term value creation, the realisation 
of both financial and sustainability goals, the risks 
associated with business activities, the structure 
and operation of the internal risk management and 
control systems, the process of financial reporting, 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 
shareholder relations, the activities of the Board of 
Directors with respect to the culture within the 
company, the operation of the reporting procedures 
related to abuses and irregularities and the social 
aspects of business operations that are relevant to 
the company.

Position and major topics 2023

Macro-economic context

Geopolitical  tensions caused more military conflict 
and economic warfare. Inflation has risen globally, 
largely due to rising energy prices, interest rates 
have increased. The availability of materials and 
manpower also came under pressure. Until 
September, we continued our path of high organic 
growth in revenue, gross profit and EBIT. Brunel 
outperformed the European market trends but also 
experienced a slowdown in the last quarter of the 
year. We had continued strong profitable growth in 
Americas, Australasia and Asia. Unfortunately, 
inflation impacted the business case of certain US 
based offshore wind projects and public biddings in 

Report from 
the Supervisory
Board
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the implementation of the Diversity at the top Act, 
and relevant national and European legislation on 
ESG-related matters.

Composition of the Supervisory Board  

Europe, leading to a slowdown in the  permanent 
placement business in Taylor Hopkinson in the 
second half of the year. Further, the profitability 
growth in  our Middle East & India region was 
impacted by the earlier completion of one large 
project and the postponed  start of another project. 

The strategic positioning, with focus on chosen 
global segments (Renewables, Conventional Energy, 
Mining and Life Sciences), continues to show 
positive indicators. Brunel is in a good position to 
continue on its course for growth while maintaining 
its industry-leading position.

Change to the Board of Directors

In full alignment it has been decided that Graeme 
Maude (COO) will leave Brunel at the end of his 4-year 
term in May 2024. With his appointment in 2020, 
Brunel has undergone a strategic transformation. 
Graeme Maude has played a pivotal role in Brunel’s 
journey towards identifying diversified market 
potential, devising a comprehensive strategy, fostering 
new capabilities, and establishing a robust framework 
for growth including development of its internal talent 
pool.  The organisation now requires a more focused 
operating model. In mutual agreement it has been 
decided that Graeme Maude will not be part of this new 
structure. In order to continue the successful strategic 
execution, it was decided to create a diverse and multi 
skilled leadership team. Setting up this new leadership 
team will also create career development opportunities 
for talented Brunel leaders, at multiple levels in the 
organisation, both short term and long term. 

Topics covered

Beside the periodical financial performance reviews, 
topics discussed during the year under review were: 
risk assessment and risk management, fraud risk, 
the group’s working capital and cash position,  
M&A, vertical strategy, talent development, 
digitisation and cybersecurity. These discussions 

included presentations by the Board of Directors on 
strategy, operations and financial performance. The 
total equity/total assets solvency ratio of the 
company is 51.1% (2022: 58.1 %) and the cash 
position remains healthy.

The national and international laws and regulations 
relating to the company cover areas such as 
employment, work permits, health and safety, 
anti-bribery and corruption, economic and trade 
sanctions, foreign exchange and taxes. The 
Supervisory Board has discussed how compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations can be ensured. Non-
compliance is reported via the periodic consultation 
with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
obtained information from the Board of Directors 
regarding the extent and nature of various regulations 
and how compliance is monitored internally.  

Strategy

Brunel’s  strategy is focused on sustainable long-
term value creation. In line with good governance 
practices, the Board of Directors updates the 
strategy regularly. Since the  last strategy update in 
2021, much progress has been made to realise our 
goals across our strategic pillars diversification, 
specialisation, capability building and disciplined 
execution. In 2023, the recalibrated strategy for 
2024-2027 to drive us to further successes was 
presented. The Supervisory Board was closely 
involved in this process. The Supervisory Board  has 
discussed subjects that touch on strategy and 
sustainable long-term value creation in practically all 
of its meetings. This resulted  in intensive dialogues 
that  made a constructive contribution to the 
recalibration. The Supervisory Board will monitor the 
implementation of the strategy.

Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board was kept abreast of the 
developments in the field of Corporate Governance,

F.I.M. (Frank) van der Vloed
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Appointed:

 AGM May 2021

Current term: 

2021 – 2025

Former main directorship:

President of Signify Europe 

Other directorships:

Chair of the Supervisory Board of Deli 
Home B.V.
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Committees

According to the guidelines of the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code (the ‘Code’), Brunel is not obliged 
to set up separate Audit, Remuneration and 
Selection and Appointment committees. However, 
Brunel has had an Audit Committee since 2001 and 
has opted to retain the structure. Since August 
2018, all members of the Supervisory Board are also 
members of the Audit Committee. 

The entire Supervisory Board also serves as the 
Remuneration and Selection and Appointment 
Committees. By-laws and terms of reference for 
both the Supervisory Board and its Committees are 
posted on the company’s website.

Evaluation of the Board of Directors

The evaluation of the performance of the Board of 
Directors, and of its individual members was 
discussed in the absence of the Board of Directors.  

Self-evaluation of the 
Supervisory Board

At a private meeting, the Supervisory Board 
reflected on its own performance and that of its 
individual members, and members received 
individual feedback from the Chair of the 
Supervisory Board. In its own estimation, and in 
accordance with best practice provision 2.1.4 of the 
code, the Supervisory Board has a balanced 
composition of knowledge and experience. 

The composition of the Supervisory Board is such 
that the members can operate independently and 
critically vis-à-vis one another, the Board of 
Directors, and any particular interests involved 
within the meaning of best practice provisions 2.1.7, 
2.1.8 and 2.1.9 of the Code.  

The evaluation for 2023 showed that the members 
of the Supervisory Board agree that there is an 
open, respectful attitude among them and between 
them and the Board of Directors, where the goal is 
always to find improvements for the company. In 
line with the use of the self-assessment, the decision 
was made to have the 2024 self-assessment led by 
an external party.

Remuneration Committee

The  Remuneration Committee met twice in 2023. 
The work of the Remuneration Committee focused 
on the 2022 performance and the individual 
performance reviews of the members of the Board 
of Directors, the preparation of the remuneration 
report 2022, amendment of the remuneration 
policy, and target setting for 2023. 

The remuneration report outlines the remuneration 
policy, provides a description of implementation of 
the remuneration policy, and sets out the 
remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors. 

The Annual General Meeting of 11 May 2023 did not 
provide any comments to the 2022 remuneration 
report. Further, the Annual General Meeting of 11 
May 2023 approved the amended remuneration 
policy.

The remuneration policy and 2023 remuneration 
report are posted on the company’s website. 

Audit committee

The Audit Committee is chaired by Ms. Koelemeijer. 
All members of the Supervisory Board are also 
members of the Audit Committee. The Board of 
Directors, the internal auditor and the external 
independent auditor attend the Audit Committee 

Changes to the 
Supervisory Board  

The General Meeting of Shareholders of 11 May 
2023 reappointed Ms Koelemeijer as member of 
the Supervisory Board for a period ending at the 
close of the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders in 2027.

Appointment and selection

The members of the Supervisory Board are 
appointed for a term of four years and may 
thereafter be reappointed for another four-year 
period. They may then subsequently be 
reappointed again for a period of two years, which 
appointment may be extended at most two years. 
Candidates nominated for appointment or 
reappointment must meet the criteria as shown in 
the drawn-up profile.

Diversity of the Supervisory Board

The aim is to compose the Supervisory Board in such 
way that there is an appropriate measure of diversity 
as regards expertise, experience, competencies, 
other personal qualities, gender identity, age, 
nationality, and (cultural) background that best 
enables the Supervisory Board to discharge its 
various obligations in relation to the company and its 
stakeholders. The current composition of the 
Supervisory Board meets the legal quota.

The diversity policy and plan of approach pertaining 
to the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board has 
been included in the governance report. Currently 
the Supervisory Board consist of one third of women. 

Frequency of meetings and 
attendance 2023

In 2023, the Supervisory Board held six regular 
meetings of which two meetings Mr Spee was 
unable  to attend. The meetings were attended by 
the entire Board of Directors except for two 
absences of Mr Maude. The scheduled meetings of 
the Audit Committee were held on the same days as 
the Supervisory Board’s meetings. Messrs. Spee 
and Maude were given the opportunity to express 
their view and to discuss the items on the agenda 
with the Chair prior to the meetings. The regular 
meetings were preceded by internal consultations 
within the Superviory Board.

All members of the Remuneration and 
Appointments committee attended all meetings of 
said committee. 

The Supervisory Board further held six closed 
meetings that were not attended by the Board of 
Directors.  Outside the regular meetings there was 
frequent contact between members of the 
Supervisory Board, as well as with members of the 
Board of Directors. The Chair of the Supervisory 
Board met with the Chief Executive Officer on a 
regular basis to discuss various issues, in particular 
the business situation, special business transactions 
and the overall situation of the Brunel group. The 
Chair of the Supervisory Board regularly informed the 
other members about the content of these meetings.

The company’s external auditor attended the 
meeting in which the financial statements for 2023 
were discussed. 

Supervisory 
Board members

Supervisory 
Board

Audit 
committee

Remuneration 
committee

F.I.M. (Frank) 
van der Vloed
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6/6  5.5 2/2
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Based on the size of Brunel and activities of the 
Corporate Finance & Control department, Brunel 
choose for a hybrid setup of the internal audit 
function. In 2023, the internal audit function 
completed most items of the internal audit plan. The 
topics that have not been completed will be 
reconsidered in 2024. Going forward, additional 
regional support and selection of topics based on 
the risks and the expectations of the Audit 
Committee,  are expected to make the performance 
of the internal audit function more efficient.

Risk and internal risk 
management systems

During 2023, the Audit Committee also discussed 
with the Board of Directors the updated risk 
assessment that was performed by the Board of 
Directors in cooperation with commercial 
management and the regional finance directors. 
This concerns risks associated with the strategy and 
the nature of the business, and the way that the 
Board of Directors monitors the design and 
operation of the internal risk management systems. 
Risk assessment and risk management systems are 
being further embedded in the reporting structure 
to support decision making and achieving of 
strategic objectives in the coming years. The 
relevant risks to the company are described in the 
section “Risks, risk management and control 
systems” of this annual report.

Information and 
communication technology

In 2023, an update on the IT strategy was 
discussed as well as developments on existing IT 
infrastructure.

Financial reporting

The Board of Directors informed the Supervisory 
Board on the processes for the preparation of the 
financial reports and how the quality of the financial 
reporting is monitored. Based on this and the report 
of the external independent auditor, the Supervisory 
Board believes the Board of Directors adequately 
interprets its responsibility for the quality of the 
financial information.

Dialogue with the external 
independent auditor

The Audit Committee has discussed the Annual 
accounts, annual report, Supervisory Board’s 
report, management letter and risk management 
policy with the Board of Directors and the external 
independent auditor. The Supervisory Board 
assessed the independence of the auditor. It was 
concluded that threats to independence are absent. 
The Supervisory Board believes that the external 
independent auditor provided the Supervisory 
Board with all relevant information in order to 
exercise its supervisory responsibilities.  

Relationship with shareholders

The Supervisory Board discussed with the Board of 
Directors how to consider the interests of 
shareholders as well as the issues raised by 
shareholders at the last Annual General Meeting. 
The Supervisory Board believes that the company 
acted in a constructive and careful way regarding 
the shareholders’ interests.

meetings. The Supervisory Board selects the 
external independent auditor. The Audit Committee 
has a supervisory role regarding the integrity of the 
internal and external financial reports of the 
company, risk management, and information 
technology. 

The Audit Committee met six times in 2023: prior to 
the publication of the full-year 2022 figures, prior to 
announcing the quarterly results and to discuss the 
external independent auditor’s audit plan for 2023 
and interim findings.

The discussion on the scope of the audit included 
2023 key audit matters as identified by the external 
independent auditor. Recurring items for the Audit 
Committee meetings such as risk assessment and 
risk management, tax compliance, IT systems, 
internal controls, compliance with laws and 
regulations, and the quality of the finance function 
were discussed. Furthermore, the set up and 
performance of the commercial team, that monitors 
and strengthens contractual risk management, has 
been evaluated.

Appointment of external independent 
auditor Annual accounts 2023

The Annual General Meeting of 11 May 2023 
appointed  Ernst & Young Accountants LLP (EY) as 
auditor of the company’s Annual accounts for the 
financial year 2023.

Internal control

From an internal control perspective, Brunel is 
organised in regions and countries. In each region 
and country, a finance director is responsible for 
internal control for the activities in his/her area. 
These finance directors meet with the CFO on a 
monthly basis. Furthermore, compensation and 
hiring/dismissal of these finance directors is the 
responsibility of the CFO in order to provide 
sufficient independence towards local general 
managers. Besides the local finance directors, 
Brunel has a separate team of controllers in 
Amsterdam in the Corporate Finance and Control 
(CFC) department. Core competences are auditing, 
reporting and controlling. The majority of the CFC 
team members have worked with a big four audit 
firm before joining Brunel. In addition to group 
reporting, CFC performs internal control activities, 
both in desktop reviews and during site visits. CFC 
also provides the group with accounting manuals 
and guidelines for internal control procedures, as 
well as a multiday global meeting with the local 
finance directors. 

Internal audit function

The internal auditor reports to the Audit Committee. 
The purpose of Brunel’s internal audit function is to 
provide independent, objective assurance and 
consulting services designed to add value and 
improve Brunel’s operations. The mission of internal 
audit is to enhance and protect organisational value 
by providing risk-based and objective assurance, 
advice, and insight. The internal audit function helps 
Brunel accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management, and control processes. The internal 
auditor reports functionally to the Audit Committee 
and administratively (i.e. day-to-day operations) to 
the Board of Directors.
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Others

The Supervisory Board approved the operational 
and financial objectives of the company, and also 
approved the strategy designed to achieve the 
objectives and the preconditions associated with 
that strategy.

The Supervisory Board endorsed the Board of 
Directors’ efforts on corporate social responsibility 
and the particular aspects that are relevant to the 
enterprise. 

Furthermore, no matters occurred which, under the 
law, the statutes or the Code, requires the approval 
of the Supervisory Board.

Conflicts of interest

In 2023, no matters occurred involving conflicts of 
interest of directors, Supervisory Board members, 
shareholders and/or external independent auditor 
that are of material significance to the company 
and/or the respective directors, members, 
shareholders and/or external independent auditor. 
Information on related party transactions is included 
under note 27 to the Annual accounts.

Amsterdam, 23 February 2024 

The Supervisory Board
F.I.M. van der Vloed, Chair
J.J.B.M. Spee, Vice-Chair 
K. Koelemeijer
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Introduction

The remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors is the responsibility of the Supervisory 
Board as a whole. Decisions by the Supervisory 
Board should be in accordance with the 
remuneration policy for members of the Board of 
Directors as approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. Decisions regarding the remuneration 
of the members of the Supervisory Board are taken 
by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy’s objective is to attract, 
motivate and retain qualified and expert executives 
to Brunel International N.V. (the ‘Company’ or 
‘Brunel’), an  internationally operating company that 
is listed on the stock exchange and specialises in the 
supply of flexible knowledge and capacity, and to 
contribute to the Company’s strategy, long-term 
interests and sustainability. 

The Supervisory Board believes that the 
remuneration policy expedites the short-term 
operational performance and the objectives for the 
strategy for sustainable  long-term value creation 
within the meaning of best practice provision 1.1.1 
of the Dutch corporate governance code (the 
‘Code’). The Annual General Meeting of 11 May 
2023 adopted the amended remuneration policy. 
The revisions relate to amendments of the STI, LTI, 
and total variable compensation as percentage of 
the fixed gross annual remuneration, and the 
replacement of LTI component Share Appreciation 
Right (‘SARs’) with performance shares.  

The amended remuneration policy is effective the 
fiscal year 2024 and is published on the Company’s 
website www.brunelinternational.net. In accordance 
with the requirements of Article 2:135a paragraph 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code, the remuneration policy will be 
submitted for adoption to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders every four (4) years.

The annual general meeting did not provide any 
comments to the 2022 remuneration report. The 2023 
remuneration report will be provided to the 
shareholders meeting for a non-binding ‘advisory vote’.

Remuneration structure and 
components

The remuneration structure for the Board of 
Directors is designed to balance short-term 
operational performance with the long-term 
objectives of the Company, assuring that the 
interest of the members of the Board of Directors 
and Supervisory Board are closely aligned to those 
of the Company, its business and its stakeholders.

The Company intends to offer the Managing 
Directors a remuneration package that is 
competitive to a relevant labour market peer group. 
To define this market a reference group of Dutch 
cross industry and European sector specific companies 
that are comparable in terms of size, is created. This 
reference group includes Arcadis, B&S Group, For 
Farmers, Fugro, Ordina, Sif Holding, Sligro, Vopak, 
Adesso, All for One, Allgeier, Amadeus Fire, 
Bertrandt, Ricardo, Robert Walters and Sthree 

The total compensation for members of the Board of 
Directors is defined in the remuneration policy as a 
combination of fixed compensation, variable 
compensation, pension and other benefits. In line 
with this policy, the Supervisory Board determines a 
total compensation level for each member of the 
Board of Directors, reflecting the specific roles, 
responsibilities, qualifications, experience and 
expertise of the individual. In addition to that, the 
remuneration committee conducts regular scenario 
analyses to determine the long-term effect of the 
level and structure of compensation granted to each 
Board Member. Each year the remuneration 
committee reviews these total compensation levels 
to ensure they remain competitive and provide 

Remuneration 
report
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Variable compensation

Brunel believes that variable compensation 
strengthens the commitment of the Members of the 
Board of Directors to the company’s objectives, 
business strategy, risk tolerance and  long-term 
performance.
 
The variable component of the total remuneration 
package consists of short- and long-term 
components. Performance targets and conditions 
are derived from our strategy and annual business 
plans. The targets are assigned prior to the relevant 
year and assessment of realisation is conducted 
after year-end by the Supervisory Board. 

The aggregate annual variable remuneration for a 
Member of the Board of Directors, assuming the 
achievement of all applicable targets, objectives and 
conditions underlying such variable remuneration, 
shall not exceed 125% of the fixed gross annual 
remuneration of the CEO. For the other Member of 
the Board of Directors the aggregate annual variable 
remuneration shall not exceed 100% of their fixed 
gross annual remuneration.

Short-term incentive (STI) 

The STI incentivises year-on-year delivery of 
financial, strategic and operational objectives 
selected to support the annual business strategy 
and the ongoing enhancement of shareholder value. 
The ability to recognise performance through an 
annual bonus enables to manage our cost base 
flexibility and react to events and market 
circumstances.

The Supervisory Board ensures that the targets 
agreed are both challenging and realistic. The short-
term bonus scheme for the members of the board of 
directors rewards both financial performance and 
individual performance. The financial targets 
(budget, sales, margin, profitability, EBIT and 
control of operating capital) reflect the financial 
parameters considered by the supervisory board to 
be critical with regard to the realisation of Brunel’s 
long-term objectives and strategy (total weighing 
75%). The individual targets comprise objectives on 
professional growth and strategic milestones (total 
weighing 25%). 

The short-term bonus may not exceed 75% of the 
fixed annual compensation of the CEO. For the other 
board members the maximum short-term bonus 
opportunity is 50% of the fixed annual 
compensation. The realisation of each financial or 
individual target can independently result in bonus 
payment. The supervisory board allocates the bonus 
based on the achievement of the targets of 
members of the board of directors and determines 
the associated pay-out. The short-term incentive 
compensation is paid in cash.

Based on the results in 2023, the Supervisory Board 
has considered the extent to which the performance 
delivered meets the quantitative targets and also 
the individual targets have been assessed.

proper and risk-based incentives. Based on the 
results of the annual competitiveness review and 
discussions with the Members of the Supervisory 
Board regarding their remuneration level and 
structure, the remuneration committee may 
recommend changes to the compensation levels. 
Before the remuneration policy as a whole is 
determined, and the level of remuneration of 
individual Board Members is fixed, scenario analysis 
are made of the variable remuneration components 
and the consequences that they could have on the 
level of remuneration of the Board Members. The 

level and structure of the remuneration of the Board 
Members is determined by reference to the scenario 
analysis carried out and with due regard for the 
employment conditions of the employees of Brunel, 
including their remuneration and the development of 
relevant pay ratios, compared to those of the 
Members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory 
Board.  In determining the level and structure of the 
remuneration of Board Members, both financial and 
non-financial indicators relevant to the long-term 
objectives of the Company are taken into account.

Board of Directors

Terms of engagement

The members of the Board of Directors, and the dates 
of commencement of their board membership are:

Jilko Andringa, CEO December 7, 2017, reappointed 
May 11, 2021

Peter de Laat, CFO May 1, 2014, reappointed on May 
14, 2018 and May 19, 2022

Graeme Maude, COO July 1, 2020

In line with best practice provision 2.2.1, the 
members of the Board of Directors have been 
appointed for a period of four (4) years. The Members 
of the Board of Directors have an engagement 
agreement with Brunel International N.V. rather than 
an employment contract. The agreements with the 
Members of the Board of Directors include a 
termination arrangement, which is in line with best 
practice provision 3.2.3 of the Code. Either party to 
the engagement agreement may terminate the 
engagement agreement by giving six months’ notice.

The remuneration package, following the adoption 
of the remuneration policy, contains the following 
components:

Fixed compensation

The fixed pay supports the recruitment and 
retention of directors of the calibre required to 
implement our strategy. It reflects the individual’s 
skills, experience, performance and the role within 
the Company.

The Supervisory Board determined the fixed 
compensation of the members of the Board of 
Directors for 2023 at:

 

Mr. J.T. Andringa EUR 625,000

Mr P.A. de Laat EUR 445,000

Mr A.G. Maude EUR 445,000
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In 2023, the following SARs have been granted:

Director Number of SARs Exercise price in EUR

J.T. Andringa 140,000 11.58

P.A. de Laat 95,000 11.58

A.G. Maude 95,000 11.58

Pension contribution

The pension scheme for Members of the Board of 
Directors is a defined contribution plan. The 
contributions are fully borne by the company. 

Loans

The company has issued no loans or guarantees to 
Members of the Board of Directors.

Claw-back provision 

The Supervisory Board has the authority to claim 
back variable bonus compensation that has been 
paid out to the extent such payment was based on 
incorrect information, including financial 
statements, concerning the achievement of targets 
or the occurrence of circumstances that the bonus 
compensation was dependent on. 

Board of Directors remuneration 
in 2023

The table below summarizes the 2023 
compensation elements of the members of the 
Board of Directors.

 

2023 (2022) in EUR Base salary Short-term 
bonus

Pension Other 
benefits*

Share based 
payments **

Total Fixed 
proportion

J.T. Andringa 625 (600) 169 (391) 15 (13 )  36 (36) 113 (9) 958 (1.049) 69 (61%)

P.A. de Laat 445 (430)  36 (176) 12 (10)  36 (21) 95 (-17) 624 (620) 77 (73%)

A.G. Maude 445 (430) 63 (187) 17 (14) 259 (36)*** 110 (56) 894 (723) 54 (64%)

* Represents a fixed allowance for expenses

** Represents the fair value of options and SARs earned and/or forfeited as recorded in the profit and loss account for 2023.  

*** In 2023 an amount of EUR 223k termination benefit is included. 

For the SARs granted in 2019, the intrinsic value was 
nil at the vesting date in 2022. 

% of total Bandwidth Actual Achieved CEO Achieved CFO Achieved COO

Financial targets for CEO, 
CFO and COO

    

Revenue of EUR  1,385 
million*

20% 95%-105% EUR 1,331 11% 11% 11%

Underlying EBIT of EUR 70 
million*

40% 95%-105% EUR 61.1 0% 0% 0%

Cash collection (TDO of 78 
days)*

15% 78-80 days 85 0% 0% 0%

Individual targets for CEO   

Vertical strategy - revenue 
growth for Renewable, 
Future Mobility and Life 
Sciences 

15%  33% 15%

Candidate attraction & 
retention - implement 
reporting system

10%  10% 10%

Individual targets for CFO   

Cost efficiency DACH 10%  27% 0%

Implementation CSRD 10% Partly 5%

 Improve investor relations 5% 0%

Individual targets for COO   

Growth of US business 15% 96%-104% Partly 7.5%

Acquisitions - Presentation 
of at least 2 achievable, 
meaningful targets

10% 10.0%

Total achieved 36% 16% 28.5%

*    50% of the potential for these targets is achieved when the bottom of the range is achieved. The remaining 50% is distributed 
 equally over the range.

Long-term variable component

For the year 2023, the long-term variable component 
consists of a Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR) 
scheme. This scheme emphasises the sustainable 
growth of operating profit and market share as well as 
the realisation of the company’s long-term policies. 
SAR provide an incentive to the Directors to continue 
their employment with the company and serve to 
align the interests of the Directors with the long-term 
interest of shareholders and other stakeholders. The 
amount of SAR as long-term incentive is determined 
annually by the Supervisory Board bases on the 
assessment to the long-term development of the 
company. The SAR-term is five years and can only be 
exercised after a period of three years has passed 

since they were granted. The application of a vesting 
period encourages long-term thinking and long-term 
value creation. In this way an important part of the 
remuneration is directed at the longer term, which is 
in line with the company’s strategic vision of 
sustainable  long-term value creation. If employment 
ends the SARs will lapse. 
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Remuneration charged to subsidiaries

The Company has subsidiaries and consolidates the 
financial information of other Brunel companies. 
No remuneration was charged to or incurred by 
those subsidiaries in the financial year.

Internal pay ratio

The pay ratio of CEO compensation compared to the 
average employee compensation during 2023:

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

J.T. Andringa 10.2 11.6 12.6 13.8 8.2

The term ‘pay ratios’ as referred to in best practice 
provision 3.4.1, section iv, is understood to mean 
the ratio between (i) the total annual remuneration 
of the CEO and (ii) the average annual remuneration 
of the employees of the company and the group 
companies whose financial data the company 
consolidates, where:

i. the total annual remuneration of the CEO includes 
all remuneration components (such as fixed 
remuneration, variable remuneration in cash 
(bonus), the share-based part of the 
remuneration, social security contributions, 
pension, expense allowance, etc.), as included in 
the (consolidated) financial statements;

ii. the average annual remuneration of the 
employees is determined by dividing the total 
wage costs in the financial year (as included in the 
(consolidated) financial statements) by the 
average number of FTEs during the financial year; 
and  

iii. the value of the share-based remuneration is 
determined at the time of assignment, in line with 
the applicable rules under the applied reporting 
requirements.

This ratio is calculated using the annualised 
compensation for 2023 of EUR 1.0 million compared 
to the average compensation of employees. The 
average compensation of all indirect employees was 
calculated from the numbers as reported in Note 17 
Direct and indirect personnel expenses and Note 28 
Segment reporting, resulting in an average 
compensation of EUR 0.1 million for 2023. 

Summary of SARs outstanding

SARs outstanding per December 31, 
2023

Director Year of granting Exercise price in EUR Fair value in EUR * Exercise period ends in

J.T. Andringa

50,000 2019 12.78 2.18 February 2024 

15,000 2020 6.39 1.48 July 2025

40,000 2021 9.08 2.49 February 2026

70,000 2022 11.92 2.77 February 2027

140,000 2023 11.58 2.60 February 2028

P.A. de Laat

50,000 2019 12.78 2.18 February 2024

15,000 2020 6.39 1.48 July 2025

40,000 2021 9.08 2.49 February 2026

50,000 2022 11.92 2.77 February 2027

95,000 2023 11.58 2.60 February 2028

A.G. Maude

40,000 2021 9.08 2.49 February 2026

50,000 ** 2022 11.92 2.77 February 2027

95,000 ** 2023 11.58 2.60 February 2028

* Reflects the fair value at the grant date. 

** Will be forfaited upon Graeme Maude’s departure in May 2024.

The valuation model to calculate the fair value of the 
SARs is the Black and Scholes model. The reference 
dates are the date of granting, and precisely three 
years later. As per December 31, 2023, the SARs 
granted in 2019 and 2020 can be exercised.  

The share price at 31 December 2023 was   
EUR 11.18.

The movement of the SARs outstanding during 2023 
is as follows:  

J.T. Andringa P.A. de Laat A.G. Maude Total

Balance at 1 January 175,000 205,000 120,000 500,000

Granted 140,000 95,000 95,000 330,000

Exercised 0 0 -30,000 -30,000

Expired 0 -50,000 0 -50,000

Balance at 31 December 315,000 250,000 185,000 750,000
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Supervisory Board

The General Meeting of Shareholders determines 
the remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
Members, and it may be reviewed annually. The 
remuneration of the Members of the Supervisory 
Board consists only of a fixed annual payment and 
reflects the time spent and the responsibilities of 
their role. It is not linked to the financial results of 
the company. Members of the Supervisory Board do 
not receive any performance or equity-related 
compensation and do not accrue any pension rights 
with the company. The company does not grant 
stock options or shares to the Members of the 
Supervisory Board. The regulations for 
shareholdings for Members of the Supervisory 
Board are posted on the company’s website.

Supervisory Board remuneration 
in 2023

The annual allowances of the Members of the 
Supervisory Board are set on median levels 
compared to companies, which are similar to Brunel 
in terms of scale and complexity. As approved by the  
Annual General Meeting held in May 2016, the 
annual gross compensation for the Chairman is EUR 
70,000, Vice-chairman EUR 60,000, Supervisory 
Board Member EUR 55,000, and an additional 
compensation of EUR 5,000 for the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.

Loans

The company has issued no loans or guarantees to 
Members of the Supervisory Board.

Amsterdam, 23 February 2024

Brunel International N.V. 
The Supervisory Board

The five-year development of the directors’ 
remuneration is as follows: 

2019 vs 2018 2020 vs 2019 2021 vs 2020 2022 vs 2021 2023 vs 2022 2023

Board of Director’s 
remuneration:

J.T. Andringa, CEO -41% 59% 6% -2% -9% 958
(1,049)

P.A. de Laat, CFO -9% 38% 18% -22% 1% 624 (620) 

A.G. Maude, COO - -24% 0% 4% 894 (723)

Supervisory Board’s 
remuneration

F.I.M. van der Vloed (as of 11 
May 2021) chair

- 10% 6% 70 (66)

J.J.B.M. Spee, vice-chair 7% 0% 4% -6% -6% 60 (64)

K. Koelemeijer 0% 5% 9% 0% 60 (60)

J.A. van Barneveld (stepped 
down as of 19 may 2022)

0% 0% 0% - - 0 (22)

Brunel’s performance:

Revenue 14% -14% 0% 31% 13% 1,330,535

Operating profit -50% 65% 65% 28% -7% 56,321

Average remuneration on a 
FTE basis of employees:

6% -5% 15% 6% 9% 95
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Structure and shares

Brunel International N.V. is a public limited liability 
company. Its authorised capital is EUR 6 million, 
divided into 199.6 million ordinary shares and one 
priority share. The par value of the ordinary shares is 
EUR 0.03 each. The par value of the priority share is 
EUR 10,000. The priority share has not been issued.

Stock exchange listing

Brunel International N.V. ordinary shares are listed at 
the NYSE Euronext stock exchange in Amsterdam 
(ticker symbol BRNL). Since 2015, Brunel has been 
listed on the Amsterdam Small Cap Index (AScX). 
Since April 2011, options on Brunel shares have also 
been traded on NYSE Liffe, the derivatives market of 
NYSE Euronext.

Share capital

The total number of shares outstanding on 31 
December 2023 is 50,400,988 (2022: 
50,400,988), giving a market capitalisation of EUR 
563 million at that time.  

Interests

According to the AFM register on notification of 
substantial holdings, Mr J. Brand, the company’s 
founder, directly or indirectly holds a capital interest 
of approximately 60.05%, with corresponding 
voting rights. 

Substantial participating interests

As at 31 December 2023, other than the interest of 
Mr. J. Brand, there were no other shareholdings that 
exceeded the participating interest treshold of 3% 
of the share capital or the voting rights of Brunel 
International N.V.

Dividend

For this year we propose to the general meeting of 
shareholders to pay a dividend of EUR 0.55 per 
share.

The Brunel 
share

7
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Financial calendar

3 May 2024 Trading update for the first quarter 2024
16 May 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
20 May 2024 Ex-dividend listing 
14 June 2024 Dividend available for payment
2 August 2024 Publication half-year 2024 results
1 November 2024 Trading update for the third quarter 2024
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Consolidated profit and loss account 
for the year ended 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000

2023 2022

Revenue (28) 1,330,535 1,181,824
Direct personnel expenses (17) -1,056,953 -929,708
Contribution margin 273,582 252,116

Indirect personnel expenses (17) -147,647 -128,549
Depreciation and amortisation (19) -22,019 -21,328
Other expenses (20) -47,595 -41,365
Total operating costs -217,261 -191,242

Operating profit 56,321 60,874

Exchange differences (21) -2,891 -2,311
Interest income (21) 904 545
Interest expenses (21) -4,232 -1,173
Financial income and expense -6,219 -2,939

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (2) 0 -10,431
Share of profit or loss of associates 
accounted for using the equity method 
(8)

0 0

Group result before tax 50,102 47,504

Tax (22) -17,943 -16,740
Group result for the period 32,159 30,764

Net income attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (ordinary shares)

31,652 29,390

Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest

507 1,374

Net income for the year 32,159 30,764

Basic earnings per share in euro (23) 0.63 0.58
Diluted earnings per share in euro (23) 0.63 0.58

Consolidated balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000, before profit appropriation 

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Non-current assets
Goodwill (3) 44,268 44,443
Other intangible assets (4) 24,657 21,259
Property, plant and equipment (5) 11,952 11,620
Right-of-use assets (6) 37,223 43,962
Financial assets at amortised cost (7) 6,717 8,689
Investments accounted for using the 
equity method (8)

- -

Non-current restricted cash (10) 5,618 8,769
Deferred income tax assets (22) 17,265 14,725
Total non-current assets 147,700 153,467

Current assets

Trade and other receivables (9) 351,374 303,050
Income tax receivables (22) 7,429 2,994
Restricted cash (10) 14,556 6,768
Cash and cash equivalents (10) 90,225 80,861
Total current assets 463,584 393,673

Total assets 611,284 547,140

Group equity (14)
Share capital 1,517 1,517
Share premium 86,145 86,145
Reserves 182,140 187,627
Unappropriated result 31,652 29,390
Shareholders’ equity 301,454 304,679

Non-controlling interest (14) 11,081 13,138

Total equity 312,535 317,817

Non-current liabilities
Provisions (11) 7,129 6,750
Deferred income tax liabilities (22) 2,460 1,782
Lease liability (6) 27,028 32,449
Other non-current liabilities (12) 83,448 32,604
Total non-current liabilities 120,065 73,585

Current liabilities
Lease liability (6) 12,179 13,176
Trade and other payables (13) 150,098 130,629
Income tax payables (22) 16,407 11,933
Total current liabilities 178,684 155,738

Total liabilities 298,749 229,323

Total equity & liabilities 611,284 547,140
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000

2023 2022
Cash flow from operating activities

Result after tax 32,159 30,764

Adjustments for:
Income tax expense (22) 17,943 16,740
Depreciation and amortisation (19) 22,019 21,328
Exchange differences (21) 1,559 1,352
Interest income (21) -904 -545
Interest expense (21) 4,232 1,173
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (2) 0 10,431
Other non-cash expenses (26) 1,482 4,176
Share based payments (15) 1,723 -190
Changes in:
Receivables (24) -53,853 -49,818
Provisions (11) 380 -183
Trade and other payables (25) 7,844 11,467
Restricted cash (10) -5,230 3,790

-50,859 -34,744

Income tax paid (22) -19,193 -23,563
Interest paid -3,379 -754
Interest received 950 165
Cash flow generated from operating activities 7,733 26,333

Cash flow from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (5) -2,998 -3,088
Additions to intangible fixed assets (4) -8,734 -8,183
Disposals of property, plant and equipment (5) 17 49
Disposals of intangible assets (4) 3 0
Acquisition of subsidiaries (1) 0 -733
Disposal of subsidiaries (2) 0 -9,497
Repayment of loans by third parties (7) 402 0
Cash flow used in investing activities -11,311 -21,452

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividend non-controlling interest (14) -2,222 -2,240
Dividend ordinary shareholders (14) -27,721 -22,680
Proceeds from drawing of loans and borrowings (12) 59,968 18,634
Principal elements of lease payments (6) -14,008 -14,731
Cash flow used in financing activities 16,017 -21,017

Total cash flow 12,439 -16,136

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January (10) 80,861 93,757
Exchange rate fluctuations -3,075 3,240
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (10) 90,225 80,861

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000

2023 2022

Net income 32,159 30,764

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations -7,832 9,284
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income (22) 732 -634

-7,100 8,650

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (11) -255 733

-255 733

Total other comprehensive income (net of tax) -7,355 9,383

Total comprehensive income 24,804 40,147

Attributable to:

Ordinary shareholders 24,572 38,625
Non-controlling interest 232 1,522
Total comprehensive income 24,804 40,147
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Participations

Brunel International N.V.’s main participations are listed below. 
These are included in the consolidated Annual accounts of 
Brunel International N.V. Unless otherwise stated, all these 
participations are, directly or indirectly, wholly-owned and 
Brunel has full or over half of the voting power. Some non-
material participations are not included in the list.

Brunel Corporate B.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
Brunel Energy Europe Staff B.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Brunel Nederland B.V., Rotterdam, The Netherlands
Brunel Energy Holding B.V., Rotterdam, The Netherlands
Brunel Energy Europe B.V., Rotterdam, The Netherlands
Brunel Belgium N.V., Mechelen, Belgium
Brunel International UK Ltd, Glasgow, United Kingdom
Celsium Ltd, Birmingham, United Kingdom
Brunel Service GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen, Germany
Brunel GmbH, Bremen, Germany
Brunel Car Synergies GmbH, Bochum, Germany
Brunel International France Srl, Paris, France
Brunel Italia Srl, Milan, Italy
Brunel Energy Norge AS, Stavanger, Norway
Brunel Austria GmbH, Salzburg, Austria
Brunel Switzerland AG, Zürich, Switzerland
Brunel CZ s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic
Brunel Romania Srl, Bucharest, Romania
Brunel Denmark ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark
Brunel Recruitment Kazakhstan LLP, Atyrau, Kazakhstan
Brunel Mozambique Lda, Maputo, Mozambique
Brunel Energy LLC, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Brunel DMCC, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Brunel Oil & Gas Services WLL, (75%) Doha, Qatar
Brunel India Private Ltd, Mumbai, India
Brunel Energy Kuwait WLL, (75%) Farwania, Kuwait
Ishtar Baghdad for General Services LLC, Baghdad, Iraq
Brunel Energy Japan K.K., Tokyo, Japan
Brunel International South East Asia Pte Ltd, Singapore
Brunel Technical Services Pte Ltd, Singapore
Brunel International South East Asia PNG Limited, Port 
Moresby, Papua New Guinea
Brunel Energy Malaysia SDN BHD, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Brunel Energy Korea Ltd, Ulsan, South Korea
Brunel Hong Kong Ltd, Hong Kong, China
Brunel Consultancy Shanghai Ltd, Shanghai, China
Brunel Engineering (Dalian) Ltd, Dalian, China
Brunel Engineering Services (Qingdao) Co. Ltd, Qingdao, China
Brunel Engineering Services (Nantong) Co. Ltd, Nantong, China
Brunel Engineering Services (Yantai) Co, Yantai, China
Brunel Engineering Technology (Tianjin) Co Ltd, Tianjin, China
Brunel Technical Services Thailand Ltd, Bangkok, Thailand
Brunel Vietnam Company Ltd, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
Brunel Myanmar Co. Ltd, Yangon, Myanmar
Brunel Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Perth, Australia
Brunel Energy Pty Ltd, Perth, Australia
Brunel Technical Services Pty Ltd, Perth, Australia

Brunel Construction & Maintenance Services Pty Ltd, Perth, Australia
SES Labour Solutions Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia
SESLS Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia
SES Industrial Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia
SES Resources Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia
Brunel Energy Inc, Houston, Unites States of America
Brunel Resources Inc, Houston, Unites States of America
Brunel Energy Canada Inc, Calgary, Canada
Brunel Energy Servicos Ltda Brasil, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
Brunel Mexico Sa de CV, Mexico City, Mexico
Brunel Atyrau LLP, Atyrau, Kazakhstan
Brunel Kazakhstan LLP, (50%) Atyrau, Kazakhstan
Brunel Guyana Inc, Georgetown, Guyana
Brunel New Zealand Ltd, New Plymouth, New Zealand 
Pt Brunel Service Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia
Brunel Suriname N.V., Paramaribo, Suriname
SEAFox Apollo 1 Limited, (72%) London, United Kingdom
Taylor Hopkinson Limited, (72%) Glasgow, United Kingdom
Taylor Hopkinson Corporation, (72%) Boston, United States of 
America 
Taylor Hopkinson LLC, (72%) Cheyenne, United States of 
America
Taylor Hopkinson Pte Ltd, (72%) Singapore
Taylor Hopkinson Spain SL, (72%) Valencia, Spain
Taylor Hopkinson Taiwan Branch (72%) Taipei, Taiwan
Brunel Taiwan Services Company Ltd, Taipei, Taiwan
Brunel Energy Services Israel Ltd, Tel Aviv, Israel
International Commissioning & Engineering Pte Ltd (51%), 
Singapore
Brunel Energy Services Namibia (Pty) Ltd Windhoek, Namibia

Brunel International UK Ltd (registration number: SC66400) 
is exempt from the audit of its accounts under section 479A 
of the UK Companies Act 2006.

Brunel GmbH (registration number: HRB 16935 HB) has 
made use of the exemptions under Section 264 (3) of the 
German Commercial Code.

Brunel Car Synergies GmbH (registration number: B 31858) 
has made use of the exemptions under Section 264 (3) of the 
German Commercial Code.

Brunel Service GmbH & Co. KG (registration number: HRA 
26399 HB) has made use of the exemptions under Section 
264b of the German Commercial Code.

The company has issued joint and several liability statements 
in accordance with Section 403, Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code for all Dutch subsidiary companies, mainly serving 
as subholding companies.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 
ended 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000

Reserves

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Trans-
lation 

reserve

Share 
based 

pay-
ments

Retained 
earnings

Unappro-
priated 

result

Attributable 
to ordinary 

share-
holders

Non-
control-

ling 
interest

Total

Balance at 
1 January 2022

1,517 86,145 3,511 237 165,827 30,999 288,236 13,693 301,929

Net income - - - - - 29,390 29,390 1,374 30,764
Exchange differences 
arising on translation 
of foreign operations

- - 9,136 - - - 9,136 148 9,284

Actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - 733 - 733 - 733
Income tax relating to 
components of other 
comprehensive income

- - -634 - - - -634 - -634

Total comprehensive 
income

- - 8,502 - 733 29,390 38,625 1,522 40,147

Cash dividend (14) - - - - -22,680 - -22,680 -2,240 -24,920
Share based 
payments (15)

- - - 470 28 - 498 - 498

Acquisition of 
subsidiary (1)

- - - - - - - 163 163

Appropriation of 
result

- - - - 30,999 -30,999 - - -

Balance at 31 
December 2022

1,517 86,145 12,013 707 174,907 29,390 304,679 13,138 317,817

Net income - - - - - 31,652 31,652 507 32,159
Exchange differences 
arising on translation 
of foreign operations

- - -7,557 - - - -7,557 -275 -7,832

Actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - -255 - -255 - -255
Income tax relating to 
components of other 
comprehensive income

- - 732 - - - 732 - 732

Total comprehensive 
income

- - -6,825 - -255 31,652 24,572 232 24,804

Cash dividend (14) - - - - -27,721 - -27,721 -2,222 -29,943

Share based 
payments (15)

- - - -143 - - -143 - -143

Gain on liquidation of 
subsidiary (12)

- - - - 67 - 67 -67 -

Appropriation of result - - - - 29,390 -29,390 - - -
Balance at 31 
December 2023

1,517 86,145 5,188 564 176,388 31,652 301,454 11,081 312,535
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Principles of consolidation

The consolidated Annual accounts include the financial 
information of Brunel International N.V. and its subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries relate to companies controlled directly or 
indirectly by Brunel International N.V. These companies are 
listed on page 127. An investor controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. The 
results of acquired or disposed companies are consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred and the date 
the control is ceased, respectively. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified 
separately from Brunel’s equity therein. Those interests of 
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership 
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of 
net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share 
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 
choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Subsequent to an acquisition, the carrying 
amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those 
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling 
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of 
the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests 
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 
equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest 
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the 
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate 
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Accounting principles for the valuation of 
assets and liabilities and determination of 
profit

Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
all business combinations, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred

• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired 
business

• equity interests issued by the group

• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary

• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement, and

The excess of the:

• consideration transferred,

• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired 
entity, and

• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest 
in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase. Where settlement of any part of cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future 
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. 
The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable 
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified 
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a 
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value, 
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the 
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value 
at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

General notes to the consolidated Annual accounts

General information

Brunel International N.V., registered at the chamber of 
commerce under number 24261450, public limited liability 
company incorporated and domiciled in Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands and listed on the Euronext Amsterdam. 
Approximately 60,05% of the capital interest is held by 
Noverhead Holding Sàrl, a company owned by Brunel’s 
founder Mr. J. Brand.

The head office of the company is located in Amsterdam, the 
address is:

John M. Keynesplein 33
1066 EP Amsterdam 
The Netherlands

The consolidated Annual accounts of Brunel include the 
company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 
‘Brunel’). A summary of the main subsidiaries is included on 
page 127 of this report.

The Annual accounts were signed and authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors and released for publication on 23 
February 2024. The Annual accounts and the dividend 
proposal are subject to adoption by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders on 16 May 2024.

Unless stated otherwise all the information in these Annual 
accounts is in thousands of Euro, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All financial information presented in 
Euro has been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

Brunel’s activities are mainly contracting and recruitment 
services. (more than 90% share in the overall revenue).

Statement of compliance

The Annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union and also comply with the 
financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.

The Annual accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, unless indicated otherwise.

Going concern

Brunel has prepared the financial statements on the basis it 
will continue to operate as a going concern.

Comparative figures

Comparative figures may have been reclassified for the 
comparability purposes. If considered to be material, the 
relevant disclosure has been added to the applicable note.

New and amended standards adopted by 
the group

The group has applied the following amendments for the first 
time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2023:

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

• Definition of Accounting Estimates – amendments to  
IAS 8

• International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – 
amendments to IAS 12. Refer to note 22.

• Deferred tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction – amendments to IAS 12

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 
and IFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the 
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to 
significantly affect the current or future periods

New standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 
2023 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by 
the group. These standards are not expected to have a 
material impact on the group in the current or future 
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
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a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting 
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the 
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying 
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s 
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of 
acquisition. The group’s investment in associates includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition. This equity method 
includes the carrying amount of the investment together 
with all other long-term interests.

Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful 
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial fixed assets
The group classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either 
through OCI or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either 
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on 
whether the group has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI).

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade date, being the date on which the group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and 
the group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

For the write off-policy refer to note 9 of the financial 
statements.

Measurement
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at 
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are 
expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on 
the group’s business model for managing the asset and the 
cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 
measurement categories into which the group classifies its 
debt instruments:

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of 
contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at 
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective 
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and 
presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are 
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss. 

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual 
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income 
and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/

Goodwill
When a company or business is acquired, the acquirer recognises 
goodwill as an asset. Goodwill is recognised for the future 
economic benefits arising from assets acquired that are not 
individually identified and separately recognised. The excess of 
the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Impairment of 
goodwill will be tested at least annually. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not 
result in loss of control are dealt with in equity.

Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those 
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

Goodwill at acquisition date is measured as:

• The fair value of the consideration transferred, being the 
fair value of the assets given and liabilities incurred or 
assumed; plus

• The recognised amount of a non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree; plus

• The fair value of any previous equity interests in the 
acquiree (if the business combination is achieved in 
stages); less

• The fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed (including contingent liabilities).

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated 
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on 
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the 
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is 
not reversed in subsequent periods.

The recoverable amount is based on the higher of the fair 
value less cost of disposal and value in use. The value in use is 
determined by means of cash flow projections based on the 
actual operating results adjusted for non-cash items (mainly 
depreciation) and the expected future performance. The 
latter is based on management’s estimates and assumptions 
of revenue growth and development of operating margins, 
assessed with external data.

Acquisition-related intangible assets
Acquisition-related intangible assets (customer databases 
and trade names) that are acquired by the group and have 
definite useful lives are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. When an intangible 
asset is acquired in a business combination, its cost is the fair 
value at the date of its acquisition. This cost is determined on 
a basis that reflects the estimated amount that the entity 
would have paid for the asset in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable and willing parties, based on the 
best information available. Amortisation of acquisition-
related intangible assets is charged to depreciation and 
amortisation on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives, from the date they are available for use. The 
residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and adjusted, if appropriate. Refer to note 4 
Other intangible assets for further details. 

Software
Acquired software (licences) and developed software are 
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. Expenditures in relation to the 
development of identifiable and unique software products 
used by the group, and that will probably generate economic 
benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as 
intangible assets and amortised over their estimated useful 
lives. Capitalised costs include personnel expenses of 
software development and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overhead. Expenditures associated with maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. Amortisation of software applications is charged to 
depreciation and amortisation on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives, from the date they are available 
for use. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and adjusted, if appropriate. 
Acquired computer software licences are amortised, using 
the straight-line method, over their useful lives.

Property, plant and equipment 
Property plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment is charged to operating 
expenses on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives, from the date they are available for use. Gains and 
losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds 
with the carrying amount and are recognised as other income 
or expenses in the consolidated profit and loss account. 

Investments accounted for using the equity method
Associates are all entities over which the group has 
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
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Restoration provisions are recognised for rented real estate 
objects where the group is, after lease contract expiration, 
liable to bring the object back to its original state. Estimated 
amounts for legal claims are provided for at the lowest 
amount at which the group expects the claim to be 
reasonably settled. Provided amounts for legal claims are 
categorised to be settled within one year after the balance 
sheet date, unless the group has the right to defer 
settlement for more than one year. 

Provision for illness
In accordance with applicable legal requirements, the Group 
recognises liabilities for other long-term employee benefit plans, 
such as schemes related to illness and long-term disability.

Where long–term disability benefit depends on the length of 
service of the employee, an obligation arises as the employee 
renders service, which is to be measured according to the 
probability that payment will be required and the length of 
time for which payment is expected to be made. If, however, 
the level of benefit is the same for all disabled employees 
regardless of years of service, the expected cost is 
recognised only when an event causing disability occurs.

Pension obligations
The group operates various post-employment schemes, 
mostly defined contribution pension plans and two defined 
benefit plans. For defined contributions, the Group’s 
obligation is limited to the payment of these annual 
contributions. The contributions constitute net periodic costs 
for the year in which they are due and are included in 
personnel expenses and/or cost of services. The liability 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms 
of the related obligation.

The interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate 
to the balance of the defined benefit obligation. This cost is 
included in employee benefit expense in the consolidated 
profit and loss account.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other 
comprehensive income. They are included in other reserves 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments 
are recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and 
loss account as past service costs.

Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value 
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds and the amount 
to be repaid is recognised in finance costs during the term of 
the borrowings, using the effective interest method.

Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred. Long-term liabilities are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the consolidated profit and 
loss account over the period of the long-term liabilities using 
the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially stated at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Foreign currency and exchange differences
Monetary balance sheet items denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing 
at the balance sheet date; profit and loss account items are 
translated at the average rates during the financial year. 
Exchange differences relating to transactions in foreign 
currency are recorded in the exchange differences.

Exchange differences due to the consolidation of foreign 
companies are charged or credited directly in other 
comprehensive income to the translation reserve. 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated Annual accounts, 
the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are 
translated into Euro using exchange rates prevailing at the end 
of each reporting period. Income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 

Functional and presentation currency
The group operates in countries with different currencies. All 
companies have, as their functional currency, the local 

(losses), and impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised 
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is 
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments
The group subsequently measures all equity investments at 
fair value. Where the group’s management has elected to 
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in 
OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value 
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition 
of the investment. Dividends from such investments 
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income 
when the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are 
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit 
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI 
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Put and call options
Brunel from time to time enters into put-call option 
arrangements as part of acquisition transactions. The 
present value of the portion of the put and call options that is 
unconditional upon recognition is recorded as a liability as 
per the date of the contractual agreement, with the 
corresponding loss being recognised directly in equity. The 
group initially recognises put/call option assets and liabilities 
over non-controlling interest at the present value of the 
expected redemption value. Subsequently they are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Where the exercise price of the option is conditional 
and requires continued service by the holders of the non-
controlling interest, it is accounted for as a post-combination 
benefit in accordance with IAS 19. 

Impairment of financial fixed assets
The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified 
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 
receivables, see note 9 for further details.

Trade receivable and other receivables 
Trade receivable and other receivables are initially measured 
at the amount of the transaction price. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised costs less provision for 
impairment. For the provision for impairment, the group 
applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring 
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of 
sales over a period of 36 months before 1 January 2023 and 
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within 
this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic 
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables.

In addition to the expected credit loss assessment the group 
also applies judgement for the write-off of receivables where 
it is reasonably certain that the collection will not take place.  

Contract assets and liabilities
In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the fixed 
amount based on a payment schedule. If the services 
rendered by the group exceed the payment, a contract asset 
is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, 
a contract liability is recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits 
held at call with banks. For the purpose of presentation in the 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, 
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in trade and 
other payables in the balance sheet. If the cash in hand and/
or deposits do not meet the criteria of cash and cash 
equivalents, it is classified as restricted cash.

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised for legally enforceable or 
constructive obligations as a result of a past event and for 
which the settlement is likely to require an outflow of 
resources and to the extent these can be reliably estimated. 
If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at an interest 
rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the obligation.
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asset with an alternative use and the group has an enforceable 
right to payment for performance completed to date. The 
group recognises the fixed price contract revenue over time.

The revenue is measured at the amount of consideration to 
which the group expects to be entitled to. While deferred 
payment terms may be agreed in rare circumstances, the 
deferral never exceeds four months. The transaction price is 
therefore not adjusted for the effects of a significant 
financing component.  

Rendering of services
Under rendering of services the performance obligation is 
providing temporary personnel. The following types of 
revenue are recognised;

• Contracting revenue (rendering of services) whereby 
hours or days worked at agreed rates during the financial 
reporting period are recognised as revenue. This includes 
reimbursable expenses related revenue in cases where the 
group acts as a principal are recognised as a gross 
amount (including true up) upon recognition of the 
reimbursable costs, this service is contractually part of 
the contracting revenue.

• Recruitment revenue relates to revenue for the 
recruitment of employees for third parties.

• Other revenue such as in cases where the group acts as 
an agent, revenues are reported on a net basis, when the 
service is rendered.

The group uses practical expedient and does not disclose 
the amount of the remaining performance obligations for 
contracts with original expected duration of less than one 
year in accordance with IFRS 15.B16.

Direct and indirect personnel expenses
Direct personnel expenses relate to costs attributed directly 
to the services provided. Indirect personnel expenses relate 
to costs attributed directly to the group’s internal staff.

Contribution margin
Contribution margin is defined as revenue minus direct 
personnel expenses.

Exchange differences 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate applicable at the 
date of the transactions. Currency translation differences 
resulting from the settlement of these transactions and the 
translation of the monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency at the balance sheet date 

are recognised in the exchange differences in the 
consolidated profit and loss account.

Foreign exchange differences relating to bank balances are 
recorded in the financial income and expense, other foreign 
exchange differences are recorded in the operating profit.

Interest income and expenses
Interest income comprises interest received on outstanding 
deposits and interest costs comprise interest due on funds 
drawn, calculated using the effective interest method and 
interest on lease liabilities, calculated using the incremental 
borrowing rate. 

Retirement benefit costs
Pension plans prevailing within the group are mostly defined 
contribution plans, which are funded through payments to 
independent entities. The group has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if 
these separate entities do not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employees the pension benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. The regular 
contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in 
which they are due and are included within direct and 
indirect personnel expenses.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an 
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is 
intended to compensate, are expensed. 

Government grants where the primary condition is that the 
group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are 
recognised as deferred income in the Annual accounts and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful lives of the related assets. 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the group with no 
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they become receivable.

currency of the country in which they operate, which is their 
primary economic environment. The functional currency of 
the parent company, as well as of the majority of its 
subsidiaries, is the Euro. 

The translation reserve comprises all translation differences 
arising from the translation of the net investment in activities 
in currencies other than the Euro. Such translation 
differences are recognised initially in other comprehensive 
income and presented in this separate component of 
shareholders’ equity and recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss on disposal of the net 
investment. The translation reserve also includes the tax 
effect on translation differences. 

Repurchase and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the 
amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a 
deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as 
treasury shares and are presented in the reserves. When 
treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the 
amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and 
the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is 
presented in share premium.

Share-based payments related to long-term incentive plan
Brunel has a share-based payment arrangement under which 
a performance share plan is offered to the senior 
management (excluding Board of Directors) of the company. 
These awards are settled in ordinary shares.

The fair value of deferred shares granted to employees for nil 
consideration under the short-term incentive scheme is 
recognised as an expense over the relevant service period, 
being the year to which the bonus relates and the vesting 
period of the shares. The fair value is measured at the grant 
date of the shares and is recognised in equity in the share-
based payment reserve. The fair value is calculated based on 
the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The number of 
shares expected to vest is estimated based on the non-
market vesting conditions. The estimates are revised at the 
end of each reporting period, and adjustments are recognised 
in profit or loss and the share-based payment reserve.

Where shares are forfeited due to failure by the employee to 
satisfy the service or non-market vesting conditions, any 
expenses previously recognised in relation to such shares are 
reversed effective from the date of the forfeiture.

The deferred shares are acquired by the Brunel International 
N.V. in June 2021 and are held as treasury shares until such 
time as they are vested. 

Share Appreciation Rights (SAR)
The SAR scheme is a cash settled plan. The fair value of these 
SAR’s is charged to the indirect personnel expenses from the 
grant date through vesting date. The fair value of the SAR is 
determined at every year-end based on the Black-Scholes 
option valuation model. At each balance sheet date, the 
group revises its estimates of the number of SAR’s that are 
expected to become exercisable subject to continued 
employment based on this non-market vesting condition. 
The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is 
recognised in the indirect personnel expenses with a 
corresponding entry to liabilities.

The SAR liability relates to SAR’s granted by the group to its 
employees under its SAR scheme.

The SAR’s granted are conditional upon continued 
employment. The vesting period is three years. The SAR’s 
can be exercised during two years after vesting on condition 
that the employee is still in the service of the company. 

Due to the cash settlement method of the SAR’s, the rights 
are subject to a mark-to-market valuation exercise to 
measure the fair value on the specific balance date. When 
(re)measuring the fair value on the reporting date, the 
expected life of the right is determined based on the 
expectation regarding exercise behaviour of the participants. 
Exercise behaviour is influenced by for example share price 
development.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The group recognises revenue for contracting and 
secondment over time as the group’s customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes all of the benefits 
provided by the group. When the group is the principal in a 
transaction and thus controls a promised service 
(employment of contractors) before transferring that service 
to clients (hours worked), the transactions are recorded 
gross in the consolidated profit and loss account. If the 
group acts as an agent and is not the employer and thus only 
arranges for another party to provide services to customers, 
revenues are reported on a net basis.

Recruitment revenue is recognised once the service has 
been completed, being in principle when the candidate 
starts and the customers starts to benefit from the group’s 
services. 

For fixed price contracts, the group takes on the 
responsibility for the execution (on top of supplying 
manpower). In some cases the group creates or enhances 
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is enhanced 
or created. In other cases the group does not create an 
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Extensions and termination options are included in a number 
of property, cars and other office equipment leases across 
the group. These are used to maximise the operational 
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the group’s 
operations. The majority of extension and termination 
options held are exercisable only by the group and not by the 
respective lessor.

In determining the lease term, management considers all 
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination 
option. Extension options (or periods after termination 
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

For leases of property the following factors are normally the 
most relevant:

• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not 
extend), the group is typically reasonably certain to 
extend (or not terminate);

• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a 
significant remaining value, the group is typically 
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate);

• Otherwise, the group considers other factors including 
historical lease durations and the costs and business 
disruption required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension options in cars and other office equipment 
leases have not been included in the lease liability, because 
the group could replace the assets without significant cost 
or business disruption.

Taxation
The tax expense for the period comprises current and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated profit and 
loss account, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of 
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date in the countries where the company and its 
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes tax 
liabilities where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
consolidated profit and loss account because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 
other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using applicable rates. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Annual 
accounts and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, 
except when it relates to funding items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the related deferred tax is 
also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 
the balances on a net basis.

Accounting principles for determining the 
consolidated cash flow statement

The consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared 
according to the indirect method, whereby profit or loss is 
adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, 
any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash 
receipts or payments including paid or received interest, and 
items of income or expense associated with investing or 
financing cash flows.

Leases 
The group leases various offices, cars and other office 
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed 
periods of 6 months to 8 years but may have extension 
options as described below.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease 
components. The group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on 
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of 
property where the group is a lessee and the consideration 
on lease and non-lease components or the stand-alone 
prices are not clearly stated, it has elected not to separate 
lease and non-lease components and instead account for 
these as a single component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The 
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than 
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the 
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use-asset and a 
corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include 
the net present value of the following lease payments:

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), 
less any lease incentives receivable;

• Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

• Amounts expected to be payable by the group under 
residual value guarantees;

• The exercise price of a purchase option if the group is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain 
extension options are also included in the measurement of 
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 

determined, which is generally the case for leases in the 
group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being 
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to 
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar 
value to the right-of-use-asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the group:

• Uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free 
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the 
individual lessee, which does not have recent third party 
financing; and

• Makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, 
country, currency and security.

The group is exposed to potential future increases in variable 
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not 
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When 
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate 
take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted 
against the right-of-use-asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance 
costs. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use-assets are measured at cost comprising the 
following:

• The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• Any lease payments made at or before commencement 
date less any lease incentives received;

• Any initial direct costs; and

• Restoration costs.

Right-of-use-assets are generally depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of property, 
cars and other office equipment and all leases of low-value 
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a term of 
12 months or less. Low value assets comprise IT equipment 
and small items of office furniture.

Some property leases contain variable payment terms, 
usually subject to inflation corrections.
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•  maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets 
to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the 
group monitors capital on the basis of the net cash/(debt) 
position:

At year-end 2023 Brunel’s net cash/(debt) balances are as 
follows:

Capital risk management 2023 2022
Non-current restricted cash (10) 5,618 8,769
Restricted cash (10) 14,556 6,768
Cash and cash equivalents (10) 90,225 80,861
Loans and borrowings -78,590 -18,634
Total net cash/(debt), excluding 
lease liabilities

31,809 77,764

Under the terms of the bank loan the group is required to comply 
with financial covenants (refer to note 12) The group complied 
with these covenants throughout the reporting period. 

The dividend policy of the group is aimed at maximising the 
distributions to the shareholders, while reserving enough 
capital to ensure the ability to continue as a going concern 
and to fund planned growth. 

The group’s strategy is to use existing cash and cash flows 
instead of long-term credit facilities to finance further 
growth. Refer to note 14 for the final dividends. 

No changes compared to the previous period with relation to 
the capital management strategy. 

Financial risk management

Brunel’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks, 
including foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 
The group’s overall risk management programme focuses to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the group. This programme is implemented 
and carried out under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors.

Liquidity risk

Brunel maintains sufficient cash to fund its ongoing 
operations. In addition the company has availability of 
funding through a committed credit facility to minimise 
liquidity risk (refer to note 12). Within the group derivative 
financial instruments are not used nor are hedging activities 
undertaken. The department Corporate Finance & Control 
monitors the worldwide cash position. For the maturity 
analysis on leases, trade account receivable and provisions, 
refer to notes 6, 9 and 11.

Accounting principles for segment reporting

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of 
internal reports about components of the group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in 
order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess 
their performance. Chief operating decision maker consists 
of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and 
the chief operating officer. Information reported to the 
group’s chief operating decision maker is focused at 
components engaged in providing services in a particular 
economic environment and line of business from those of 
other segments. A geographical segment is engaged in 
providing services in a particular economic environment 
which are subject to risks and returns that are different from 
those segments operating in other economic environments.

The group attributes revenue to countries based on the 
geographical location of the entity that delivers the service. 
In vast majority of cases this location is the same as where 
our professionals perform work for our clients. 

The main operating segments are: DACH (Germany, Austria, 
Switzerland and Czech Republic), The Netherlands, 
Americas, Australasia, Europe & Africa, Middle East & India, 
Asia and Taylor Hopkinson. This is the basis on which internal 
reports are provided to the chief operating decision maker 
for assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources within the group. All regions exceeding 10% of 
total revenue, EBIT or assets are reported separately. The 
remaining regions are combined in Rest of World.

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions 
and judgments

In the preparation of Annual accounts, management makes 
certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting reported amounts will, 
by definition, rarely equal the related actual outcome. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and various other factors, 
including expectations of future events, which are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The following 
estimates, assumptions and judgments have an inherent 
significant risk of potentially causing material adjustments to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision only affects that period or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

Impairment of assets 
The group tests whether intangible assets have suffered any 
impairment, in case of triggering events and at least annually 
for goodwill. Other assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.The recoverable 
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined 
using, amongst other instruments, value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations require the use of estimates. Based on 
these impairment tests, impairment losses, if any, are 
identified. However, should the actual performance of these 
cash-generating units become materially worse compared to 
the performance based on the estimates, possible 
impairment losses could arise, or could deviate from the 
detected impairment losses. This impairment loss or 
deviation could have impact on the carrying amounts of the 
intangible assets. For the impairment testing of goodwill, 
refer to note 3.

Recoverability of receivables
The group has receivables on third parties in numerous 
countries. Significant judgment is required in determining the 
collectability of the receivables. The group applies the IFRS 9 
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. Refer to note 9.

Deferred income taxes
The group is subject to income taxes in numerous 
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining 
the worldwide deferred tax asset on, amongst other items, 
tax losses carry-forward. There are many uncertain factors 
that influence the amount of the tax losses carry-forward, 
especially the expected future taxable profits. The group 
recognises deferred tax assets on tax losses carry forward 
based on their best estimates. When the actual results are 
different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such 
differences will impact the income tax in the consolidated 
profit and loss account and the deferred tax assets and/or 
deferred tax liabilities in the period in which these deviations 
occur. Refer to note 22.

Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

•  safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, and
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no bankruptcy or court ruling has occurred, the group will 
continue chasing debtors to receive the outstanding 
amount. As per 31 December 2023 the largest receivable 
against a single counterparty amounted to EUR 22.9 million 
(31 December 2022: EUR 17.0 million). For 2023, largest 
revenue from transactions with a single external customer 
amounted to EUR 95.1 million (2022: EUR 60.7 million).

The group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the credit 
loss rates, by calculating multiple scenarios, which gave no 
reason to increase the credit loss rates. Also, compared to 

2022, there are no material changes in the (relative) amounts 
in the aging buckets, meaning the aging of the accounts 
receivables has not significantly changed, where the biggest 
portion is in the first buckets (67% is not due yet, and 17% is 
overdue by 1 month). The total days outstanding (TDO) has 
slightly increased compared to 2022. In discussions with the 
group’s most significant clients, no indications of 
uncollectibility were received.

The maturities of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2023 
are expected to be:

Carrying 
amount

Within 1 year 2 - 5 years More than 5 
years

Lease liabilities 39,207 12,179 23,581 3,447
Loans and borrowings 78,590 0 78,590 0
Put-option liabilities 13,192 8,334 4,858 0
Trade and other payables 140,285 140,285 0 0
Other liabilities 1,479 1,479 0
Total financial liabilities 272,754 162,277 107,029 3,447

Interest rate risk

Due to the nature of the group’s business the operating cash 
flows are substantially independent of changes in market 
interest rates. 

The general policy is to keep interest rates on net debt floating 
as much as possible. We believe this adds value for shareholders 
in the long term, as over time floating interest rates are on 
average significantly lower than fixed interest rates. 

If the interest rate had been 1 percentage point higher on 
average during 2023, with all other variables held constant, 
net interest expenses for the year would have increased by 
EUR 0.6 million. If the interest rate had been 2 percentage 
points higher on average during 2023, with all other variables 
held constant, net interest expenses for the year would have 
increased by EUR 1.3 million. 

For the year 2024 we do not expect the financial structure to 
change significantly.

Foreign exchange risk
x EUR 1,000

Currency fluctuations affect the consolidated results, 
because a portion of the cash flow is generated in other 
currencies than Euro. The group limits the foreign exchange 
risk by maintaining a back-to-back policy, meaning that the 
management strives to have both income and expenses to 
be generated locally in the same currency. Due to the 

back-to-back policy, the foreign exchange risk of the group 
is limited to the exchange risk over the results in foreign 
currencies and the trade receivable and cash positions in 
foreign currencies. The foreign currencies that can have a 
material effect on the consolidated profit and loss account of 
the group are the US dollar and the Australian dollar. The 
carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date are as follows:

Assets 
31 December

Liabilities 
31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022

US Dollar 110,139 74,458 10,894 9,424
Australian Dollar 30,590 26,263 8,558 6,242

140,729 100,721 19,452 15,666

The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% 
increase and decrease in the Euro against the relevant 
foreign currencies. These percentages represent 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period 

end for a change in foreign currency rates. A positive number 
below indicates an increase in profit and other equity when 
the Euro weakens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 
10% strengthening of the Euro against the relevant currency, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit 
and other equity, and the balances below would be 
negative.

US dollar 
Impact

Australian dollar 
Impact

2023 2022 2023 2022

Profit or loss 648 482 -74 17
Other equity 5,236 4,394 2,307 2,218
Total equity 5,884 4,876 2,233 2,235

Revenue 22,101 19,175 14,825 13,606

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default 
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
group. The group has no significant concentrations of credit 
risk. The most important items on the consolidated balance 
sheet that are imposed to credit risk are the trade and other 
receivables. The trade accounts receivable include an 
allowance for expected credit losses (refer to note 9). 

Generally, services are provided to large and financially 
strong companies. In order to minimise credit risk exposure 
Brunel intensively monitors the payment behaviour of its 
customers. Internal policies limit the amount of credit 
exposure to any financial institution. Despite these internal 
procedures, uncollectible debts cannot be ruled out, but the 
risk of a material erosion of the operating profit is small. 
Receivables will be written-off when clearly uncollectible due 
to bankruptcy or other similar factors. In any case, as long as 
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million and EBIT of EUR -0.1 million to the group for the 
period from 12 September 2022 up to 31 December 2022.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022, the 
business would have contributed revenues of EUR 0.2 million 
and EBIT of -0.4 million respectively. 

 
2.  Divestment of operations

In the 2022 a decision was made to exit Russia. As a result, 
the following entities were sold to local management: 

• Brunel CR B.V.

• Brunel PEA Llc

• Brunel RUS Llc

• Brunel UBK LLC

• BRNL Recruitment Private Employment Agency LLC

The sale took place and control passed to local management 
on 20 June 2022 as per the share purchase agreement. 

The result on the sale is calculated as follows:

Amounts

Goodwill 267 
Other intangible assets 165 
Property, plant & equipment 207 
Right-of-use assets 775 
Trade and other receivables 17,314 
Cash and cash equivalents 9,497 
Other current liabilities (7,152)
Net assets disposed 21,073 
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (9,430)
Reclassification of foreign currency Translation 
reserve

(614)

Intercompany loan waiver (598)
Total loss on disposal 10,431
 

Considering that the movement of cash from Russia was not 
possible at the moment of the sale, the company did not 
receive any proceeds from the transaction. The proceeds are 
included within loan receivables from third parties as 
disclosed in note 7.

Cash flow from disposal:

Amounts

Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries -
Net cash disposed included in working capital -9,497 
Statement of cash flows, disposal of 
subsidiaries

-9,497

 

The financial performance and cash flow information 
presented are for the five months ended 31 May 2022. 

Financial performance: 

2022

Revenue 18,198
Cost of sales -15,538 
Expenses -2,399 
Profit before income tax 261 
Income tax -84 
Net income for the year 177 

Cash position: 

2022

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities

3,351 

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities -61 
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing 
activities

-116 

Net increase in cash generated (utilized) by 
the subsidiary 

3,175 

 

Notes to the consolidated Annual accounts

1.  Business combinations 

Acquisition of ICE

On 12 September 2022 the Brunel Energy Holding B.V. 
acquired 51% of the issued share capital of International 
Commissioning and Engineering Pte. Ltd. (‘ICE’).

Established in 2007, ICE is a Project Risk Assurance and 
Commissioning & Start-Up company which specializes in the 
coordination and delivery of large-scale Oil & Gas, 
Infrastructure and Energy projects. Headquartered in 
Singapore, ICE’s management services span the complete 
project lifecycle, providing effective oversight and assurance 
across all phases from initial assessment through to 
construction, commissioning, and operation.

By combining ICE’s specialist project assurance, execution & 
delivery expertise with Brunel’s existing global recruitment, 
workforce and mobilisation services, the organisation plans 
to offer a unique fusion of the two capabilities.

In the acquisition, Brunel acquired control over ICE by 
acquiring 51% of the stake which consists of 127,500 
ordinary shares. Fair value of the acquisition compensation 
amounted to EUR 2.2 million, out of which EUR 0.7 million 
has been paid as of the acquisition date. Remaining 
payments are spread over the period of 5 years..

The company has entered into a put / call option agreement 
with the non-controlling interest of ICE to acquire the 
remaining 49% shares over the period of 3 years. The 49% 
stake consists of 122,500 ordinary shares – it has been 
considered as a non-controlling interest. The agreement 
requires continuous employment of the non-controlling 
interest of ICE, accounted for in line with IAS 19.

The 49% stake is treated as a non-controlling interest, as the 
terms and conditions of the put / call option does not result 
in the transfer of the risks and rewards of the remaining 49% 
to Brunel.

The expectation of the amount to be paid for the future 
services as part of continuous employment was EUR 7.4 
million to be paid over three years starting from year three of 
the share purchase agreement. The basis for determining the 
amount of payment is expected performance ICE, in 
particular EBITDA and gross profit. 
 

Based on the estimated pay-out no accrual was recognized 
during the year 2023.

Brunel controls the entity and is exposed to and has rights to 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can 
affect these returns through its power to direct its activities. 
ICE is fully consolidated from the date on which control was 
transferred to the group.

The fair value of the assets and liabilities arising from the 
above-mentioned acquisition of ICE, based on the purchase 
price allocation, can be summarized as follows: 

Disclosure note Amounts

Cash 12
Trade receivables 34
Other receivables and prepayments 6
Software 187
Property 1,814
Tradename 288
Trade payables -17
Other current liabilities -1,814
Deferred tax liability -182
Net identifiable assets acquired 328
Less: non-controlling interest -161
Add: goodwill 2,056
Purchase consideration 2,223
Net cash acquired included in the working 
capital

-12

Fair value of the deferred consideration -1,479
Statement of cash flows, acquisition of 
subsidiaries

733

(*) Property Plant and Equipment includes an office building (held for sale) 
which will be sold and the proceeds from the sale will be used to settle the 
Long term liabilities. As per the share purchase agreement all gains or losses 
on the sale of the property and repayment of the associated liability are the 
responsibility of the seller. 

All acquired cash is operational.

The goodwill is attributable to the synergies with the 
acquired business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

The group elected to recognise the non-controlling interests at 
its proportionate share of the acquired net identifiable assets. 

The acquired business has contributed revenues of EUR 0.2 
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Key assumptions for 2024-2028 (2023-2027) used in 
calculation of the value in use for the cash-generating unit 
Brunel Australasia are:

2023 2022

Revenue growth 9.6% 8.0%
Budgeted contribution margin 16.5% 17.8%
Operating costs increase 8.4% 4.8%
Terminal growth rate 3.0% 3.0%
Pre tax discount factor 27.9% 22.1%
Depreciations and investments 
plans

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Key assumptions for 2024-2028 (2023-2027) used in 
calculation of the value in use for the cash-generating unit 
Brunel DACH are:

2023 2022

Revenue growth 10.0% 8.2%
Budgeted contribution margin 34.0% 35.0%
Operating costs increase 3.0% 6.2%
Terminal growth rate 2.0% 0.0%
Pre tax discount factor 13.7% 15.1%
Depreciations and investments 
plans

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Key assumptions for 2024-2028 (2023-2027) used in 
calculation of the value in use for the cash-generating unit 
Taylor Hopkinson are:

2023 2022
Revenue growth 10.0% 14.9%
Budgeted contribution margin 29.1% 24.3%
Operating costs increase 10.4% 14.5%
Terminal growth rate 2.0% 2.0%
Pre tax discount factor 15.6% 15.7%
Depreciations and investments 
plans

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

All cash-generating units have sufficient headroom available 
to cover variations in assumptions.
 

4.  Other intangible assets

The other intangible assets consist of the following:

2023 2022

Software 19,738 14,795
Trade names 623 1,102
Customer databases 4,296 5,361
Balance at 31 December 24,657 21,259

The amortisation rates are as follows:

• Software: 20-40% per annum

• Trade name Taylor Hopkinson: 33.33% per annum

• Trade name ICE: 20% per annum

• Customer database Taylor Hopkinson: Permanent 
employee placements 20% per annum, contract 
employee placements 14.3% per annum.

Residual values are considered to be zero.

3.  Goodwill 

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 44,920 42,864
Accumulated impairment and 
exchange rate movements

-477 -312

Balance at 1 January 44,443 42,552

Changes in carrying amount:
Additions 0 2,056
Exchange rate movements -175 -165
Balance at 31 December 44,268 44,443

At cost at 31 December 44,920 44,920
Accumulated impairment and 
exchange rate movements

-652 -477

Balance at 31 December 44,268 44,443

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes 
to the following cash-generating units:

2023 2022

Brunel Americas 5,010 1,138
Middle East & India 244 0
The Netherlands 2,827 0
Brunel Australasia 4,706 4,500
Brunel DACH 6,335 2,844
Brunel Europe & Africa 1,053 0
Asia 6,385 2,065
Taylor Hopkinson 17,708 33,896
Balance at 31 December 44,268 44,443

During the year 2023 a change in the reporting structure of 
Taylor Hopkinson triggered a re-allocation of the goodwill to 
the other cash generating units. The re-allocation was 
performed based on the relative value approach. 
In 2022 the addition in goodwill of EUR 2.1 million is related 
to the acquisition of ICE.

Impairment testing

In the financial year the company assessed the recoverable 
amount of goodwill. The recoverable amount of the main 
cash-generating units for which goodwill is capitalised is 
based on value in use. The value in use is determined by 
means of cash flow projections based on the actual 
operating results adjusted for non-cash items (mainly 
depreciation) and the expected future performance. The 
latter is based on management’s estimates and assumptions 
of revenue growth and development of operating margins, 
assessed with external data. The forecasted cash flows have 
been derived from the budget 2024.
 
The value in use of the cash-generating units resulted in no 
impairment compared to the carrying amount as at 31 
December 2023. 

Management has projected cash flow forecasts over a period 
of five years. The annual budget is used as a basis for the 
projection in the first year whereas key assumptions were 
applied for the extrapolation of the results to the period after 
the first year.

Key assumptions for 2024-2028 (2023-2027) used in 
calculation of the value in use for the cash-generating unit 
Brunel Americas are:

2023 2022

Revenue growth 15.0% 17.2%
Budgeted contribution margin 15.1% 15.5%
Operating costs increase 10.5% 12.2%
Terminal growth rate 2.0% 2.0%
Pre tax discount factor 22.0% 16.8%
Depreciations and investments 
plans

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments

Depreciations 
are used for 

new or 
replacing 

investments
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5.  Property, plant and equipment

Movements during the year:

Office equipment Computer systems Property Total

At cost at 1 January 26,687 6,482 0 33,169
Accumulated depreciation -19,274 -4,560 0 -23,834
Balance at 1 January 2022 7,413 1,922 0 9,335

Changes in carrying amount: 
Additions 1,932 1,156 0 3,088
Through business combinations 0 0 1,814 1,814
Disposals -11 -45 0 -56
Depreciation -1,577 -785 0 -2,362
Exchange rate -134 -65 0 -199
Total changes 2022 210 261 1,814 2,285

At cost at 31 December 27,821 7,249 1,814 36,884
Accumulated depreciation -20,198 -5,067 0 -25,265
Balance at 31 December 2022 7,623 2,183 1,814 11,620

Changes in carrying amount: 
Additions 2,053 945 0 2,998
Disposals -12 -4 0 -16
Depreciation -1,667 -872 0 -2,539
Exchange rate -104 -7 0 -111
Total changes 2023 270 62 0 332

At cost at 31 December 29,565 7,725 1,814 39,104
Accumulated depreciation -21,672 -5,480 0 -27,152
Balance at 31 December 2023 7,893 2,245 1,814 11,952

Depreciation rate 20-40% 20-40% 20-40% 20-40%

No leased items are included in property, plant and 
equipment. Residual values are considered to be zero. The 
carrying amount equals the estimated fair value of the 
assets.

In 2023 part of the property, plant and equipment with an at 
cost value of EUR 429 (2022: EUR 1,159) that was fully 
depreciated has been written off from both the at cost value 
and the accumulated depreciation.
 

Software

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 50,646 42,528
Accumulated amortisation -35,850 -32,701
Balance at 1 January 14,795 9,827

Changes in carrying amount: 
Additions 8,734 8,183
Through business combinations 0 187
Through divestments 0 -165
Disposals -3 0
Amortisation -3,790 -3,272
Exchange rate 2 35
Total changes 4,943 4,968

At cost at 31 December 58,863 50,646
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

-39,125 -35,850

Balance at 31 December 19,738 14,795

Software mainly includes financial and business supporting 
software acquired. The average remaining amortisation 
period is three years.

In 2023 a part of the software with an at cost value of EUR 
482 (2022: 159) that was fully amortised has been written 
off from both the at cost value and the accumulated 
impairment.

Trade names

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 1,509 1,221
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

-407 0

Balance at 1 January 1,102 1,221

Changes in carrying amount:
Additions 0 282
Amortisation -479 -407
Exchange rate 0 6
Balance at 31 December 623 1,102

At cost at 31 December 1,509 1,509
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

-886 -407

Balance at 31 December 623 1,102

The additions for the year 2022 relate to intangible assets 
recognised as part of the acquisition of ICE with a value of 
EUR 282.

Customer databases

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 6,426 6,426
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

-1,065 0

Balance at 1 January 5,361 6,426

Changes in carrying amount:
Amortisation -1,065 -1,065
Balance at 31 December 4,296 5,361

At cost at 31 December 6,426 6,426
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

-2,130 -1,065

Balance at 31 December 4,296 5,361
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Maturity analysis

The tables below show the group’s lease liabilities and their 

respective maturity groupings. Tables include the effect of 
discounting which is not material.

Maturity 2023 Property Cars Others Total lease liabilities

Less than 1 year 9,454 2,690 35 12,179
Between 1 and 2 years 7,263 2,195 30 9,488
Between 2 and 3 years 6,490 842 26 7,358
Between 3 and 4 years 3,830 - 13 3,843
Between 4 and 5 years 2,892 - - 2,892
More than 5 years 3,447 - - 3,447
Total 33,376 5,727 104 39,207

Maturity 2022 Property Cars Others Total lease liabilities

Less than 1 year 11,047 2,104 24 13,175
Between 1 and 2 years 9,166 1,376 16 10,558
Between 2 and 3 years 6,883 70 12 6,965
Between 3 and 4 years 5,777 - 11 5,788
Between 4 and 5 years 2,685 - 8 2,693
More than 5 years 6,445 - - 6,445
Total 42,003 3,550 71 45,624

 

7.  Financial assets at amortised cost

The financial fixed assets are measured at amortised cost 
and consist of the following:

2023 2022

Loans receivable from third parties 6,116 8,077
Loans receivable from minority 
shareholders

601 612

Balance at 31 December 6,717 8,689

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 8,077 0
Additions at fair value 0 8,077
Redemptions -402 0
Unwind of discount 920 0
Remeasurement loss -920 0
Exchange rate movements -1,559 0
Balance at 31 December 6,116 8,077

The loans receivable from third parties are related to the 
proceeds on the divestment of Russia in 2022 (refer to note 
2), and existing financing arrangements provided to the 
disposed entities for the purpose of working capital which 
are continued under the new ownership. Originally the loans 
were to be repaid in four equal annual installments, with the 
first payment scheduled on 31 December 2023. In 2023, a 
revised payment plan was agreed with the counterparties. 
The new payment plan consists of monthly installments that 
will result in full repayment by December 2026. In 2023 

6.  Leases

This note provides information for leases where the group is 
a lessee.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to 
leases:

2023 2022
Right of use asset
Right of use asset - Property 31,517 40,421
Right of use asset - Cars 5,606 3,471
Right of use asset - Others 100 70
Total 37,223 43,962

Lease liability
Current 12,179 13,176
Non-current 27,028 32,449
Total 39,207 45,625

Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2023 amount to 
EUR 0.4 million (2022: EUR 10.4 million), of which EUR 0.3 
million (2022: EUR 9.7 million) relates to property and EUR 
0.1 million relates to cars and other leases (2022: EUR 0.7 
million each). Lease remeasurements, that mainly relate to 
lease modifications, amount to EUR 5.7 million (2022: EUR 
7.7 million), consisting of EUR 2.3 million (2022: EUR 6.4 
million) increase in property and EUR 3.3 million (2022: EUR 
1.4 million) increase in cars.

During the current financial year, the financial effect of 
revising lease terms to reflect the effect of exercising 
extension and termination options has already been reflected 
in the lease liability for properties as it is reasonably certain 
that these extension options will be exercised, and 
termination options will not the exercised. Lease extensions 
on cars and other office equipment are not expected to have 
a significant impact, as assets can be easily replaced with 
little cost to the group. Lease payments for some contracts 
include inflationary increases, but there are no other variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or rate.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated profit and loss 
account
The consolidated profit and loss account shows the following 
amounts related to leases:

Depreciation charge of 
right-of-use asset

2023 2022

Property -11,645 -10,974
Cars -2,465 -3,203
Other -37 -45
Total -14,147 -14,222

Interest expense (included in 
financial Income & expense)

-550 -454

Expense relating to Short-term 
and low-value leases (included in 
note 17 - direct employee 
expenses)

-4,207 -4,305

Expense relating to Short-term 
and low-value leases (part of 
operating costs)

-3,052 -2,366

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was EUR 18.3 
million (2022: EUR 17.5 million), of which EUR 14.0 million 
(2022: EUR 14.7 million) are principal elements of 
recognised lease liabilities.
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Summarised statement of 
comprehensive income

2023 2022

Revenue 0 0
Profit / (loss) for the period 0 0

As Brunel’s interest in IBR Solucões Limitada has been 
impaired and Brunel does not have any further legal or 
constructive obligations to make payments to or on behalf of 
IBR Solucões Limitada, additional losses are no longer 
recognised.

9.  Trade and other receivables 

The trade and other receivables consist of the following:

2023 2022

Trade accounts receivables 330,181 285,547
Less: allowance for expected 
credit losses

-2,156 -2,717

Trade accounts receivables, net 
of expected credit losses

328,024 282,829

Prepayments 7,097 6,441
Other receivables 16,252 13,780
Balance at 31 December 351,374 303,050

All receivables have an expected term of less than one year. 
The carrying amount of these receivables equals the fair 
value.

The trade accounts receivables are hold-to-collect 
contractual cash flows and consist of balances that are billed 
and in the process of being billed to the group’s customers. 

The billed and unbilled portions have substantially the same 
risk characteristics. Performance obligations on the unbilled 
receivables have been met, the billing is only conditional on 
the passage of time. 

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure 
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. The expected loss rates 
are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 

36 month before 1 January 2023 and the corresponding 
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The 
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables 
and other known matters. 

The group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the credit 
loss rates, by calculating multiple scenarios, which gave no 
reason to increase the credit loss rates. Also, compared to 
2022, there are no material changes in the (relative) amounts 
in the aging buckets, meaning the aging of the accounts 
receivables has not significantly changed, where the biggest 
portion is in the first buckets (67% is not due yet, and 17% is 
overdue by 1 month). The total days outstanding (TDO) has 
slightly increased compared to 2022. In discussions with the 
group’s most significant clients, no indications of 
uncollectibility were received.

The movement in this allowance is as follows:

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 2,717 3,386
Fully provided receivables which 
are written off

-906 -653

Change in allowance recognised in 
result

369 12

Exchange rate movements -24 -28
Balance at 31 December 2,156 2,717

Ageing of past due and not impaired trade accounts 
receivables is as follows:

2023 2022

Trade accounts receivable - 
Not due

256,754 217,472

1-30 days - past due 37,708 37,187
31-60 days - past due 12,590 15,537
61-90 days - past due 5,137 6,560
91-120 days - past due 4,947 2,939
120+ days - past due 13,044 5,852
Balance at 31 December 330,181 285,547

Brunel has received the first installments in accordance with 
the revised payment plan. 

The loans receivable from third parties are denominated in 
Russian Ruble and carry 4% interest rate per annum. The 
total loan receivable was recognised initially at fair value by 
discounting cash flows using a market related lending rate of 
11.5% and is measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.  

The group has reassessed the fair value of the loans at 
reporting date, with consideration of the uncertainty with 
respect to sanctions and the possible effect that this might 
have on the repayment of the loan. The fair value 
approximates the carrying value at year-end. 

At the reporting date there has been no significant increase 
in credit risk compared to initial recognition date. The loan 
therefore carries a credit risk under stage 1. 

8.  Investments accounted for using the 
  equity method

Interest in associates  

As at 31 December 2023 the group has an investment in one 
associate which, in the opinion of the directors, is material to 
the group. 
The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of 
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the group. The 
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal 
place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is 
the same as the proportion of voting rights held. The 
associate is fully impaired, no further cash injections will be 
made, and therefore there is no risk of further losses.

Name of entity Country of 
incorporation

% of ownership   
interest

Nature of 
relationship

Measurement 
method

Carrying     
amount

2023 2022 2023 2022

IBR Solucões Limitada Angola 49% 49% Associate Equity method 0 0

* IBR Solucões Limitada is an associate of Brunel International N.V. operating in Angola. 

The tables below provide summarised financial information 
for the associate that is material to the group. The 
information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the 
Annual accounts of the relevant associate and not Brunel 
International N.V.’s share of those amounts. They have been 
amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when 
using the equity method, including fair value adjustments 
and modifications for differences in accounting policy.

2023 2022

Current assets -22 -37
Current liabilities -4,863 -5,081
Long-term liabilities -324 -549
Net assets at 31 December -5,209 -5,667

2023 2022

Opening net assets 1 January -5,667 -4,969
Profit / (loss) for the period 0 0
Foreign exchange 458 -698
Closing net assets at 31 
December

-5,209 -5,667
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10. Restricted cash, cash and cash 
  equivalents

Restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents consist of the 
following:

2023 2022

Non-current restricted cash 5,618 8,769
Current restricted cash 14,556 6,768
Cash and cash equivalents 90,225 80,861
Balance at 31 December 110,399 96,398

The restricted cash relates to fixed term deposits and cash 
margins provided as security towards bank guarantees, for 
which the withdrawal of funds is not permitted before the 
maturity date. It is held with the aim of securing contracts 
with customers. Due to the operational nature of the 
transactions related to restricted cash, the group recognises 
any cash flows from such transactions as operating 
activities. If maturity of fixed term deposits and cash 
margins is within 12 months the balance is classified as 
current, otherwise non-current. 

Of the total balance of cash and cash equivalents, EUR 44.1 
million (2022: EUR 37.1 million) is not freely disposable on 
the grounds of issued bank guarantees for office leases and 
client contracts. The fair value approximates the carrying 
value.

11. Provisions 

Pension 
obligation

Restoration 
provision

Legal claims Illness Total

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,499 520 405 4,326 6,750
Additions 320 51 31 848 1,250
Withdrawals 0 0 0 0 0
Release -42 0 0 -829 -871
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,777 571 436 4,345 7,129

The restoration provision represents the provision for 
returning rented real estate objects to the original state at 
the end of the lease contract. The estimate may vary as a 
result of the utilisation of the leased premises and sub-lease 
arrangements where applicable. 

The provisions are expected to be settled within five years of 
the balance sheet date, except for pension obligations, 
which will mature after five years. 

The provision for illness represents the obligation for 
continuation of wage payment during extended periods of 
illness and disability. 

Aside from the pension provision, as disclosed below, other 
provisions are not sensitive to changes in underlying 
assumptions.

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 was determined 
as follows:

Trade accounts receivable Balance at 31 December Expected loss rate Loss allowance

Trade accounts receivable - Not due 256,754 0.02% 62
1-30 days - past due 37,708 0.01% 2
31-60 days - past due 12,590 0.03% 4
61-90 days - past due 5,137 0.33% 17
91-120 days - past due 4,947 0.30% 15
120+ days - past due 13,044 15.77% 2,057
Balance at 31 December 330,181 2,156

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 was determined 
as follows:

Trade accounts receivable Balance at 31 December Expected loss rate Loss allowance

Trade accounts receivable - Not due 217,472 0.11% 231
1-30 days - past due 37,187 0.09% 33
31-60 days - past due 15,537 0.15% 23
61-90 days - past due 6,560 0.24% 16
91-120 days - past due 2,939 1.02% 30
120+ days - past due 5,852 40.74% 2,384
Balance at 31 December 285,546 2,717

The specific credit terms granted vary from 14-90 days. 
These terms are based on the general terms and conditions 
of Brunel and/or specific agreements with individual 
customers. 

Generally, services are provided to large and financially 
strong companies. In order to minimise credit risk exposure 
Brunel intensively monitors the payment behaviour of its 
customers based on specific agreements with individual 
customers and their credit worthiness. Based on historical 
behaviour of our customers we do not expect any material 
write-offs and therefore the expected credit loss rates are 
not highly sensitive.

The current assessment of the counterparty risk of our 
customers is that we do not expect any material write-offs. 
This assumption is based on the current payment behaviour 
of our clients. Additionally the company is in frequent 
contact with clients that have amounts outstanding past the 
due date.
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employees remained within the Group, was determined at 
EUR 17.1 million as at 31 December 2021. This amount is 
remeasured at each reporting date based on expected 
performance.

An amount of EUR 8.6 million was recognized as a put-option 
liability during the year 2021, since 50% of the amount to be 
paid is not based on continuous employment. The other 50% 
of the put-option liability is recognized through the profit and 
loss account as a post combination benefit expense over the 
3-year period post-acquisition, depending on continued 
employment of certain Taylor Hopkinson employees.

As at 31 December 2023 the value of the put-option liability 
is EUR 13.1 million.

The model inputs used for determining the liability as of the 
year ended 31 December 2023 included: 

• Discount rate: 0.8% 

During the year 2023 the company recognised EUR 0.9 million 
(2022: EUR 4.2 million) costs for post combination benefits.

The movement of put-option liabilities is as follows:

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 12,491 8,570
Post combination benefits related 
to acquisitions

922 4,164

Payments -221 0
Current part of put-option 
liabilities (13)

-8,334 0

Foreign exchange 0 -243
Balance at 31 December 4,858 12,491

During the year an agreement was reached with one of the 
option holders of Taylor Hopkinson where the exercise of the 
put-option will take place in the first quarter of 2024, 
therefore a portion of the liability is classified as current. 

The payments relating to put-option liabilities will be included 
in the cashflow statement as a cash flow used in financing 
activities. The related post combination benefits are 
accounted through profit and loss and are included within 
indirect personnel expenses. In the cash flow statement the 
related items are included as cash flow generated from 
operating activities. 

Loans and borrowings

The movement of loans and borrowings is as follows:

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 18,634 0
Proceeds from drawing 59,968 18,634
Other movements -12 0
Balance at 31 December 78,590 18,634

In 2022 Brunel entered into an external financing agreement 
to support the increased working capital requirement. The 
agreement relates to a syndicated revolving credit facility 
with a duration of 5 years, with a credit limit of EUR 60 million 
and an optional additional layer of EUR 40 million. The 
interest rate is variable and based on EURIBOR plus margin, 
where margin is based on the leverage of net debt to EBITDA.

In 2023 Brunel has revised the original agreement for the 
following conditions:

- Credit limit increased from EUR 60 million to EUR 100 
million, with an additional option layer of EUR 40 million

- Duration extended with one additional year

Amounts drawn from the facility are included within loans 
and borrowings and amount to EUR 78.6 million at year end 
2023. All amounts are denominated in Euro. The fair value 
approximates the carrying amount.

Under the terms of the credit facility, the group is required to 
comply with the following financial covenant:

• The ratio of net debt to EBITDA must not exceed 275%.

During the year 2023 Brunel has complied with the financial 
covenants of the credit facility.

Defined benefit plan Germany

The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
and the movements in the defined benefit obligation over the 
year are as follows:

Pension obligation 2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 1,499 2,220
Reclassification
Current service cost 6 15
Interest expense 58 28
Total amount recognised in profit 
or loss

64 43

Remeasurements:
Result from change in financial 
assumptions

45 -787

Experience (result) 36 53
Total amount recognised in other 
comprehensive income

81 -734

Payments from plan:
Benefit payments -42 -30
Balance at 31 December 1,602 1,499

The group operates a defined benefit pension plan in 
Germany (Brunel Car Synergies) under regulatory 
frameworks. The defined benefit pension plan is managed 
jointly by Brunel and Bochumer Verband. This plan is a final 
salary pension plan, which provides benefits to members in 
the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The 
level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of 
service and their salary in the final years leading up to 
retirement. In the plans, pension payments are generally 
updated in line with the retail price index. This is an unfunded 
plan and no plan assets are applicable. The main risks in 
relation to this plan relate to the key variables in the actuarial 
calculations (i.e. changes in bonds yields, inflation risks and 
life expectancy).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the pension plan are:

Assumptions 2023 2022

Discount rate 3.71% 3.91%

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in 
the principal assumption is:

Impact on defined benefit 
obligation

2023 2022

Discount rate -0,5% +8% +8%
Discount rate +0,5% -7% -7%

Defined benefit plan Belgium

The group operates a pension plan in Belgium (Brunel Belgium 
NV) under regulatory frameworks. This is a plan with, according 
to local regulations, a guaranteed minimum return for plan 
participants, due to which Brunel is accounting for it as if it 
were a defined benefit plan. The net liability is EUR 0.2 million. 

12. Other non-current liabilities

The other non-current liabilities consist of the following:

2023 2022

Put-option liabilities (1) 4,858 12,491
Deferred consideration (1) 0 1,479
Loans and borrowings 78,590 18,634
Balance at 31 December 83,448 32,604

The deferred consideration relates to the acquisition of ICE 
during the year 2022, the amount will be paid within a year 
and therefore is part of the trade and other payables. Refer 
to note 13. 

Put-option liabilities related to acquisitions

In December 2021 Brunel Energy Holding B.V. acquired 72% 
of the issued share capital of Seafox Apollo 1 Ltd, the sole 
shareholder of the Taylor Hopkinson Group. 
A put and call option agreement was signed for the remaining 
28%. The consideration for the remaining 28% is based on 
meeting certain gross profit and EBITDA targets over the 
next three years. 

The expected amount to be paid if the pre-determined levels 
of gross profit and EBITDA levels were met and certain 
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Treasury shares

In 2021 the company acquired 173,636 of its own shares 
through purchases on Euronext Amsterdam stock exchange. 
The total amount paid to acquire the shares was EUR 2.0 
million and has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. 
The shares are held as treasury shares. The company intends 
to reissue these shares to senior management (excluding the 
Board of Directors) under the performance share plan if the 
conditions are met.

Non-controlling interest

The movement in non-controlling interest is as follows:

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 13,138 13,693
Result for the year 507 1,374
Dividend -2,222 -2,240
Liquidation of subsidiary -67 0
Through business combinations 0 161
Exchange rate movements -275 150
Balance at 31 December 11,081 13,138

Set out below is summarised financial information for the 
main non-controlling interests that are material to the group. 
The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-
company eliminations. 

The non-controlling interest acquired through business 
combinations in 2022 relates to the acquisition of ICE (refer 
to note 1). 

In 2023 Brunel Muscat LLC, with operating activities in 
Oman, was liquidated.

Middle East & India Taylor Hopkinson Other Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Non-current assets 6,263 9,757 38,918 41,199 2,111 3,114 47,292 54,070
Current assets 55,879 49,031 53,453 22,977 1,475 9,133 110,807 81,141
Current liabilities -12,525 -13,856 -27,225 -13,118 -2,422 -5,384 -42,172 -32,358
Non-current liabilities -41,976 -35,201 -34,029 -15,036 -1,251 -3,694 -77,256 -53,931
Net assets per 31 
December

7,641 9,731 31,117 36,022 -87 3,169 38,671 48,922

Accumulated non-
controlling interests

1,891 2,428 8,632 9,993 558 717 11,081 13,138

Dividend paid to non-
controlling interests

2,222 2,240 0 0 0 0 2,222 2,240

Revenue 105,380 105,062 93,920 83,228 1,417 23,008 200,717 211,298
Profit (loss) 7,264 9,143 -4,160 -3,152 -311 1,219 2,793 7,210

Result allocated to non-
controlling interests

1,813 2,295 -1,154 -874 -152 -48 507 1,374

13. Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables consist of the following:

2023 2022

Trade payables 24,559 22,897
Taxes and social security charges 35,806 33,670
Pensions 2,569 1,157
Accrued employee expenses 58,022 53,761
Current part of put-option 
liabilities (12)

8,334 0

Current part of deferred 
consideration (12)

1,479 0

Accrued expenses 6,535 6,846
Other liabilities 12,794 12,298
Balance at 31 December 150,098 130,629

Trade and other payables have an expected term of less than 
one year. The majority of trade payables and taxes and social 
security charges are due within a range of 1–45 days. 

The majority of the other liabilities and accrued employee 
expenses are due within a range of 1–180 days.

The carrying amount of these liabilities equals the fair value.

14. Group Equity

The authorised capital is EUR 5,998,000 divided into one 
priority share with a nominal value of EUR 10,000 and 199.6 
million ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.03. The 
subscribed capital consists of 50,400,988 ordinary shares 
(2022: 50,400,988) with a value of EUR 1,512,030 (2022: 
EUR 1,512,030). 
All ordinary shares are fully paid.

The movement in the number of issued shares is:

2023 2022

Issued at 1 January 50,400,988 50,400,988
Acquisition of treasury shares 0 0
Issued at 31 December 50,400,988 50,400,988

Except for the translation reserve, all reserves are freely 
distributable. In the year under review a cash dividend of 
EUR 0.55 per share was paid. The proposed dividend for 
2023 will be EUR 27.7 million or EUR 0.55 per share. Further 
information is provided in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity on page 126 of this report.

The priority share, which has a par value of EUR 10,000, has 
been issued to Stichting Prioriteit Brunel, subject to the 
condition precedent that the majority shareholder loses its 
majority share in Brunel International’s share capital. The 
priority share will be fully paid up as soon as the issue 
becomes unconditional. The priority share is acts as 
protection for the majority shareholder. The priority share is 
intended to ensure that the company can achieve its 
objectives in compliance with the company’s values and 
culture. The priority share entitles the holder, among other 
things, to make proposals to designate another body as 
authorised to issue shares or to limit or exclude the pre-
emptive rights and to approve decisions of the Board of 
Directors to acquire fully paid-up shares by the company. 
Resolutions to amend the Articles of Association and dissolve 
the Company require the prior approval of the priority 
shareholder. The Board of Directors, with the approval of the 
priority shareholder, determines the portion of profits to be 
reserved. Where appropriate, it is up to the priority 
shareholder to determine whether an interim dividend will be 
paid. For as long as the priority share has not yet been issued 
to a third party, all the rights attached to the priority share 
are exercised by the General Meeting, unless the context 
otherwise requires or otherwise provided for in the Articles of 
Association which can be consulted on the company’s 
website.
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Share based payments related to long-term 
incentive plan

In June 2021, Brunel announced its intention to repurchase 
173,636 ordinary shares in order to meet the obligations 
under the planned performance share plan for senior 
management (excluding Board of Directors). The 
performance share plan is conditional to targets for financial 
year 2023. Shares will vest in the beginning of 2024 with a 
lock-up period of two years.

Senior management do not receive any dividends and are not 
entitled to vote in relation to the deferred shares during the 
vesting period. 

The fair value of the rights at grant date of EUR 10.41 per 
share was estimated using the Black-Scholes option 
valuation model. 

The model inputs for share awards granted during the year 
ended 31 December 2021 included:

• Grant date: 1 July 2021

• Vesting date: 28 February 2024

• Share price at grant date: EUR 10.94

• Expected price volatility: 35.13%

• Expected dividend yield: 2%

• Risk free rate: 2.492%

Year granted 2023 2022

As at 1 January 137,229 173,636
Granted during the year 0 0
Vested during the year 0 0
Forfeited during the year -76,615 -36,407
As at 31 December 60,614 137,229

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life of the deferred 
shares outstanding at the end of 
period:

0.69 1.69

Costs recognised in EUR -135,907 523,836

16. Commitments and contingencies

The group leases various offices, cars and other office 
equipment under non-cancellable operating leases expiring 
within 6 months to 5 years. The leases have varying terms, 
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal the terms 
of the leases are renegotiated.

The group has recognised right-of-use assets for the 
majority of leases, except for short-term and low-value 
leases that are disclosed below.  See note 6 for further 
information.

2023 2022

Expire in year 1 344 201
Expire in years 2-5 0 0
Expire in years 6 and later 0 0
Balance at 31 December 344 201

Brunel Service GmbH & Co. KG was subject to a tax audit in 
Germany regarding the years 2013-2018. In the tax audit, 
the deductibility of interest expenses was challenged. During 
the year 2023 Brunel has reached a settlement for an 
amount of EUR 4 million with the German tax authorities 
(refer to note 22). There is no remaining exposure (2022: 
EUR 13.4 million).

Events after balance sheet date

No material events have occurred post-reporting date that 
warrant disclosure.

Middle East & India includes the non-controlling interests in 
our entities in Kuwait (25%), Qatar (25%) and Oman (30%). 
The non-controlling interests in Taylor Hopkinson is 28%. The 
other non-controlling interest includes the non-controlling 
interest in Kazakhstan (50%) and Indonesia (51% of net 
assets / 0% of result) and ICE (49% - refer to note 1).

For a number of specific entities within the Middle East & 
India, Brunel has voting rights of 49% due to local enacted 
laws that limit foreign ownership. There are other 
arrangements in place that establish that Brunel has control. 
Brunel’s voting rights in relation to Taylor Hopkinson are 
72%. 

15. Share-based payment arrangements

in EUR

2023 2022

Share appreciation rights 1,859,656 -772,701
Share based payments related to 
the long-term incentive plan

-135,907 523,836

Total expenses arising from 
share-based payments

1,723,749 -248,865

Share-appreciation rights

The measurement date fair value of the SAR’s is determined 
based on the Black-Scholes option valuation model. In this 
model the expected volatility is based on historical volatility 
for the corresponding periods of the Company shares 
(25.5% - 50.9%), the expected dividend yield is based on 
the dividend policy and set at 4.0%, the expected remaining 
years (0.2 – 4.2 years) and a risk free interest in the range of 
2.04% and 3.78%. The risk free interest is based on the yield 
of AAA rated EU government bonds with a maturity 
commensurate to the expected life of the respective award. 

In EUR 2023 2022

Weighted average grant date 
fair value

1.39 1.13

Costs recognised 1,859,656 -772,701
Total liability -3,062,980 1,987,482
Intrinsic value of the liability - -

2023 2022

Number of SAR’s Weighted average 
exercise price (EUR)

Number of SAR’s Weighted average 
exercise price (EUR)

SAR’s as at 1 January 3,396,500 11.33 2,923,000 11.30
SAR’s granted 1,252,300 11.58 1,027,000 11.92
SAR’s forfeited 276,200 11.27 388,500 11.18
SAR’s expired 463,000 12.78 165,000 14.93
SAR’s exercised 389,750 11.96 0 0
SAR’s as at 31 December 3,519,850 11.14 3,396,500 11.33

SAR’s exercisable as at 31 December 788,250 11.43 1,058,500 13.96

The costs recognised in the consolidated profit and loss 
account amount is based on portion of time passed by the 
end of the year and fair value at year end. Costs are spread 
over the period in which employees provide services. 
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Notes to the consolidated profit and loss account
x EUR 1,000, unless stated otherwise

17. Direct and indirect personnel expenses

The direct and indirect personnel expenses consist of the 
following amounts:

2023 2022

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Salaries 775,566 86,956 630,786 75,100
Social charges 47,034 12,906 42,970 11,356
Pension charges 27,226 3,229 23,668 2,517
Other 207,127 44,556 232,284 39,576
Total 1,056,953 147,647 929,708 128,549

The pension schemes in the group can all be classified as 
defined contribution, except for one defined benefit plan in 
Germany and one in Belgium (refer to note 11). The other 
direct personnel expenses include visa, logistic and other 
services provided to direct employees. These expenses are 
typically reimbursed by our customers. The other direct 
personnel expenses include EUR 4.2 million in short-term or 
low-value leases.

Remuneration of directors

The directors’ remunerations charged to the results in 2023 
(2022) are set out below:

Short-term employee 
benefits

Salary Bonus Pension Other Share based 
payments

Total

Board of Directors:
J.T. Andringa, CEO 625 (600) 169 (391) 15 (13) 36 (36) 113 (9) 958 (1,049)
P.A. de Laat, CFO 445 (430) 36 (176) 12 (10) 36 (21) 95 (-17) 624 (620)
A.G. Maude, COO 445 (430) 63 (187) 17 (14) 259 (36)* 110 (56) 894 (723)

Supervisory Board:
F. van der Vloed 70 (66) - - - - 70 (66)
J.J.B.M. Spee 60 (64) - - - - 60 (64)
J.A. van Barneveld (stepped 
down as of 19 May 2022)

- (22) - (22)

K. Koelemeijer 60 (60) - - - - 60 (60)

1,705 (1,672) 268 (754) 44 (37) 331 (93) 318 (48) 2,666 (2,604)

* In 2023 an amount of EUR 223k termination benefit is included.

• Mr Andringa has 24,947 shares in the company, in 
addition to 315,000 SAR’s.

• Mr De Laat has 15,000 shares in the company, in addition 
to 250,000 SAR’s. 

• Mr Maude has 25,000 shares in the company, in addition 
to 185,000 SAR’s. 

• The members of the Supervisory Board hold neither 
shares nor share options in the company. 

• No loans and/or guarantees have been issued to 
members of the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board. 

SAR rights of directors

Year granted 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total

J.T. Andringa, CEO 50,000 15,000 40,000 70,000 140,000 315,000
P.A. de Laat, CFO 50,000 15,000 40,000 50,000 95,000 250,000
A.G. Maude, COO - - 40,000 50,000 95,000 185,000
Range of exercise prices in EUR 12.78 6.25 - 9.04 9.08 11.92 11.58
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18. Government grants

In various countries, governments have put in place a wide 
variety of employment protection programmes mainly due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, exceptionally allowing for partial or 
full reduction of working hours or compensation for 
personnel costs. This compensates for (part of) salaries 
and/or social security charges of the employees impacted 
(e.g. in China, Singapore, Hong Kong and Belgium).

We have accounted for these programmes in accordance 
with IAS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance’. These employment 
protection programmes reduced our operating expenses by 
EUR 0.1 million for the period (2022: EUR 0.1 million). We 
also made use of government programmes relating to our 
direct employees. The total effect of these programmes on 
our direct personnel expenses amounted to EUR 0.1 million 
(2022: EUR 0.2 million). The total cash inflow from these 
programmes amounted to EUR 0.1 million in 2023 (2022: 
EUR 0.3 million).

19. Depreciation and amortisation

The costs for depreciation and amortisation in the 
consolidated profit and loss account consist of the following:

2023 2022

Other intangible assets (4) 5,334 4,744
Property, plant and equipment (5) 2,539 2,362
Right-of-use assets (6) 14,146 14,222
Total 22,019 21,328

20. Other expenses
The 2023 other expenses amount to EUR 47.6 million (2022: 
EUR 41.4 million). The other expenses comprise marketing 
expenses, IT expenses, office and other overhead costs. 

Audit costs

The audit costs consists of the following:

Ernst & Young 
Accountants LLP

Member firms 
/ affiliates

Total 2023 Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers 

Accountants N.V.

Member firms/
affiliates

Total 2022

Audit of the financial 
statements

725 595 1,320 658 468 1,126

Other audit procedures - 95 95 - - -
Tax services - 38 38 - 101 101
Other non-audit fees - - - - - -
Total 725 728 1,453 658 569 1,227

The fees listed above relate to the procedures applied to the 
Company and its consolidated group entities by Ernst & 
Young Accountants LLP (2022: PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V) as the external independent auditor as 
referred to in Section 1, subsection 1 of the Audit Firms 
Supervision Act (‘Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties - 
Wta’) as well as by member firms and affiliates of Ernst & 
Young (2022: PricewaterhouseCoopers), including their tax 
services and advisory groups.

The audit fees relate to the audit of the 2023 Annual 
accounts, regardless of whether the work was performed 
during the financial year.

Our independent auditor, Ernst & Young (2022: 
PricewaterhouseCoopers) has rendered, for the period to 
which our statutory audit relates, in addition to the audit of 
the statutory Annual accounts the following services to the 
company and its controlled entities:

• Tax services, consisting of tax compliance services.

 

21. Financial income & expense

2023 2022

Exchange differences non-operational 
debtors and creditors

(1,094) (1,058)

Exchange differences financial fixed 
assets

(1,559) (1,352)

Exchange differences cash and cash 
equivalents

(238) 100

Exchange differences (2,891) (2,311)

Interest income banks 431 299
Interest income other 473 246
Interest income 904 545

Interest expense banks (2,331) (182)
Interest expense lease liability (554) (454)
Interest expense other (1,347) (537)
Interest expense (4,232) (1,173)

Financial income & expense (6,219) (2,939)

The exchange differences on financial fixed assets relate to 
the foreign exchange loss on the loans receivable from third 
parties (refer to note 7).

22. Tax 

2023 2022

Current tax (Income) / expense 20,041 18,727
Deferred tax (Income) / expense -2,098 -1,987
Tax (Income) / expense 17,943 16,740

In 2023, the effective tax rate on the result before tax is 
35.8% (2022:35.2%).
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The reconciliation between the actual tax expense and the 
tax expense based on the Dutch corporate income tax rate 
(2023 and 2022: 25.8%) is as follows:

2023 2022

Income tax at Dutch corporate income tax rate 12,926 25.8% 12,256 25.8%
Permanent differences:
Difference with foreign tax rates -870 -1.7% -467 -1.0%
Weighted average applicable tax rate 12,056 24.1% 11,789 24.8%

Adjustment previous years 3,968 7.9% 100 0.2%
Non-deductible items 1,054 2.1% 4,456 9.4%
Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax asset 589 1.2% 359 0.8%
Changes in valuation of deferred taxes -1,095 -2.2% -574 -1.2%
Other taxes 1,370 2.7% 610 1.3%
Effective tax charge 17,943 35.8% 16,740 35.2%

The weighted average applicable tax rate and the effective 
tax rate are strongly affected by changes in the mix of results 
of subsidiaries in countries with different tax rates and/or 
systems. Countries with alternative minimum taxes had a 
relatively higher share in the results. 

The non-deductible items in 2022 are mostly related to the 
loss on the disposal of the operations in Russia (refer to note 2). 

Change in valuation of deferred tax assets has an effect of 
2.2 percentage points in 2023, compared to 1.2 percentage 
points in 2022, and are mainly driven by the recognition of a 
deferred tax asset in the USA (EUR 4.9 million) and a 
derecognition in The Netherlands relating to the group’s 
investment in a global IT organization (EUR 3.5 million).  

In 2023 Brunel has settled the tax audit in Germany for fiscal 
years 2013-2018 (refer to note 16). As a result, an additional 
tax expense of EUR 4 million was recorded for adjustment 
previous years.

Movement schedule tax assets and liabilities

During the financial year an amount of EUR 0.7 million was 
credited directly to other comprehensive income (2022: EUR 
0.6 million debited) for tax relating to foreign exchange 
results recorded in the other comprehensive income.

The deferred tax assets originate from accumulated tax 

losses (mainly from Austria, Germany, United Kingdom and 
United States) and temporary differences. Recognition and 
derecognition of these assets are based on the forecasted 
results for the relevant group companies.

The deferred tax liabilities relate to temporary differences in 
the valuation of intangible assets that were a result of 
business combinations.

Current Deferred Total
Balance at 1 January 2022
Tax assets 2,085 13,344 15,429
Tax liability -15,068 -2,253 -17,321

-12,983 11,091 -1,892

Movements during the year
Paid / received 23,563 0 23,563
Through profit and loss -18,727 1,987 -16,740
Through business combinations 0 -182 -182
Through divestment -207 -5 -212
Through other comprehensive income -634 0 -634
Exchange rate adjustment 49 53 102

4,044 1,852 5,896

Balance at 31 December 2022
Tax assets 2,994 14,725 17,719
Tax liability -11,933 -1,782 -13,715

-8,939 12,943 4,004

Movements during the year
Paid / received 19,193 0 19,193
Through profit and loss -20,041 2,098 -17,943
Through other comprehensive income 731 0 731
Exchange rate adjustment 79 -237 -158

-39 1,861 1,822

Balance at 31 December 2023
Tax assets 7,429 17,265 24,694
Tax liability -16,407 -2,460 -18,866

-8,977 14,805 5,828

Deferred tax assets amounting to EUR 10.0 million (2022: 
EUR 5.4 million) are dependent on future taxable profits in 
excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing 
temporary differences. 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have 
been recognised amount to EUR 37.1 million (2022: EUR 

65.4 million). All tax losses, either recognised or 
unrecognised can be offset with future profits. Dependant 
on the country EUR 1.6 million of the unrecognised losses will 
expire within 5 years, the remainder can either be offset 
within 15 years (EUR 1.3 million) or indefinitely (EUR 34.2 
million).  
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Opening 
balance

Through 
business 

combi-
nations

Through 
divest-
ments

Recognis-
ed in P&L

Exchange 
rate 

adjusted

Closing 
balance

Movement of deferred tax positions in 2022:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in relation to:
Temporary differences in allowance for doubtful debt 183 0 0 0 3 186
Temporary differences valuation other intangible 
assets

6,631 0 0 541 0 7,172

Temporary differences in accruals employee 
expenses

1,740 0 -249 475 3 1,969

8,554 0 -249 1,016 6 9,327
Recognised tax losses 4,790 0 0 558 50 5,398
Total deferred tax assets 13,344 0 -249 1,574 56 14,725

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities in relation to:
Temporary differences valuation other intangible 
assets

-1,973 -182 0 380 0 -1,775

Temporary differences in accruals employee 
expenses

-280 0 244 33 -4 -7

Total deferred tax liabilities -2,253 -182 244 413 -4 -1,782

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities 11,091 -182 -5 1,987 52 12,943

Movement of deferred tax positions in 2023:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in relation to:
Temporary differences in allowance for doubtful debt 186 0 0 0 -4 182
Temporary differences valuation other intangible 
assets

7,172 0 0 -3,508 0 3,664

Temporary differences in accruals employee 
expenses and other

1,969 0 0 1,525 -87 3,407

9,327 0 0 -1,983 -91 7,253
Recognised tax losses 5,398 0 0 4,761 -148 10,011
Total deferred tax assets 14,725 0 0 2,778 -239 17,265

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities in relation to:
Temporary differences valuation other intangible 
assets

-1,775 0 0 388 0 -1,387

Temporary differences in accruals employee 
expenses

-7 0 0 -68 1 -74

Temporary differences relating to undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries

0 0 0 -1,000 0 -1,000

Total deferred tax liabilities -1,782 0 0 -680 1 -2,460

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities 12,943 0 0 2,098 -238 14,805

Temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have 
been recognised amount to EUR 16.4 million and relate to 
the group’s investments in a global IT organisation.

The group has undistributed earnings of EUR 55.4 million 
which, if paid out as dividends, would be subject to tax in the 
hands of the recipient. An assessable temporary difference 
exists, and the group has recognised a deferred tax liability 
of EUR 1.0 million for EUR 10.0 million of these temporary 
differences.

For the remainder no deferred tax liabilities have been 
recognised as the group is able to control the timing of 
distributions from these subsidiaries, and it is not expected 
to distribute these profits in the foreseeable future.

OECD Pillar Two model rules

The group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model 
rules. Pillar two has been enacted or substantively enacted in 
various jurisdictions in which Brunel operates, and will come 
into effect from 1 January 2024. Since the Pillar Two 
legislation was not effective at the reporting date, the group 
has no related top-up tax exposure. The group applies the 
exemption to recognising and disclosing information about 
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income 
taxes, as provided in the amendments to IAS 12 issued in 
May 2023.

The group is in the process of assessing its exposure to the 
Pillar Two legislation for when it comes into effect. At the 
moment, it is not yet clear if Brunel should be considered as 
part of the group of its majority shareholder, Noverhead 
Holding Sàrl, under Pillar Two. 

For Brunel group, the assessment of the potential exposure 
to Pillar Two income taxes was prepared considering the safe 
harbour rules, and is based on the most recent tax filings, 
country-by-country reporting and financial statements for 
the constituent entities in the Group. Based on the 
assessment, the Pillar Two effective tax rates in most of the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are above 15%. 
However, there are a limited number of jurisdictions where 
the transitional safe harbour relief does not apply and the 
Pillar Two effective tax rate is below 15%. The Group does 
not expect a material exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in 
those jurisdictions.

 

23. Earnings per share

2023 2022

Weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for the purpose 
of basic earnings per share

50,400,988 50,400,988

Effect of dilutive potential 
ordinary shares from share 
based payments

60,614 137,212

Weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for the purpose 
of diluted earnings per share

50,461,602 50,538,200

Net income for ordinary 
shareholders in EUR

31,651,865 29,390,540

Basic earnings per share in EUR 0.63 0.58
Diluted earnings per share in 
EUR

0.63 0.58
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Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

27. Transactions with related parties

The Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, majority 
shareholder and participations are considered to be related 
parties. For information about the Directors’ remuneration 
reference is made to note 17. Transactions with related 
parties were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail 
in arm’s length transactions. Included under other operating 
expenses is an amount of EUR 79 (2022: EUR 79) paid as 
consultancy fee to the majority shareholder of Brunel 
International N.V. 

28. Segment reporting 
x EUR 1,000, unless stated otherwise 

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of 
internal reports about components of the group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in 
order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess 
their performance. Information reported to the group’s chief 
operating decision maker is focused at components 
engaged in providing services in a particular economic 
environment from those of other segments. A geographical 

segment is engaged in providing services in a particular 
economic environment which are subject to risks and returns 
that are different from those segments operating in other 
economic environments. 

The main regions are: DACH (Germany, Austria, Switzerland 
and Czech Republic), the Netherlands, Americas, 
Australasia, Europe & Africa, Middle East & India, Asia and 
Taylor Hopkinson. This is the basis on which internal reports 
are provided to the chief operating decision maker for 
assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources within the Group. All regions exceeding 10% of 
total revenue, EBIT or assets are reported separately. 
Unallocated relates to the corporate assets and corporate 
costs that do not relate to a specific segment. The remaining 
regions are combined in Rest of World. 

The region Russia & Caspian was dissolved in June 2022 after 
the divestment of the operations in Russia (refer to note 2).

The revenues are not further disaggregated by streams since 
the only material revenue is contracting. The transactions 
between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in 
a manner similar to third parties.  

Reportable segments

Revenue Contribution margin Operating profit

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Segments
DACH region 249,278 229,242 85,826 80,966 20,124 24,362
Netherlands 213,205 190,326 56,582 55,727 16,103 16,652
Australasia 192,893 161,854 20,355 16,210 5,267 3,250
Middle East & India 160,709 143,281 22,588 23,911 12,285 14,253
Americas 177,840 146,560 24,832 19,917 4,547 2,586
Asia 182,248 161,086 30,809 23,553 11,873 9,359
Taylor Hopkinson 94,877 83,228 18,759 17,454 -3,051 -1,280
Rest of World 93,873 93,901 13,832 14,379 2,336 2,642
Unallocated 0 0 0 0 -13,163 -10,950
Eliminations -34,388 -27,654 0 0 0 0
Total 1,330,535 1,181,824 273,582 252,116 56,321 60,874

The group attributes revenue to countries based on the 
location of the geographical location of the entity that 
delivers the service. In vast majority of the cases, the 

location is the same as where our professionals perform 
work for our clients, with the following exceptions:  

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

The majority of the items on the consolidated cash flow 
statement are, on an individual basis cross-referenced to the 
relevant notes on the consolidated profit and loss account 
and the consolidated balance sheet. For the remainder of the 
material items, the reconciliation between amounts included 
in the consolidated cash flow statement and related amounts 
in the consolidated profit and loss account and the 
consolidated balance sheet are shown below.

24. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 303,050 263,873
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 40
Disposal of subsidiaries 0 -17,314
Change in allowance for bad debt -369 -12
Change in receivables 53,853 49,818
Exchange rate movements -5,161 6,645
Balance at 31 December 351,373 303,050

25. Trade and other payables

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 130,629 124,905
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 1,832
Disposal of subsidiaries 0 -7,416
Change in trade and other 
payables

7,844 11,467

Reclassification to trade and other 
payables

9,813 0

Exchange rate movements 1,812 -159
Balance at 31 December 150,098 130,629

26. Other non-cash expenses

The other non-cash expenses mostly consist of the 
impairment of trade and other receivables (refer to note 9) 
and the post combination benefits relating to acquisitions 
(refer to note 12).
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Balance sheet total Non-current assets Investment in IA & PPE

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Segments
DACH region 90,985 95,332 20,684 24,415 230 807
Netherlands 63,624 57,633 14,647 15,916 1,153 1,638
Australasia 54,532 53,517 5,489 6,107 112 86
Middle East & India 80,717 68,810 2,907 2,738 227 322
Americas 65,379 47,500 3,112 3,179 98 187
Asia 95,560 86,709 9,039 10,530 939 267
Taylor Hopkinson 91,961 64,176 39,190 41,199 60 293
Rest of World 54,222 51,289 1,609 1,257 183 96
Unallocated 14,304 22,174 21,423 15,942 8,730 7,576
Total 611,284 547,140 118,100 121,283 11,732 11,272

*Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Tax expense/income Current & Long-term 
liabilities

Depreciation and 
Amortisation

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Segments
DACH region 11,466 7,617 47,457 41,175 6,055 5,607
Netherlands 4,220 4,285 46,324 45,098 4,714 5,016
Australasia 1,864 670 13,886 10,509 527 571
Middle East & India 1,169 1,240 49,548 44,910 1,171 1,143
Americas -3,991 302 10,673 9,723 610 624
Asia 2,910 2,584 33,681 34,575 2,724 1,853
Taylor Hopkinson -562 870 25,032 17,783 2,081 1,924
Rest of World 409 929 14,986 12,017 661 1,433
Unallocated 457 -1,757 57,162 13,533 3,476 3,157
Total 17,942 16,740 298,749 229,323 22,019 21,328

• In the segment Rest of World the main region Europe and 
Africa is aggregated. Part of the main region Europe and 
Africa is Brunel Energy Europe B.V., based in the 
Netherlands. The revenue generated by Energy Europe 
B.V. is 46.7 million (2022: EUR 41.5 million).

• In the segment DACH region, Germany generated more 
than 10% of the total revenues (EUR 234 million) 

attributable to external customers. The country is 
included in the operating segment DACH since it 
contributes majority of the revenue to that segment. In 
2023 Germany contributed 94% of the DACH region’s 
total revenue (2022: 93%).

Direct personnel expenses Indirect personnel expenses

2023 2022 2023 2022
Segments
DACH region 163,452 148,276 41,177 34,011
Netherlands 156,623 134,599 25,753 24,652
Australasia 172,537 145,644 10,664 9,075
Middle East & India 138,121 119,369 6,336 6,011
Americas 153,007 126,643 14,521 12,770
Asia 151,439 137,533 12,352 8,566
Taylor Hopkinson 76,118 65,775 14,643 13,926
Rest of World 80,044 79,523 7,340 6,903
Unallocated 0 0 14,861 12,635
Eliminations -34,388 -27,654 0 0
Total 1,056,953 929,708 147,647 128,549
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Disaggregation of revenues

The tables below provide an overview of the activities with 
regard to our global vertical approach. 

Conven-
tional 

Energy

Future 
mobility

Industrials 
& 

Technology

Life 
Sciences

Mining Renew-
ables

Financial 
Services

Public 
Sector

Other Total 
2023

DACH region 10,590 95,387 80,874 25,996 1,076 12,811 - - 22,544 249,278
The Nether-
lands

4,262 9,020 24,392 10,087 297 15,663 50,153 84,411 14,920 213,205

Australasia 92,004 - 505 675 76,652 8,036 5,796 293 8,932 192,893
Middle East & 
India

142,173 43 2,669 41 268 5,979 - - 9,536 160,709

Americas 127,312 8 846 8,960 29,487 9,703 - - 1,524 177,840
Asia 115,995 3,804 1,878 1,071 40,752 14,876 - - 3,872 182,248
Taylor 
Hopkinson

- - - - - 94,877 - - - 94,877

Rest of world 27,008 182 2,795 2,913 1,611 13,691 - - 11,285 59,485
Total 519,344 108,444 113,959 49,743 150,143 175,636 55,949 84,704 72,613 1,330,535

Conven-
tional 

Energy

Future 
mobility

Industrials & 
Technology

Life 
Sciences

Mining Renew-
ables

Financial 
Services

Public 
Sector

Other Total 2022

DACH region 12,681 74,484 90,734 13,057 145 6,164 - - 31,977 229,242
The Nether-
lands

5,139 2,773 22,270 7,487 65 5,234 48,397 90,324 8,637 190,326

Australasia 73,906 - 1,217 6 53,157 13,051 9,434 - 11,083 161,854
Middle East 
& India

115,590 40 1,019 68 114 2,541 - - 23,909 143,281

Americas 108,204 237 768 8,831 21,104 6,672 - - 744 146,560
Asia 114,559 309 2,865 1,362 26,691 12,188 - - 3,112 161,086
Taylor 
Hopkinson

- - - - - 83,222 - - 6 83,228

Rest of world 30,793 298 2,737 3,085 1,641 13,108 - - 14,585 66,247
Total 460,872 78,141 121,610 33,896 102,917 142,180 57,831 90,324 94,054 1,181,824

In 2023 the group has updated its disaggregation of revenue, 
as a result the following changes were made:

• Engineering has been split into Industrials & Technology 
 and Life Sciences.

• Financial Services and Public Sector have been 
 excluded from Other. 

• Infrastructure has been added to Other.

Employees

The total number of direct and indirect employees with the 
group companies is set out below:

Average workforce

2023 2022

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

DACH region 2,062 435 2,042 405
Netherlands 1,726 270 1,667 279
Australasia 1,575 124 1,375 107

Middle East & India 2,103 167 2,235 139
Americas 1,028 147 929 125
Asia 1,424 156 1,481 132
Taylor Hopkinson 466 136 447 102
Rest of World 754 75 1,011 104
Unallocated - 64 - 59
Total 11,138 1,574 11,187 1,452

Total workforce 12,712 12,639

Workforce at 31 December

2023 2022

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

DACH region 2,008 438 2,133 412
Netherlands 1,753 274 1,718 281
Australasia 1,692 128 1,491 109
Middle East & India 1,930 174 2,260 155
Americas 958 142 999 143
Asia 1,381 177 1,511 135
Taylor Hopkinson 402 124 312 112
Rest of World 815 78 659 70
Unallocated - 65 - 62
Total 10,939 1,600 11,083 1,479

Total workforce 12,539 12,562
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Company profit and loss account 
for the year ended 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000 

2023 2022

Revenue (38) 18,644 16,269

Indirect personnel expenses (39) -14,066 -11,946
Depreciation and amortisation (29-31) -4,075 -3,941
Other expenses (40) -13,775 -11,332
Total operating costs -31,916 -27,219

Operating profit -13,272 -10,950

Exchange differences -215 -22
Interest income 15 -83
Interest expenses -1,151 -45
Financial income and expense -1,351 -150

Result before tax -14,623 -11,100

Tax 479 2,801

Share of profit of investments accounted 
for using the equity method (41)

45,796 37,689

Net result 31,652 29,390

Company balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2023
x EUR 1,000, before profit appropriation 

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Non-current assets
Other intangible assets (29) 18,297 13,330
Property, plant & equipment (30) 809 409
Right-of-use assets (31) 2,132 2,435
Investments accounted for using the 
equity method (32)

315,641 283,563

Deferred tax income assets 4,027 7,540
Total non-current assets 340,906 307,277

Current assets
Trade and other receivables (33) 34,431 11,391
Income tax receivables 3,146 0
Cash and cash equivalents (34) 0 785
Total current assets 37,577 12,176

Total assets 378,483 319,453

Shareholders' equity (37)
Share capital 1,517 1,517
Share premium 86,145 86,145
General reserve 176,388 174,907
Translation reserve 5,188 12,013
Share based payments 564 707
Unappropriated result 31,652 29,390
Total shareholders' equity 301,454 304,679

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities (31) 1,369 1,742
Loans and borrowings (36) 38,476 0
Total non-current liabilities 39,845 1,742

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities (31) 765 693
Other current liabilities (35) 36,419 9,817
Income tax payables 0 2,522
Total current liabilities 37,184 13,032

Total liabilities 77,029 14,774

Total equity & liabilities 378,483 319,453
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In 2023 no software that was fully amortised has been 
written off from both the at cost value and the accumulated 
amortisation (2022: nihil). 

30. Property, plant & equipment

Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 945 826
Accumulated depreciation -536 -396
Balance at 1 January 409 430

Changes in carrying amount
Additions 530 119
Depreciation -130 -140
Balance at 31 December 809 409

At cost at 31 December 1,475 945
Accumulated depreciation -666 -536
Balance at 31 December 809 409

The depreciation rate for property, plant & equipment is 
20-40% per annum.

In 2023 no property, plant & equipment that was fully 
depreciated has been written off from both the at cost value 
and the accumulated depreciation (2022: nihil).

31. Leases

Movements during the year:

This note provides information for leases where the company 
is a lessee.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The company balance sheet shows the following amounts 
relating to leases:

Right of use asset 2023 2022

Right of use asset - Property 1,872 2,314
Right of use asset - Cars 260 121
Total 2,132 2,435

Lease liability
Current 765 693
Non-current 1,369 1,742
Total 2,134 2,435

Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2023 amount to 
EUR 0.2 million (2022: EUR 0.1 million).

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss 
account

The profit and loss account shows the following amounts 
related to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-
use assets 

2023 2022

Depreciation -713 -972

Interest expense -1 0
Expense relating to Short-term 
and low-value leases (included 
other expenses)

-115 -89

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was EUR 0.8 million 
(2022: EUR 0.8 million).

Notes to the company balance sheet 
and profit and loss account 
x EUR 1,000, unless stated otherwise

General 

The company financial statements of Brunel International 
N.V are prepared in accordance with the legal requirements 
of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The company has 
made use of the possibility based on Article 362, paragraph 
8, Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code to prepare company 
financial statements based on the accounting policies used 
for the consolidated financial statements. Foreign currency 
has been translated, assets and liabilities have been valued, 
and net income has been determined, in accordance with the 
accounting principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities 
and determination of profit on pages 129 until 137.  

Financial assets 

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries are entities over 
which the company has control, i.e.  the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. 
Subsidiaries are recognised from the date on which control is 
transferred to the company or its intermediate holding 
entities. They are derecognised from the date that control 
ceases. 

The company applies the acquisition method to account for 
acquiring subsidiaries, consistent with the approach 
identified in the consolidated financial statements. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
is the fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the company. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
an acquisition are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, and are subsumed in the net asset value of 
the investment in consolidated subsidiaries. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The subsidiaries are measured and presented in accordance 
with the equity method.

Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are mainly receivables on subsidiaries. The 
accounting policy on trade and other receivables is included 
in the consolidated financial statements. The expected credit 
losses, if any, are eliminated in the carrying amount of these 
receivables.

Other current liabilities 

The accounting policy on other current liabilities is included 
within the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Revenue

Brunel International N.V. provides management services, 
business IT management, design, implementation and 
support services. Revenue from providing services is 
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered.
 

29. Other intangible assets

This concerns software. Movements during the year:

2023 2022

At cost at 1 January 42,374 34,917
Accumulated amortisation -29,044 -26,215
Balance at 1 January 13,330 8,702

Changes in carrying amount
Additions 8,200 7,457
Amortisation -3,232 -2,829
Balance at 31 December 18,297 13,330

At cost at 31 December 50,574 42,374
Accumulated amortisation -32,276 -29,044
Balance at 31 December 18,297 13,330

The amortisation rate for software is 20-40% per annum.
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36. Loans and borrowings

The loans and borrowings relate primarily to a revolving 
credit facility (refer to note 12 of the consolidated financial 
statements).

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 0 0
Proceeds from drawing 38,476 0

Balance at 31 December 38,476 0

37. Shareholders’ equity 

Composition of and changes in shareholders’ equity:

Legal

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

General 
Reserve

Share 
based 

payments

Translation 
reserve

Unapro- 
priated 

result

Total

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,517 86,145 165,827 237 3,511 30,999 288,236
Exchange differences result 8,502 8,502
Actuarial gains/(losses) 733 733
Share based payments 28 470 498
Result financial year 29,390 29,390
Cash dividend (14) (22,680) (22,680)
Appropriation of result 30,999 (30,999) -
Balance at 31 December 2022 1,517 86,145 174,907 707 12,013 29,390 304,679

Exchange differences result (6,825) (6,825)
Actuarial gains/(losses) (255) (255)
Liquidation loss on non-controlling 
interests

67 67

Share based payments (143) (143)
Result financial year 31,652 31,652
Cash dividend (14) (27,721) (27,721)
Appropriation of result 29,390 (29,390) -
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,517 86,145 176,388 564 5,188 31,652 301,454

In the year under review a dividend of EUR 0.55 per share 
was paid. The proposed dividend for 2023 will be EUR 0.55 
per share.

32. Investments accounted for using the 
  equity method

The investments accounted for using the equity method 
consist of the following:

2023 2022

Subsidiaries 314,688 283,070
Funding of group companies 953 494
Balance at 31 December 315,641 283,563

Subsidiaries

Movements during the year: 

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 283,070 264,810
Capital contributions 1,700 1,250
Profit for the year 45,796 37,689
Dividend payment -8,500 -30,223
Share based payments -203 394
Divestments -155 -98
Actuarial gains/(losses) -255 733
Exchange rate movements -6,765 8,514

Balance at 31 December 314,688 283,070

See the consolidated financial statements for a list of the 
subsidiaries.

Funding of group companies

Movements during the year: 

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 494 482
Additions 470 0
Exchange rate movements -10 12

Balance at 31 December 953 494

The interest rate for funding of group companies is based on 
our global transfer pricing policy. The interest rate is around 
5%. There are no repayment schedules as this depends on 
the cash flow of the group company. The fair value 
approximates the book value.

33. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables consist of the following:

2023 2022

Group companies 28,987 7,452
Other receivables 5,444 3,939
Balance at 31 December 34,431 11,391

All trade and other receivables fall due within one year. The 
fair value approximates the book value. The expected credit 
loss is negligible.

34. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand are freely disposable. The fair value 
approximates the book value.

35. Other current liabilities 

The other current liabilities consist of the following:

2023 2022

Group companies 31,302 3,606
Other current liabilities 5,117 6,211
Balance at 31 December 36,419 9,817

All current liabilities fall due within one year. The fair value 
approximates the book value. The expected credit loss is 
negligible.
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38. Revenue

The gross profit in the company profit and loss account 
relates to management fees charged to group entities.

39. Direct and indirect personnel expenses

Salaries, social security charges and pension expenses for 
employees of Brunel International N.V. amounted to EUR 7.2 
million, EUR 0.7 million and EUR 0.4 million, respectively for 
2023 (2022: expenses of EUR 6.4 million, EUR 0.6 million and 
EUR 0.3 million, respectively). The remainder largely consists 
of staff costs for employees of other group companies that 
are recharged to Brunel International N.V.

At the end of 2023 Brunel International N.V. employed 65 
people (2022: 62), all in the Netherlands. On average during 
the year Brunel International N.V. employed 64 people 
(2022: 59). Besides the Board of Directors and their personal 
assistants, these concern the group finance, legal, IT and HR 
department.  

40. Other expenses

The 2023 other expenses amount to EUR 13.8 million (2022: 
EUR 11.3 million) and comprise IT expenses, marketing 
expenses, office and other overhead costs.

41. Share of profit of investments 
  accounted for using the equity method

2023 2022

Profit group companies 45,796 37,689

Other 

Disclosures of director’s remuneration and audit fees are 
included in notes 17 and 20 to the consolidated Annual 
accounts. 

Guarantees

The company has guaranteed the liabilities for its Dutch 
participations Brunel Nederland B.V. and Brunel Energy 
Holding B.V. Brunel International N.V. has guaranteed 
towards Brunel GmbH its receivable on Brunel Car Synergies 
GmbH. At 31 December 2023 this receivable amounts to 
EUR 2.0 million (2022: EUR 2.0 million). Brunel International 
N.V. has guaranteed towards Liberty Mutual Surety Europe 
B.V. EUR 5.6 million (2022: EUR 5.1 million) and towards 
HSBC Bank (China) Company Ltd EUR 1.4 million (2022: EUR 
1.5 million). No other guarantees have been provided (2022: 
EUR 0.0 million). Brunel International N.V. has issued a letter 
of credit towards HSBC for the credit facility of Brunel India 
Private Ltd. The letter of credit amounts to EUR 6.8 million 
(2022: EUR 2.6 million) and is undrawn as per year-end 
2023.

Brunel International N.V. has guaranteed the ultimate 
balance of sums payable under the credit facility (refer to 
note 12).
 
Brunel International N.V. is part of the Dutch fiscal unity for 
corporate income taxes, as well as for value-added taxes. As 
a consequence, the company bears joint and several 
liabilities for the debts with respect to corporate income 
taxes and value-added taxes of the fiscal unity. The company 
settles corporate income taxes, based on the fiscal results 
before taxes of the subsidiaries belonging to the fiscal unity.

Events after balance sheet date

No material events have occurred post-reporting date that 
warrant disclosure.

Amsterdam, 23 February 2024

The Board of Directors The Supervisory Board
J.T. Andringa J.J.B.M. Spee
P.A. de Laat F.I.M. van der Vloed
A.G. Maude K. Koelemeijer
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Profit appropriation according to the articles of 
association 

Article 26.2 The board of directors determines the 
part of the Company’s profits which will be added to 
the reserves, subject to the approval of the holder of 
the priority share*.

Article 26.3 The remaining part of the Company’s 
profits is at the disposal of the shareholders for 
distribution of profit.

Priority share

The priority share, which has a par value of EUR 
10,000, has been issued to Stichting Prioriteit 
Brunel, subject to the condition precedent that the 
majority shareholder loses its majority share in 
Brunel International N.V.’s share capital. The priority 
share will be fully paid up as soon as the issue 
becomes unconditional. The protective stipulations 
are included in the articles of association of Brunel 
International N.V. and are posted on the company’s 
website.

*    Pursuant to Article 4.3, as long as the priority share is not 
subscribed, the rights attached to this share are exercised by the 
general meeting of shareholders

Other 
information

9
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Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch 
law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of Brunel International N.V. (the 
company) in accordance with the EU Regulation on 
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities, the Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms 
supervision act), the Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-
opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) 
and other relevant independence regulations in the 
Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with 
the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels 
accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Information in support of our opinion

We designed our audit procedures in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole and 
in forming our opinion thereon. The following 
information in support of our opinion and any 
findings were addressed in this context, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on 
these matters.

Our understanding of the business

Brunel International N.V. is a global provider of 
secondment, project management, recruitment and 
consultancy services. We paid specific attention in 
our audit to a number of areas driven by the 
operations of the group and our risk assessment. 

We determined materiality and identified and 
assessed the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error 
in order to design audit procedures responsive to 
those risks and to obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Materiality

Materiality EUR 6.8 Million

Benchmark applied 0.5% of revenue

Explanation We applied revenue as benchmark as in 
our perception, it is an important and 
stable performance indicator for the 
company and the users of the financial 
statements.

We have also taken into account misstatements 
and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion 
are material for the users of the financial statements 
for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the Supervisory Board that 
misstatements in excess of EUR 340,000, which are 
identified during the audit, would be reported to 
them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our 
view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

runel International N.V. is at the head of a group of 
entities. The financial information of this group is 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the 
opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the group audit. In this 
respect we have determined the nature and extent 

Independent auditor’s report
To: the shareholders and Supervisory Board of Brunel International N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2023 
included in the annual report

Our opinion

We have audited the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023 of Brunel 
International N.V. based in Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands. The financial statements comprise the 
consolidated and company financial statements.

In our opinion:

• the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Brunel International N.V. as at 
31 December 2023 and of its result and its cash 
flows for 2023 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the 
European Union (EU-IFRSs) and with Part 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

• the accompanying company financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Brunel International N.V. as at 31 December 2023 
and of its result for 2023 in accordance with Part 
9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 
December 2023

• the following statements for 2023: the 
consolidated profit and loss account, the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income and changes in equity and the 
consolidated cash flow statement

• the notes comprising material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information 

The company financial statements comprise:

• the company balance sheet as at 31 December 
2023

• the company profit and loss account for 2023

• the notes comprising a summary of the 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information
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By performing the procedures mentioned above at 
components of the group, together with additional 
procedures at group level, we have been able to 
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
about the group’s financial information to provide an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

Teaming and use of specialists
We ensured that the audit teams both at group and 
at component levels included the appropriate skills 
and competences which are needed for the audit of 
a listed client in the contracting and recruiting 
industry. We included specialists in the areas of IT 
audit (including cybersecurity), taxes, forensic, 
compliance with laws and regulations on temporary 
employment, sustainability, valuation of goodwill 
and share based payments.

Our focus on climate-related risks and 
the energy transition

Climate change and the energy transition are high 
on the public agenda. Issues such as CO2 reduction 
impact financial reporting, as these issues entail 
risks for the business operation, the valuation of 
assets and provisions or the sustainability of the 
business model and access to financial markets of 
companies with a larger CO2 footprint. 

The Board of Directors summarised Brunel 
International N.V.’s commitments and obligations, 
and reported in the ‘Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) Commitment’ section of the 
Report from the Board of Directors how the 
company is addressing climate-related and 
environmental risks. The impact of climate change is 
not identified as one of the top risks for the 
Company.

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we 
evaluated the extent to which climate-related risks, 
the effects of the energy transition, the company’s 
net zero commitment and the exposure in sectors 
with high environmental and/or social impact, are 

taken into account in estimates and significant 
assumptions. Furthermore, we read the Report from 
the Board of Directors and considered whether 
there is any material inconsistency between the non-
financial information ‘Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) Commitment’ section and the 
financial statements.

Based on the audit procedures performed, we do 
not deem climate-related risks to have a material 
impact on the financial reporting judgements, 
estimates or significant assumptions as at 31 
December 2023.

Our focus on fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations

Our responsibility
Although we are not responsible for preventing fraud 
or non-compliance and we cannot be expected to 
detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations, 
it is our responsibility to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements, taken as a 
whole, are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

Our audit response related to fraud risks
We identified and assessed the risks of material 
misstatements of the financial statements due to 
fraud. During our audit we obtained an 
understanding of the company and its environment 
and the components of the system of internal 
control, including the risk assessment process and 
the Board of Directors’ process for responding to 
the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of 
internal control and how the Supervisory Board 
exercises oversight, as well as the outcomes. 

of the audit procedures to be carried out for group 
entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile 
of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we 
selected group entities for which an audit or review 
had to be carried out on the complete set of 
financial information or specific items.

Following our assessment of the risk of material 
misstatement to the consolidated financial 
statements, we have selected nine components 
which required an audit of the complete set of 
financial information (Full Scope). Furthermore, we 
selected four components requiring audit 
procedures on specific account balances that we 
considered had the potential for the greatest impact 
on the group financial statements (Specific Scope). 
With the exception of one operating company in 
Scotland, the audit of the foreign operating 
companies in scope of our audit were performed by 
teams of EY Global member firms.

We have:

• Performed the audit of the two Dutch operating 
companies within the scope of the group audit 
ourselves;

• Provided the foreign component teams with 
detailed instructions and verified that the 
component teams performed their audit 
procedures on the basis of our instructions and 
we evaluated the reported results of their audit 
procedures;

• Performed site visits to components in Germany, 
Scotland and Singapore, where we 
communicated with local management and the 
component auditors. We discussed the business 
activities, the identified significant risks and 
performed a review of key working papers;

• Held regular conferencing calls with the all the 
component auditors and evaluated their 
reporting.

As a result of our scoping of the consolidated 
financial statement, specific account balances and 
the performance of audit procedures at different 
levels in the organisation, our actual coverage varies 
per financial statement account balance and the 
depth of our audit procedures per account balance 
varies depending on our risk assessment. 
Accordingly, our audit coverage of the group’s 
revenues and total assets can be summarised as 
follows: 

Other procedures

Specific scope

Full scope

Other procedures

Specific scope

Full scope

Revenues Total assets

   Full scope         Specific scope          Other procedures

66%

23%

11%

58%9%

33%
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the financial statements from our general industry 
experience, through discussions with the Board of 
Directors, reading minutes, inspection of internal 
audit reports and performing substantive tests of 
details of classes of transactions, account balances 
or disclosures. 

We also inspected lawyers’ letters and 
correspondence with regulatory authorities and 
remained alert to any indication of (suspected) non-
compliance throughout the audit, in particular 
related to international laws and regulations related 
to temporary employment. We refer to our key audit 
matter ‘Non-compliance with laws and regulations 
relating to temporary employment’. Finally, we 
obtained written representations that all known 
instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations have been disclosed to us. 

Our audit response related to going concern
As disclosed in section ‘Going concern’ in the 
general notes to the financial statements, the 
financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. When preparing the financial 
statements, the Board of Directors made a specific 
assessment of the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and to continue its operations for 
the foreseeable future. 

We discussed and evaluated the specific 
assessment with the Board of Directors exercising 
professional judgment and maintaining professional 
skepticism. We considered whether the Board of 
Directors’ going concern assessment, based on our 
knowledge and understanding obtained through our 
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, 
contains all relevant events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Based on our procedures performed, we did not 
identify material uncertainties about going concern. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause a 
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements. We have 
communicated the key audit matters to the 
Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a 
comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed. 

We refer to the Risks, risk management and control 
systems section of the Report from the Board of 
Directors for the Board of Directors’ (fraud) risk 
assessment and the Risk and internal risk 
management systems section of the Supervisory 
Board report in which the Supervisory Board reflects 
on this risk assessment.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the 
system of internal control and in particular the fraud 
risk assessment, as well as the code of conduct and 
whistle blower procedures. We evaluated the design 
and the implementation of internal controls 
designed to mitigate fraud risks. 

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we 
evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial 
reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and 
bribery and corruption in close co-operation with 
our forensic specialists. We evaluated whether these 
factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud is present. 

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our 
audit. We also considered the outcome of our other 
audit procedures and evaluated whether any 
findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance.

We addressed the risks related to management 
override of controls, as this risk is present in all 
companies. For these risks we have performed 
procedures among other things to evaluate key 
accounting estimates for management bias that 
may represent a risk of material misstatement due to 
fraud, in particular relating to important judgment 
areas and significant accounting estimates as 
disclosed in the general notes to the financial 
statements. We have also used data analysis to 
identify and address high-risk journal entries and 
evaluated the business rationale (or the lack 
thereof) of significant extraordinary transactions, 
including those with related parties. 

The following fraud risks identified required 
significant attention during our audit:

Presumed risks of fraud in revenue recognition
Fraud risk We presumed that there are risks of fraud in revenue recognition. We evaluated the pressure or incentive from 

quantitative targets in the bonus scheme for the Board of Directors and other members of management and 
expectations from shareholders as revenue is considered a key performance indicator. We considered that 
material misstatement may result from improper cut-off per balance sheet date.

Our audit approach We describe the audit procedures responsive to the presumed risk of fraud in revenue recognition in the 
description of our audit approach for the key audit matter ”Improper revenue recognition”.

We considered available information and made 
enquiries of relevant executives, directors, internal 
audit function, legal and the Supervisory Board.

The fraud risks we identified, enquiries and other 
available information did not lead to specific 
indications for fraud or suspected fraud potentially 
materially impacting the view of the financial 
statements. 

Our audit response related to risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations
We performed appropriate audit procedures 
regarding compliance with the provisions of those 
laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the 
determination of material amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. Furthermore, we 
assessed factors related to the risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that could 
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on 
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Valuation of trade accounts receivables 
Risk As at 31 December 2023, the Trade accounts receivable balances amount to EUR 330 million (2022: EUR 286 

million) and represents 54% (2022: 52%) of the group’s total assets.

In section ‘Recoverability of receivables’ contracts’ in the General notes to the consolidated Annual accounts, 
the company explains that it has receivables on third parties in various countries. These receivables include 
accrued income.

Significant judgment is required in determining the collectability of the receivables. The group applies the IFRS 9 
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables and revenue to be invoiced (accrued income). Further reference is made to note 9. Trade and other 
receivables.

We identified a higher risk of overstatement of the trade accounts receivable, specifically on balances which are 
overdue, and given the amounts involved, we consider this a key audit matter.

Our audit 
approach

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the appropriateness of the company’s accounting 
policies related to expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, and whether the 
accounting policies have been applied consistently. We have obtained understanding of the provisioning process 
of trade accounts receivable and evaluated the company’s controls relevant to the expected credit loss 
calculations for the trade accounts receivable. 

Furthermore, we have performed the following substantive audit procedures:
• We evaluated the Expected Credit Loss model

• We obtained accounts receivable balance confirmations from customers

• We evaluated ageing analysis at year end and write-offs of trade accounts receivable during the year

• We tested the ageing of trade accounts receivable for a sample of transactions, specifically focusing on items 
which are past due. In this procedures we also considered the historical payment behavior of customers

• We verified subsequent cash receipts

• We evaluated the adequacy of the related disclosures.

Key observations We concur with the valuation of trade accounts receivable recognised in the financial statements. 

Improper revenue recognition
Risk Revenue is one of the key indicators of the company’s performance and considered a main focus of the users of 

the financial statements.

We refer to sections ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and ‘Rendering of services’ in the General notes to 
the consolidated annual accounts for the material accounting policy information, types of contracts and services 
and other explanatory information related to revenue. The vast majority of the group’s revenue relates to 
contracting and secondment. This revenue is recognized simultaneously with providing the service.

As mentioned in the section ‘Our audit response related to fraud risks’ above, we identified a fraud risk relating to 
improper revenue recognition.  Given the main focus of users of the financial statements and the identified fraud 
risk, we consider improper revenue recognition a key audit matter.
 

Our audit 
approach

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the appropriateness of the company’s revenue 
recognition accounting policies in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, and 
whether the accounting policies have been applied consistently. We have obtained an understanding of the 
revenue recognition process within the contracting and secondment business and evaluated the company’s 
controls relevant to revenue recognition.

Furthermore, we have performed the following substantive audit procedures:

• We performed a three-way-correlation between revenues, trade receivables/accrued income and cash to 
determine whether sales transactions occur and are correctly measured

• We performed cut-off testing and specifically focused on shifting revenues from 2024 to 2023

• We performed analytical procedures (e.g. margin analyses, job-time shoptime)

• Performed substantive audit procedures on the top side entries recognised during the preparation of the 
financial statements as well as manual journal entries entered into the ERP systems

• We evaluated the adequacy of revenue related disclosures.

Key observations We concur with the revenue recognised in the financial statements.
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information, including the 
management report in accordance with Part 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other 
information required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code. The Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board are responsible for ensuring that 
the remuneration report is drawn up and published 
in accordance with Sections 2:135b and 2:145 sub 
section 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements and ESEF

Engagement
We were engaged by the general meeting as auditor 
of Brunel International N.V. on 11 May 2023, as of 
the audit for the year 2023.

No prohibited non-audit services
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services 
as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on 
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities.

European Single Electronic Reporting 
Format (ESEF)
Brunel International N.V. has prepared the annual 
report in ESEF. The requirements for this are set out 
in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 with 
regard to regulatory technical standards on the 
specification of a single electronic reporting format 
(hereinafter: the RTS on ESEF).

In our opinion the annual report prepared in the 
XHTML format, including the (partially) marked-up 
consolidated financial statements as included in the 
reporting package by Brunel International N.V., 
complies in all material respects with the RTS on 
ESEF.

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing 
the annual report, including the financial 
statements, in accordance with the RTS on ESEF, 

whereby the Board of Directors combines the 
various components into a single reporting package.

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance 
for our opinion whether the annual report in this 
reporting package complies with the RTS on ESEF.

We performed our examination in accordance with 
Dutch law, including Dutch Standard 3950N, 
”Assurance-opdrachten inzake het voldoen aan de 
criteria voor het opstellen van een digitaal 
verantwoordingsdocument” (assurance 
engagements relating to compliance with criteria for 
digital reporting). Our examination included 
amongst others:

• Obtaining an understanding of the company’s 
financial reporting process, including the 
preparation of the reporting package

• Identifying and assessing the risks that the 
annual report does not comply in all material 
respects with the RTS on ESEF and designing and 
performing further assurance procedures 
responsive to those risks to provide a basis for 
our opinion, including:

• Obtaining the reporting package and performing 
validations to determine whether the reporting 
package containing the Inline XBRL instance 
document and the XBRL extension taxonomy 
files, has been prepared in accordance with the 
technical specifications as included in the RTS on 
ESEF

• Examining the information related to the 
consolidated financial statements in the reporting 
package to determine whether all required mark-
ups have been applied and whether these are in 
accordance with the RTS on ESEF.

Non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to temporary employment
Risk The group operates worldwide and has to comply with a wide variety of laws and regulations in over 40 countries. 

As the applicable laws and regulations relating to temporary employment are mostly country specific, there is 
higher complexity for the group to comply with these laws and regulations. In addition, due to the nature of the 
business, omissions in the payments of wage tax and other payroll related charges may have a material impact on 
the financial statements and could result to reputational damage. 

We refer to section ‘Compliance risks monitoring and control‘ in Chapter ‘Risks, risk management and controls’, 
that explains that non-compliance with laws and regulations, and local standards, including tax regulations, can 
occur due to inadequate knowledge of specific jurisdictional provisions or their interpretational ambiguity, 
leading to potential penalties and reputational harm.

We focused on this risk of non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations for temporary employment, as 
this is the core business of the company and may have a material impact on the financial statements. We 
therefore consider this a key audit matter.

Our audit 
approach

We have obtained understanding of Brunel’s processes to comply with and monitor and control compliance with 
laws and regulations relating to temporary employment. Our procedures included, among others, interviews with 
responsible employees across the globe. Furthermore, our procedures include evaluating the company’s 
controls relating to non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

Furthermore, we have performed the following substantive audit procedures:

• We verified compliance with country specific laws and regulations through detailed testing of transactions 
including reperformance, inspection of documentation as well as through analytical procedures

• We involved team members with specialized knowledge around temporary employment laws and regulations 
and forensic specialists

• We verified accuracy and completeness of gross versus net salary wage tax and other payroll related charges to 
fiscal authorities

• We obtained and read correspondence with (fiscal) authorities.

Key observations We noted no material findings based on our procedures performed.

Report on other information included 
in the annual report

The annual report contains other information in 
addition to the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Based on the following procedures performed, we 
conclude that the other information:

• Is consistent with the financial statements and 
does not contain material misstatements

• Contains the information as required by Part 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the management 
report and the other information as required by Part 

9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and as required 
by Sections 2:135b and 2:145 sub section 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code for the remuneration report.

We have read the other information. Based on our 
knowledge and understanding obtained through our 
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we 
have considered whether the other information 
contains material misstatements. By performing 
these procedures, we comply with the requirements 
of Part 9 of Book 2 and Section 2:135b sub-Section 
7 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 
720. The scope of the procedures performed is 
substantially less than the scope of those performed 
in our audit of the financial statements.
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• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board of Directors 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures

• Evaluating whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication
We communicate with the Supervisory Board 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant findings in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

In this respect we also submit an additional report to 
the audit committee of the Supervisory Board in 
accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on 
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities. The information included in 
this additional report is consistent with our audit 
opinion in this auditor’s report.

We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the 
Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit 
matters: those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, not communicating the matter is in 
the public interest.

Utrecht, 23 February 2024

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

R.H.A. Duim

Description of responsibilities 
regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board 
for the financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with EU-IFRSs and Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial 
statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. Based on the financial reporting 
framework mentioned, the Board of Directors 
should prepare the financial statements using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board 
of Directors either intends to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. The Board of Directors should disclose 
events and circumstances that may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in the financial statements. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing 
the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit 
engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our 
opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not 
absolute, level of assurance, which means we may 
not detect all material errors and fraud during our 
audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. The 
materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and the evaluation of the 
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

We have exercised professional judgment and have 
maintained professional skepticism throughout the 
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on 
Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 
requirements. The Information in support of our 
opinion section above includes an informative 
summary of our responsibilities and the work 
performed as the basis for our opinion.

Our audit further included among others:

• Performing audit procedures responsive to the 
risks identified, and obtaining audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control
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Reconciliation of reported vs. organic  -2022

Until Q2-2023, the company assessed like-for-like 
changes, which excluded currency effects, 
acquisitions, and disposals while comparing with 
growth over previous year. However, due to the 
increasing significance of working days and in 

alignment with common industry practices, starting 
from Q3-2023, the company transitioned to 
measuring performance based on organic growth 
changes rather than like-for-like changes.

Reconciliation of Organic revenue with reported revenue -2023  

Alternative performance measures 
Reconciliation of non-IFRS financial measures 

Explanation of non-IFRS financial measures  

Certain parts of this Annual Report contain financial 
measures that are not measures of financial 
performance under IFRS. These are commonly 
referred to as non-IFRS financial measures and 
include items such as organic growth revenue, 
Organic growth Gross profit, Organic growth 
operating costs, underlying EBIT. Although the non-
IFRS financial measures presented are not measures 
of financial performance under IFRS, the company 
uses these measures to monitor the underlying 
performance of its business and operations. These 
measures have not been audited or reviewed by the 
company’s external auditor. Furthermore, these 
measures might not be indicative of the company’s 
historical operating results, nor are such measures 
meant to be predictive of the company’s future 
results. These measures are presented in this Annual 
Report because the company considers them an 
important supplemental measure of its performance 
and believes that these and similar measures are 
widely used in the industry in which it operates as a 
means of evaluating a company’s operating 
performance.

Organic growth- Revenue, Gross Profit, operating 
costs, underlying EBIT - The company discloses 
comparable growth as a supplemental non-IFRS 
financial measure, as the company believes that the 
presentation of comparable growth is a meaningful 
measure for investors to evaluate the performance 
of the company’s business activities over time. The 
company determines comparable revenue growth 
by excluding the impact of currencies, acquisitions, 
disposals and by adjusting for working days. The 
company also believes that the presentation of 
underlying EBIT, EBIT (after one-off) provide useful 
information to investors on the development of the 
company’s business and enhance the ability of 
investors to compare profitability across the years. 
In the case of underlying EBIT and EBIT (after one-
off) ratio, the company believes that these 
measures make the underlying performance of its 
businesses more transparent by factoring out 
restructuring costs and other incidental charges 
which are not directly related to the operational 
performance of the company. 

Reconciliation of reported vs. organic -2023

YTD ACT 
vs PY

Reported FX Acquisition Like for 
like

Work. 
days

Organic Reported Divestments Restated Reported Like for 
like

Organic

2022A 2022A 2022A 2022A 2022A 2022A 2021A 2021A 2021A Δ% Δ% Δ%

Revenue 1,181.8 (48.3) (83.2) 1,050.3 (12.8) 1,037.4 899.7 (20.6) 879.1 31% 19% 18%

Direct 
personnel 
expenses

(929.7) 41.0 65.8 (822.9) 12.3 (810.6) (689.1) 16.5 (672.6) 35% 22% 21%

Gross 
Profit

252.1 (7.3) (17.5) 227.3 (0.6) 226.8 210.6 (4.0) 206.6 20% 10% 10%

Operating 
costs

(191.2) 4.1 18.7 (168.4) 2.3 (166.1) (162.9) 2.3 (160.6) 17% 5% 3%

Underlying 
EBIT

60.9 (3.2) 1.3 59.0 1.7 60.7 47.7 (1.7) 45.9 28% 28% 32%

One-offs - - -  - -  - -   

EBIT 60.9 (3.2) 1.3 59.0 1.7 60.7 47.7 (1.7) 45.9 28% 28% 32%

Revenue Reported FX work days Organic 
Growth

Reported Divestments Restated Reported  Δ% Organic Δ%

FY 2023 FY 2023 FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2022

DACH region 249.3 (0.3) 2.0 251.0 229.2  229.2 9% 9%

The 
Netherlands

213.2 - 0.8 214.0 190.3  190.3 12% 12%

Australasia 192.9 12.6 0.8 206.3 161.9  161.9 19% 27%

Asia 182.2 9.7 0.8 192.7 161.1  161.1 13% 20%

Middle East & 
India

160.7 6.0 0.7 167.4 143.3  143.3 12% 17%

Americas 177.8 6.0 0.7 184.6 146.6  146.6 21% 26%

Taylor 
Hopkinson

94.9 2.9 0.4 98.2 83.2  83.2 14% 18%

Rest of world 94.0 0.5 0.4 94.9 93.5 (18.2) 75.3 1% 26%

Eliminations (34.6) (1.0) 0.0 (35.5) (27.2)  (27.2) 27% 30%

Total 1,330.5 36.6 6.5 1,373.6 1,181.8 (18.2) 1,163.7 13% 18%

YTD ACT 
vs PY

Reported FX Work. days Organic Reported Divestments Restated Reported Organic

2023A 2023A 2023A  2023A 2022A 2022A 2022A Δ% Δ%

Revenue 1,330.5 36.6 6.5 1,373.6 1,181.8 (18.2) 1,163.7 13% 18%

Direct 
personnel 
expenses

(1,057.0) (31.3) (3.2) (1,091.4) (929.7) 15.5 (914.2) 14% 19%

Gross Profit 273.6 5.3 3.4 282.2 252.1 (2.7) 249.5 9% 13%

Operating 
costs

(212.5) (3.5) 0.0 (216.0) (191.2) 1.8 (189.4) 11% 14%

Underlying 
EBIT

61.1 1.8 3.4 66.2 60.9 (0.8) 60.0 0% 10%

One-offs* (4.8) - - (4.8)  - -  

EBIT 56.3 1.8 3.4 61.4 60.9 (0.8) 60.0 -7% 2%
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• One- offs- Exceptional nonrecurring items that 
distort the true operational performance of the 
business. It provides a clearer picture of the 
company’s ongoing profitability by eliminating 
the impact of restructuring costs, integration and 
M&A costs related to acquisitions and other 
exceptional items. 

• Net Cash – the sum of all cash and cash 
equivalent, restricted cash minus loans and 
borrowings  

• Directs/specialists - Direct employees are those 
employees of an entity that are billed to an 
external client.

• Indirect - Staff whose time is not billable to a 
client. 

• EBIT – Operating profit. 

• EBIT% (underlying)- Operating profit excluding 
restructuring costs, acquisition-related charges 
and other incidental charges expressed as a 
percentage of total revenue.

• Conversion ratio (EBIT/GP) – A performance 
measure on how Brunel’s EBIT develops in 
relation to the Gross Profit. This makes the 
performance per region better comparable, 
taking out margin differences between regions.  

• Rev/Directs – The ratio of total revenue to the 
direct employees.

• Revenue growth organic – The percentage of 
growth in revenue compared to the previous 
period, measured by excluding the impact of 
currencies, acquisitions, disposals and by 
adjusting for working days. 

• Gross Profit growth organic- The percentage of 
growth in contribution margin over the previous 
period, measured by excluding the impact of 
currencies, acquisitions, disposals and by 
adjusting for working days.

 
• Operating cost growth organic - The percentage 

of growth in operating cost over the previous 
period, measured by excluding the impact of one- 
offs, currencies, acquisitions, disposals and by 
adjusting for working days. 

• EBIT growth organic - The percentage of growth 
in operating profit over the previous period, 
measured by excluding the impact of one-offs, 
currencies, acquisitions, disposals and by 
adjusting for working days.

Reconciliation of Organic revenue with reported revenue -2022

Definitions and abbreviations 

• Acquisition-related expenses- Costs that are 
directly triggered by the acquisition of a 
company, such as transaction costs, purchase 
accounting related costs and integration-related 
expenses.

• Organic growth -Externally reported income 
statement line items (revenue, gross profit, 
operating expenses & EBIT) adjusted for the 
impact of changes in foreign currency (“FX”), 
excluding the impact of one-offs, acquisitions 
and disposals on revenues and adjusted for the 
number of working days. Brunel operates in an 
industry where for each additional working day 
compared to the previous period, additional 
revenue/gross profit can be generated. 
Therefore, the organic growth is a measure that 
best shows underlying/ comparable 
performance isolating the working day effect.

• Gross Profit (GP) – contribution margin, i.e. 
Revenue minus direct personnel expenses 

• Gross Margin – Gross profit as a percentage of 
Revenue 

• Divestment - The action or process of selling off 
subsidiary business interests or investments.

• Elimination – Exclusion of intercompany revenue 
within the group companies of Brunel.

• Underlying EBIT- Refers to Brunel’s EBIT, 
excluding certain one-off and/or exceptional items 
that may distort the true operational performance 
of the business. It provides a clearer picture of the 
company’s ongoing profitability by eliminating the 
impact of restructuring costs, integration and 
M&A costs related to acquisitions and other 
exceptional items. 

Revenue Reported FX Acquistions work days Organic 
Growth

Reported Divestments Restated Reported  
Δ%

Organic Δ%

FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2021 FY 2021 FY 2021

DACH 
region

229.2 (0.0)  0.4 229.6 218.6  218.6 5% 5%

The 
Netherlands

190.3 -  0.7 191.1 186.1  186.1 2% 3%

Australasia 161.9 (8.7)  0.6 153.7 109.0  109.0 48% 41%

Asia 161.1 (11.7)  0.6 149.9 110.7  110.7 46% 35%

Middle East 
& India

143.3 (14.3)  0.5 129.5 107.6  107.6 33% 20%

Americas 146.6 (15.2)  0.5 131.9 96.8  96.8 51% 36%

Taylor 
Hopkinson

83.2  (83.2)  - -  -  

Rest of 
world

93.5 (0.2)  (16.2) 77.1 93.0 (20.6) 72.4 0% 6%

Eliminations (27.2) 1.9  (0.0) (25.4) (22.2)  (22.2) 23% 14%

Total 1,181.8 (48.3) (83.2) (12.8) 1,037.4 899.7 (20.6) 879.1 31% 18%
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Group financial 
record

10

Group financial record

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Profit 
Net revenue 1,330.5 1,181.8 899.7 892.6 1,041.1 914.6 790.1 884.9 1,228.9 1,386.6 1,283.4
Gross profit 273.6 252.1 210.6 191.4 209.4 208.9 182.7 187.1 230.0 249.0 230.7
Operating profit 56.3 60.9 47.7 28.8 17.4 34.1 17.9 26.8 56.1 74.7 72.3
Result before tax 50.1 47.5 46.9 28.5 16.4 32.4 14.6 24.2 56.7 75.4 72.5
Group result after tax 32.2 30.8 33.0 17.5 0.1 21.5 7.8 10.6 37.6 48.9 49.9
Net income 31.7 29.4 31.0 15.6 3.8 20.6 7.6 10.1 37.1 48.4 49.5
Cash flow (net profit + 
depreciations / 
impairment)

53.7 50.7 49.5 36.4 27.4 28.0 15.6 18.4 45.5 56.7 55.9

Depreciation and 
amortisation

22.0 21.3 18.5 20.8 23.6 7.4 8.0 8.3 8.4 7.8 6.0

Additions to tangible 
fixed assets

3.0 3.1 2.2 3.6 3.7 2.0 2.9 1.4 4.1 3.1 2.6

Workforce 
Average over the year 12,712 12,639 11,222 11,669 13,677 13,499 11,086 10,796 12,495 13,725 13,073

Balance sheet 
information 
Non-current assets 147.7 153.5 136.7 79.4 88.9 43.3 41.2 36.0 40.7 41.4 36.0
Working capital 297.2 255.4 226.7 228.4 225.3 246.4 232.5 259.7 310.4 290.8 246.1
Total equity 312.5 317.8 301.9 274.8 273.8 283.4 269.0 293.7 347.7 328.3 278.1
Balance sheet total 611.3 547.1 501.8 426.0 437.5 395.5 378.9 399.7 479.4 492.6 438.5

Ratios
Change in revenue on 
previous year

12.6% 31.4% 0.8% -14.3% 13.8% 15.8% -10.7% -28.0% -11.4% 8.0% 3.8%

Gross profit /
 net revenue

20.6% 21.3% 23.4% 21.4% 20.1% 22.8% 23.1% 21.1% 18.7% 18.0% 18.0%

Operating profit / 
net revenue

4.2% 5.2% 5.3% 3.2% 1.7% 3.7% 2.3% 3.0% 4.6% 5.4% 5.6%

Group result /
net revenue

2.4% 2.6% 3.7% 2.0% 0.0% 2.4% 1.0% 1.2% 3.1% 3.5% 3.9%

Total equity / total 
assets

51.1% 58.1% 60.2% 64.5% 62.6% 71.7% 71.0% 73.5% 72.5% 66.5% 63.4%

Current assets / 
current liabilities

2.59 2.53 2.40 2.90 2.67 3.33 3.21 3.50 3.42 2.81 2.57

Shares (in EUR)
Earnings per share 0.63 0.58 0.61 0.31 0.08 0.41 0.15 0.20 0.75 0.99 1.02
Shareholders’ equity 
per share

5.98 6.05 5.71 5.39 5.50 5.59 5.33 5.81 6.96 6.64 5.71

Dividend per share 0.55 0.55 0.45 0.30 - 0.25 0.15 0.40 1.50 0.70 0.55
Highest price 13.46 12.60 12.16 9.13 14.46 16.55 16.87 19.69 20.65 26.00 23.25
Lowest price 9.72 8.31 7.29 4.58 8.09 10.23 10.85 13.45 12.95 12.73 15.50
Closing price at 
31 December 11.18 9.58 11.24 7.30 9.01 10.92 15.20 15.39 16.80 13.60 22.25
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  Our regions

❶ Americas (United States, Brazil, Canada, 
Guyana, Mexico, Suriname)

❷ Asia (Singapore, China, Indonesia, Japan, 
Korea, Malaysia, Myanmar, Thailand, Vietnam) 

❸ Australasia (Australia, New Zealand, 
 Papua New Guinea)

❹ DACH (Germany, Austria, Czech Republic, 
Switzerland) 

❺ Europe and Africa (the Netherlands, Albania, 
Belgium, Denmark, France, Greece, Israel, 
Italy, Kazakhstan, Mozambique, Namibia, 
Nigeria, Norway, Poland, Romania, Spain, 
United Kingdom)

❻ Middle East and India (India, Iraq, Kuwait, 
Qatar, United Arab Emirates)

❼ The Netherlands

❽ Taylor Hopkinson (TH: United Kingdom, Mexico, 
Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, United States) 

TH

1

1

7 4
5

5

5

5

6 6

2

TH

THTH

3

TH

TH

Worldwide 
offices

11
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Regensburg
Reutlingen
Rostock
Saarbrücken
Stuttgart
Ulm
Würzburg
Wuppertal

BRUNEL CAR 
SYNERGIES GmbH
Dortmund
Hildesheim

SWITZERLAND
Zürich

Europe 
and Africa

ALBANIA 
Tirana

BELGIUM
Mechelen

DENMARK
Copenhagen

FRANCE
Paris

GREECE 
Athens

ISRAEL 
Tel Aviv

ITALY 
Milan

KAZAKHSTAN
Atyrau

MOZAMBIQUE
Maputo

NAMIBIA 
Windhoek

THE NETHERLANDS
Amsterdam

NIGERIA 
Lagos

NORWAY
Stavanger

ROMANIA
Bucharest

POLAND
Plock

SPAIN 
Madrid

UNITED KINGDOM
Birmingham 

Middle East 
and India

INDIA 
Bangalore
Chennai
Mumbai

IRAQ
Baghdad

KUWAIT 
Kuwait City 

QATAR
Doha

UNITED ARAB 
EMIRATES
Dubai

Americas

BRAZIL
Rio de Janeiro

CANADA  
Calgary 
Toronto

GUYANA
Georgetown 

MEXICO
Mexico City

SURINAME
Paramaribo

UNITED STATES 
OF AMERICA
Boston
Houston
Salt Lake City

Asia

CHINA
Dalian
Hong Kong
Nantong
Qingdao
Shanghai
Shenzhen I
Shenzhen II
Zhuhai

MALAYSIA
Kuala Lumpur
Sarawak 

INDONESIA 
Balikpapan
Batam
Jakarta

JAPAN
Tokyo

MYANMAR
Yangon

SINGAPORE
Singapore

SOUTH KOREA
Geoje-si

THAILAND
Chonburi 

VIETNAM
Ho Chi Minh City

Australasia

AUSTRALIA 
Brisbane
Mackay
Maitland 
Melbourne
Perth

NEW ZEALAND
New Plymouth

PAPUA NEW GUINEA
Port Moresby

DACH-CZ

AUSTRIA
Salzburg
Vienna
Innsbruck
Graz

CZECH REPUBLIC
Prague

GERMANY
Bremen
Aachen
Augsburg
Berlin
Bielefeld
Bochum
Braunschweig
Dortmund
Dresden
Düsseldorf
Duisburg
Erfurt
Essen
Frankfurt
Hamburg
Hannover
Heilbronn
Karlsruhe
Kassel
Kiel
Köln
Leipzig
Lindau
Mannheim
München
Nürnberg
Osnabrück
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The Netherlands

THE NETHERLANDS
Amsterdam
Eindhoven
Enschede
Groningen
Delft
Utrecht
Zwolle

Taylor Hopkinson

UNITED KINGDOM
Glasgow (Head office)
London

MEXICO
Mexico City

SINGAPORE
Singapore

SPAIN
Valencia

TAIWAN
Taipei

UNITED STATES 
OF AMERICA
Boston

ICE

SINGAPORE
Singapore
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CAPEX

SUBSTANTIAL CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA DNSH CRITERIA 
(‘DOES NOT  SIGNIFICANTLY HARM’)
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(17)”

“TAXONOMY 
ALIGNED  

PROPORTION  
OF TOTAL 

CAPEX,  
YEAR N (18)**”

“CATEGORY  
(ENABLING  
ACTIVITY)  

(20)”

“CATEGORY 
(TRANSITION-

AL  
ACTIVITY) 

(21)”

TEXT “THOUSANDS,  
EUR” % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 18%
A.1. CAPEX OF ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 

CAPEX OF ENVIRONMENTALLY 
 SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES 
(TAXONOMY- ALIGNED) (A.1)

0,00 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% 0% 0%

A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)
0%

7.2 RENOVATION OF 
EXISTING BUILDING

F41, 
F43 

2.053,47 18%

0%
0%
0%

CAPEX OF TAXONOMY-ELIGI-
BLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTAL-
LY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES 
(NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED 
ACTIVITIES) (A.2)

2.053,47 18%

TOTAL (A.1+A.2) 2.053,47 18%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE 
ACTIVITIES
CAPEX OF TAXONOMY-NON- 
ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

9.653,82 82%

TOTAL (A+B) 11.707,29 100%

KPIS OF NON-FINANCIAL UNDERTAKINGS TAXONOMY REPORTING
TURNOVER

SUBSTANTIAL CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA DNSH CRITERIA 
(‘DOES NOT SIGNIFICANTLY HARM’)
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(16)”

“M
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M
 SA
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A
R

D
S 

(17)”

“TAXONOMY 
ALIGNED  

PROPORTION  
OF TOTAL TURN-

OVER,  
YEAR N (18)**”

“CATEGORY  
(ENABLING  
ACTIVITY)  

(20)”

“CATEGORY 
(TRANSITIONAL  

ACTIVITY) 
(21)”

TEXT “MILLIONS,  
EUR” % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A. TAXONOMY- ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 0%
A.1. ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

TURNOVER OF ENVIRONMEN-
TALLY SUSTAINABLE 
 ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY- 
ALIGNED) (A.1) 

0,00 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% 0% 0%

A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES)
0%
0%

TURNOVER OF TAXONOMY-EL-
IGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRON-
MENTALLY SUSTAINABLE 
ACTIVITIES (NOT TAXONO-
MY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES) 
(A.2)

0,00 0%

TOTAL (A.1+A.2) 0,00 0%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE 
ACTIVITIES
TURNOVER OF 
 TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE 
ACTIVITIES

1.331 100%

TOTAL (A+B) 1.331 100%

Appendix
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OPEX

SUBSTANTIAL CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA DNSH CRITERIA 
(‘DOES NOT  SIGNIFICANTLY HARM’)
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 ACTIVITIES (1)

C
O

D
E (2)

A
B

SO
LU

TE O
P

EX
 (3)

P
R

O
P

O
R

-TIO
N

 O
F O

P
EX

 (4)

C
LIM

ATE C
H

A
N

G
E 

 M
ITIG

ATIO
N

 (5)*

C
LIM

ATE C
H

A
N

G
E A

D
A

P
T-

TIO
N

 (6)

“W
ATER

 (7)”

“P
O

LLU
TIO

N
 (8)”

“C
IR

C
U

LA
R

 EC
O

N
O

M
Y 

(9)”

B
IO

-D
IV

ERSITY A
N

D
 

EC
O

-SYSTEM
S (10)

C
LIM

ATE C
H

A
N

G
E 

 M
ITIG

ATIO
N

 (11) 

C
LIM

ATE C
H

A
N

G
E  A

D
A

P
TIO

N
 

(12)

“W
ATER

 (13)”

“P
O

LLU
TIO

N
 (14)”

“C
IR

C
U

LA
R

 EC
O

N
O

M
Y 

(15)”
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IV

ERSITY (16)”
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M
 SA

FEG
U
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S 

(17)”

“TAXO NOMY 
ALIGNED 

PROPORTION  
OF TOTAL 

OPEX,  
YEAR N (18)**”

“CATEGORY  
(ENABLING  
ACTIVITY)  

(20)”

“CATEGORY 
(TRANSITIONAL  

ACTIVITY) 
(21)”

TEXT “THOUSANDS, EUR” % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 0%
A.1. ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)
6.4. OPERATION OF 
PERSONAL MOBILITY 
DEVICES, CYCLE 
LOGISTIC

N77.11, 
N77.21

-39,8 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0%  E 

OPEX OF ENVIRONMENTALLY 
SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES 
 (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED) (A.1) 

-39,78 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% 0% 0%

A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES)

0%   
0%   
0%   
0%   
0%   

OPEX OF TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE 
BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY 
SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (NOT 
TAXONOMY-ALIGNED 
 ACTIVITIES) (A.2)

0,00 0%

TOTAL (A.1+A.2) -39,78 0%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE 
ACTIVITIES
OPEX OF TAXONOMY-NON- 
ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

217.417,24 100%

TOTAL (A+B) 217.377,46 100%
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